NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI®

Evaluation of a Traditional Food for Health Intervention in Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia

Laura Allison ller Kaufer

School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition McGill University, Montreal

August 2008

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Laura Kaufer 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-67067-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-67067-5

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant. This thesis is dedicated to my family..... who inspires me to explore.

Acknowledgements

I appreciate the support of my supervisor Dr. Harriet Kuhnlein and committee members Drs. Roger Cue and Timothy Johns. Each contributed their expertise which has assisted me at various stages of the research process.

I would like to thank my field supervisor Dr. Lois Englberger for her oversight, guidance, belief in me and her everlasting energy. Each person on the research team gave a considerable amount of their time and energy to see the project through the final stage of evaluation. Thus I would like to acknowledge the work of Adelino Lorens, Ali Alik, Amy Levendusky, Douglas Nelber, Mihne Pretrick, Pelihna Moses, Sylvia Nennis, Welsy Hagilmai and Yumiko Paul for their teamwork and task-oriented work ethic. I also appreciated the welcoming attitude of the Island Food Community of Pohnpei (IFCP) Board of Directors and Gibson Santos and their inspiring vision for IFCP of expanding the 'Traditional Food for Health' project to other Pohnpeian communities.

The openness of the Mand Community to participate in this ongoing research project is notable and must be recognized. The sustained enthusiasm of community members contributed to the success of the intervention as well as to the success of the follow-up survey and for this I thank the entire community and their traditional leader, Podis Pedrus. In particular, I would like to acknowledge Kiped Albert for his commitment to telling the story of Mand, his assistance in carrying out the follow-up survey and the guidance and insight he provided me in developing an evaluation questionnaire.

The support of various agencies and departments around the world has made this research possible, including the Pohnpei Department of Health, the College of Micronesia-FSM, Pohnpei Department of Land and Natural Resources/Historic Preservation Office, Global Environmental Facility (GEF) Small Grants Program, McGill University, Centre for Indigenous Peoples' Nutrition and Environment and Canadian Institutes of Health Research. I am also grateful to Xyris Software, Australia, who provided me with their nutrient analysis software at no cost.

Abstract

As a nation, Federated States of Micronesia (FSM) faces increasing rates of noncommunicable diseases related to the replacement of the traditional diet with processed imported food and adoption of sedentary lifestyles. To reverse this trend, a food-based intervention in Pohnpei, FSM, used various approaches to promote local food (LF) production and consumption. Evaluation of the intervention in one community assessed changes in diet and health status in a random sample of households (n=47). Process indicators were also examined. Results from dietary assessments indicated increased (110%) provitamin A carotenoid intake; increased frequency of consumption of local banana (53%), giant swamp taro (475%), and local vegetables (130%); and increased diversity from LF. There was no change in health measures. However, exposure to intervention activities was high, and behaviour towards LF appeared to have changed positively. It is recommended that the intervention continue and expand to further affect dietary change and improve health.

Résumé

Les États fédérés de Micronésie (EFM) font face à une augmentation du taux de maladies non-contagieuses reliées au remplacement des habitudes alimentaires traditionnelles par des mets transformés importés ainsi que l'adoption d'un mode de vie sédentaire. Afin de remédier à cette situation, une intervention alimentaire à Pohnpei, EFM a employé une variété d'approches pour promouvoir la production et la consommation de denrées locales. Dans la communauté, l'évaluation de l'intervention a noté les changements de régimes et d'état de santé auprès d'un échantillon aléatoire de foyers (n=47). Les indicateurs de processus ont aussi été évalués. Les résultats des analyses nutritionnelles indiquent une augmentation de l'apport en carotène provitamine-A (110%); une augmentation de la fréquence de consommation de bananes locales (53%), de taro géants des marais (475%) et de légumes locaux (130%), de même qu'une plus grande variété de nourriture locale. Il n'y a eu aucun changement dans les mesures de santé. Cependant, les gens ont reçu une exposition importante aux activités d'intervention et leur comportement envers les aliments locaux semble avoir changé de façon positive. Il est recommandé de poursuivre et d'amplifier cette intervention afin d'influencer d'avantage les habitudes alimentaires dans le but d'améliorer la santé de cette population.

Contribution of Authors

Laura Kaufer, Master of Science candidate, entered the community for two months in 2007 to contribute to the evaluation of the project in Mand. This entailed overseeing the follow-up data collection, training of interviewers and development of additional evaluation tools.

Dr. Lois Englberger and Adelino Lorens of IFCP created the Traditional Food for Health Project, conducted baseline data collection in 2005 and developed the intervention activities. Dr. Englberger facilitated use of food composition data specific to Pohnpei and access to Xyris software.

Dr. Harriet Kuhnlein was the overall leader of the CINE Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health program together with Chief Bill Erasmus. Funding was obtained from Canadian Institutes of Health Research to develop the evaluation plan in Mand.

The 2007 evaluation was carried out by a Pohnpeian research team. Douglas Nelber, Mihne Pretrick and Welsy Hagilmai conducted interviews, Ali Alik, Amy Levendusky and Sylvia Nennis took anthropometric measurements and Pelihna Moses and Yumiko Paul took health measurements.

Dr. Roger Cue guided statistical methodologies. Drs. Johns and Kuhnlein provided guidance on thesis content.

Table of Contents

Dedication	İ
Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	iii
Résumé	iv
Contribution of Authors	v
List of Tables and Figures	viii
Acronyms	ix
Introduction	1
Objectives	2
Literature Review	3
Nutrition Transition in the Pacific	3
Food-based Interventions to Improve Health	6
Evaluation Methodology	11
Rationale	17
Study Background	
Federated States of Micronesia	
Pohnpei and its Traditional Food System	24
Study Population	
Island Food Community of Pohnpei	
'Traditional Food for Health' Community-based Intervention	27
Methods	
Research Design	
Research Team	
Dietary Assessment	
Health Status Assessment	35
Intervention Evaluation Questionnaire	28
Statistical Analysis	
Statistical Allalysis	
Results	41
Dietary Assessment	41

Health Status Assessment		
Inte	ervention Assessment	52
Discu	ssion	
Lim	itations	
Pro	gress Evaluation – Dietary Assessment	60
Out	come Evaluation – Health Status Assessment	68
Pro	cess Evaluation – Intervention Assessment	69
Concl	usion	72
Refere	ences	95
Apper	ndices	
Α.	2007 Research Agreement	
В.	Letter of Collaboration, FSM Department of Health	
C.	Ethics Letter of Approval	
D.	2007 Survey Recruitment Sign	
Ε.	7-day Food Frequency Questionnaire	
F.	24-hour Recall Form	
G.	Participant's Results Slip from Health Assessment	
Н.	Project Evaluation Questionnaire	

List of Figures

Figure 1	Map of Federated States of Micronesia	18
Figure 2	Examples of Intervention Materials	75

List of Tables

Table 1	Top Foods Consumed by Weight from Repeat 24-Hour Recall	76
Table 2	Daily Energy and Nutrient Intakes from Repeat 24-Hour Recall	77
Table 3	Top Foods Contributing to Energy and Nutrient Intakes	78
Table 4	Food Consumption Frequency by 7-day FFQ and Repeat 24-Hour Recall	82
Table 5	Dietary Diversity by 7-day FFQ and Repeat 24-Hour Recall	83
Table 6	Counts of Imported Food Species Captured by 7-day FFQ and Repeat 24-Hour Recall	t 84
Table 7	Counts of Local Food Species Captured by 7-day FFQ and Repeat 24-Hour Recall	85
Table 8	Results of Health Assessment in 2005 and 2007	88
Table 9	Body Mass Index of Random Sample by Gender and Age Category	89
Table 10	Fasting Plasma Glucose of Random Sample by Gender and Age Category	90
Table 11	List of Intervention Activities and Materials	91
Table 12	Intervention Process Indicators	93
Table 13	Household Agriculture and Food Practices	94

Acronyms

- Al Adequate intake
- BCE Beta-carotene equivalents
- BMI Body mass index
- **BP** Blood pressure
- CINE Centre for Indigenous Peoples' Nutrition and Environment, McGill University
- DBP Diastolic blood pressure
- DDS Dietary diversity score
- DGLVs Dark-green leafy vegetables
- DM2 Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- EFNEP Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
- FPG Fasting plasma glucose
- FFQ Food frequency questionnaire
- FSM Federated States of Micronesia
- FVS Food variety score
- GLVs Green leafy vegetables
- IFCP Island Food Community of Pohnpei
- MCWG Mand Community Working Group
- NCDs Non-communicable diseases
- NR-NCDs Nutrition-related non-communicable diseases
- PAC Provitamin A carotenoids
- RCB Randomized complete block design
- RDA Recommended dietary allowance
- SBP Systolic blood pressure
- U.S. United States of America
- USDA United States Department of Agriculture
- VAD Vitamin A deficiency
- WC Waist circumference
- WHO World Health Organization of the United Nations

Introduction

As in many parts of the world, obesity and non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in the Pacific are increasing as a result of economic and dietary transitions and changes in activity levels (Anderson et al. 2006). Over the past 30 years, residents of the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM) have become increasingly reliant on energy-dense, nutrient-poor imported food and have spent less time on farming, food gathering, food preparation and other forms of physical activity. Obesity, heart disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2) and vitamin A deficiency (VAD) are now major health concerns (Englberger et al. 2003a).

These circumstances prompted the Island Food Community of Pohnpei (IFCP), a local island NGO and a community on the island of Pohnpei, FSM to join the Centre for Indigenous Peoples' Nutrition and Environment (CINE) Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health program to research and promote the nutritional properties of traditional island food to improve long-term health (CINE 2007). Imported foods that are heavily processed, nutrient-poor and energy-dense have replaced many local foods from the average daily diet (Corsi et al. 2008; Englberger et al. 2008a). From 2005 to 2007, an intervention used various food-based approaches, including education, training, agriculture and social marketing, to encourage local food production and consumption on the island of Pohnpei, FSM.

This thesis has examined changes in diet and health that may have been affected by the intervention. This was done in three approaches: progress evaluation, outcome evaluation and process evaluation.

Objectives

- To conduct progress evaluation by assessing changes in diet using measures of nutrient intake, consumption frequency and dietary diversity
- To conduct outcome evaluation by assessing changes in health status using measures of body mass index, waist circumference, fasting plasma glucose and blood pressure
- To conduct process evaluation by examining the intervention activities in terms of exposure, awareness and acceptability

Literature Review

Indigenous Peoples are some of the poorest and most disadvantaged in the world and are at the greatest risk of suffering poor health (Stephens et al. 2005; Bartlett et al. 2007). The disproportionately high prevalence of preventable diseases that are found in indigenous populations exist in a broader context of systematic social and cultural marginalization (Stephens et al. 2005; Stephens et al. 2006). It is estimated that there are 370 million Indigenous Peoples living in 70 countries around the world (Bartlett et al. 2007). While no universal definition applies or is required, it is important for locally relevant and clear characterizations of Indigenous People to better recognize their unique health context and to plan meaningful research and appropriate health improvement programs (Bartlett et al. 2007). Public health solutions must address health as well as the local and national context of environment, land and discrimination (Stephens et al. 2006). The nutritional status of Indigenous People are also affected by these factors, and with declining reliance on their traditional food systems, there is reduction in culture-specific food activities, dietary diversity and cultural morale (Kuhnlein and Receveur 1996).

In the Western Pacific, the focal region of this thesis research, the indigenous population remains the majority population (Anderson et al. 2006). However, like in numerous other indigenous histories, the Micronesian population declined with initial colonization from dispossession, social change and introduced infectious disease (Anderson et al. 2006). The health effects from foreign influence continue, although now in the context of a nutrition transition (WHO 2003a).

Nutrition Transition in the Pacific

High, middle and low-income countries worldwide are experiencing a nutrition transition, which is described as the shift in diet and lifestyle that results in increased obesity rates and the appearance of nutrition-related non-communicable diseases (NR-NCDs) (Popkin 2002). Globally, foods that are high in total fat, cholesterol, sugar and refined carbohydrates and low in polyunsaturated fatty acids and fibre have been replacing foods that are starchy, low in fat and high in fibre (Popkin 2002). Key changes contributing to this are increases in the global food supply of sugar, oil and animal meat (Prentice 2006). Activity levels have also become more sedentary in this transition (Popkin 2002). Global trends include a shift from agriculture and energy-intensive

occupations towards service sector, reductions in the level of physical activity within each occupation, reduced physical activity in transportation, the mechanization of home production-related activities and the reduction in food preparation time by over half (Prentice 2006). The emergence of simplified diets and a lack of dietary diversity have contributed to the nutrition transition (Frison et al. 2006).

In this context, obesity has become a problem followed by morbidity and mortality from NCDs, including cardiovascular disease, DM2 and cancer (Popkin 2002). The nutrition transition has contributed to an increasing burden on health care systems and has had adverse effects on economic development from mid-life death and disability due to the rising prevalence of NR-NCDs (Popkin 2002). A double burden of disease now exists where the pandemic of obesity and NR-NCDs accompany conditions of childhood malnutrition, tuberculosis, malaria and AIDS (acquired immune deficiency syndrome) (Prentice 2006). The prevalence of households in which underweight and overweight coexist was 3-15% in six countries studied (Popkin 2001). There is strong evidence that obesity increases the risk of chronic disease providing evidence that preventative measures are key (Prentice 2006).

The nutrition transition in the Pacific has been marked by the transition from a time of high prevalence of infectious disease, high infant mortality, protein-energy malnutrition and micronutrient deficiencies to a longer lifespan, changing diet, lack of physical activity, stress, tobacco and alcohol use and chronic NCDs (WHO 1999a). The Pacific obesity epidemic has been linked to increased urbanization and consumption of high-fat foods that require little physical activity (WHO 2003a). Food behaviours maintained for thousands of years provided for relatively healthy populations (WHO 2003a). Now, the highest rates of obesity (body mass index (BMI) > 30 kg/m²) in the world are found in several Pacific Islands (Prentice 2006). The health problems from before are still prevalent and combined with the present-day health situation, there now exists a 'double burden' for individuals and health programs (WHO 1999a). The health implications are rising rates of DM2, obesity, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, gout and cancer (WHO 1999a).

It has been repeatedly shown in longitudinal studies in children and adults that dietary and activity patterns affect the prevalence of obesity (Popkin 2001). In the Western Pacific, imported foods that are energy-dense, high in saturated fat and salt and low in fibre are now very prevalent (WHO 1999a). Up to 90% of all foods consumed are imported in several Pacific countries (WHO 2002). Commonly-consumed high-fat imported products are oil, margarine, butter, meat, chicken,

tinned meat and tinned fish (WHO 1999a). Imported meats are often low quality, high-fat cuts such as turkey tails and mutton flaps (WHO 1999a). Chronic diseases are related to not only increased consumption of detrimental, unhealthy foods (i.e. imported food) but also decreased consumption of protective foods (i.e. traditional foods) (WHO 1999a). While there are no survey data available on current activity levels in the Pacific, there is a general consensus that there has been an increase in sedentary lifestyle due to improved transport, sedentary work, passive environment, less domestic work and lack of safe exercise facilities (WHO 2002).

Historic and economic factors have contributed to the nutrition transition in the Pacific and created a dependency on imported food (WHO 1999a). Imported foods are generally cheaper, more accessible, more convenient and have higher status than traditional food (WHO 1999a). However, they are less nutritious than the foods they have replaced (WHO 1999a). This dependency on imported foods has had adverse outcomes in terms of food, health and economy (WHO 1999a). There is also a sociocultural context. Being overweight is culturally appropriate on islands, given the historic means of survival throughout unpredictable food cycles (WHO 1999a). Compounding the issue, the focus of health care in most Pacific countries is on the clinical management of obesity-related disease rather than obesity itself (WHO 2002).

The highest rates of obesity in the world are found in the Pacific (WHO 2002). Rates of overweight and obesity in adults are greater than 50% in many Pacific countries, with a prevalence as high as 75% in some countries (WHO 2003a). Modernization has been associated with a very high prevalence of obesity in West and South Pacific islands, with high rates of severe obesity (BMI \geq 40 kg/m²) mirroring the rates found among Native American groups in United States (U.S.) (Popkin and Doak 1998). Trends indicate that women become obese earlier than men, but this gap is closing (WHO 2003a). There is a higher prevalence of obesity in urban areas than rural, but this difference is also diminishing (WHO 2003a). Weight gain occurs between 20–45 years of age and the lower BMI of older populations may reflect cohorts of survivors rather then a trend to lose weight with age and there is a growing concern that obesity is starting in infancy or early childhood (WHO 2003a).

Overweight and obesity are closely associated with increased risk of hypertension, cardiovascular disease and DM2 (WHO 2003a). Chronic diseases are the major cause of death and disability worldwide (WHO 2005a). In the Western Pacific, chronic diseases are projected to account for 78% of all deaths by 2015 (WHO 2005a). This is an increase of 20% and DM2, the

biggest contributor to mortality, is expected to increase by 51% (WHO 2005a). The prevalence of obesity-related conditions in the Pacific ranges from 12-31% for hypertension and 8-33% for DM2 (WHO 2002).

Food-based Interventions to Improve Health

It is estimated that at least 80% of premature heart disease, stroke and DM2 as well as 40% of cancer could be prevented through healthy diet, regular physical activity and avoidance of tobacco products (WHO 2005a). Food-based approaches are directly relevant to the current situation of malnutrition, overweight and obesity-related diseases. Accessible, sustainable and locally-adapted resources can be mobilized to reverse the nutrition transition trend (Johns and Eyzaguirre 2006). This approach can improve micronutrient status, improve the quality and diversity of diet, reduce consumption of less nutritious carbohydrate and fat-rich foods and increase the intake of essential fatty acids and phytonutrients (Allen 2008). A food-based approach can also increase energy expenditure through the physical activity involved in local food production and preparation. Local plant foods have been emphasized as a solution for their diversity, high nutrient content and functionality in terms of energy-density, glycaemic control, oxidative stress and immuno-stimulation (Johns and Eyzaguirre 2006).

Food-based strategies increase production and consumption of micronutrient-rich, healthy foods using approaches that are sustainable, long-term and overall economically beneficial (FAO 1997). The benefits of this strategy are that it is preventive, cost-effective and sustainable in the long-term; improves overall diet quality; can be adapted to the local context of culture, tradition and feasibility; minimizes the risk of toxicity; and complements and supports the role of breastfeeding and special diets and care of children (FAO 1997). These strategies can also be environmentally-sustainable by promoting local farming that protects the micronutrient content of soil and crops (FAO 1997). However, food sources need to be locally available to make the program sustainable at the family and community level (FAO 1997).

Under conditions of food access and availability, food diversity should supply sufficient micronutrients to meet the needs of the general population (FAO/WHO 2002). However, in situations limited by availability and affordability of high-quality foods, fortification and supplementation are alternatives that can complement food-based approaches (FAO/WHO 2002).

Types of Food-based Interventions

Food-based approaches to improve health can include agriculture, education, training, marketing, research and economic initiatives (FAO 1997). Success of these programs requires intersectoral collaboration (FAO 1997). Direct involvement of the community in all stages of the intervention is also important for acceptability and to ensure that what the community perceives as the problem is addressed (FAO 1997). Dietary modification and diversification through community-based approaches can also be used to empower the community to be more self-reliant in addressing its nutritional problems (Tontisirin et al. 2002).

Agricultural approaches include home gardens and small-scale cultivation. A home garden is "a small-scale, supplementary food production system by and for household members that mimics the natural, multi-layered ecosystem" (FAO 1997). It requires strong commitment by agriculture extension services to disseminate techniques of small-scale fruit and vegetable production (FAO 1997), as a supplement to traditional methods. The agricultural biodiversity approach uses local biodiversity to ensure dietary diversity (Frison et al. 2006). Encompassed in this holistic approach is the need for awareness and promotion of the healthful components of traditional diets (Frison et al. 2006). Dietary diversity in terms of fruits, vegetables and other plant foods generally contributes to lower rates of morbidity and mortality (Johns and Eyzaguirre 2006). The 1992 International Conference on Nutrition declared that promotion of dietary diversity and use of indigenous and traditional foods (that are locally available and nutrient-rich) was an appropriate strategy to address food insecurity, malnutrition and disease (Frison et al. 2006).

Nutrition education and training can strengthen and complement efforts to enhance the production of micronutrient-rich foods by increasing the capacity of households to use existing food resources to their maximum advantage (FAO 1997). "Without nutrition education, increased production may not lead to increased consumption among vulnerable groups" (FAO 1997).

Appropriate communication strategies for effective food and health promotion, such as social marketing, are also important and require "a vigorous and concerted effort of [agriculture, health, education and industry] sectors through a variety of communication channels" (FAO 1997). Important components of a social marketing campaign are recognizing nutritionally beneficial traditional practices, targeting various stakeholders, understanding current food preferences and selecting the appropriate communication channels (FAO 1997). Implementation includes selecting

the appropriate foods, locations and methods of promotion, as well as ensuring that such foods are affordable (WHO 2002).

Advantages of Targeting Traditional Food

The practices of Indigenous Peoples that have been followed consistently throughout their cultural histories are likely valid for developing healthy populations (Kuhnlein et al. 2006). Rather, it is the more recent external influences and environmental changes that have contributed to the poor health situations of Indigenous People seen today (Kuhnlein et al. 2006). Traditional practices can be nutritionally beneficial and include breastfeeding, gathering of wild leafy vegetables, collection of wild fruit by young children and fermentation of staple crops (FAO 1997). However, social, economic and cultural changes have undermined the healthful components of traditional diets (Frison et al. 2006). For example, when incomes rise, people often breastfeed less frequently, stop gathering wild foods and eat fewer leafy vegetables because they are considered low status activities (FAO 1997). "It is practical to promote and support what people already do or want to do, than ask them to change" (WHO 1999a).

Evidence of Dietary Effects on Health

Epidemiologic evidence from Asia indicates that high reliance on a traditional diet (low in fat and high in vegetables) in South Korea may be the reason for the lack of high obesity rates that are prevalent in comparable Asian countries (Lee et al. 2002). Fruits and vegetables are good sources of micronutrients and phytochemicals, such as antioxidants, which can mitigate effects of oxidative stress and prevent chronic disease (Rao and Rao 2007). For example, carotenoid-rich foods may have a protective role against chronic disease including cancer, cardiovascular disease, DM2 and age-related macular degeneration (Mares-Perlman et al. 2002; Coyne et al. 2005; WCRF/AICR 2007; Haskell et al. 2004).

The relationship between food-based vitamin A intake and vitamin A status is not linear and may depend on the context and type of food. In an Indonesian nutrition surveillance study, plant foods contributed eight times more to vitamin A intake than animal food (using conventional conversion factors), but serum retinol concentrations did not reflect this large of a difference (de Pee et al. 1998a). This study also demonstrated the influence of other factors: women from the lowest socio-economic status did not benefit in terms of serum retinol level despite their relatively high vegetable intake (de Pee et al. 1999). Also, carotenoids from carotenoid-rich orange fruit have been found to have greater vitamin A activity than carrots and dark-green leafy vegetables (de Pee et al. 1998b).

Food-based strategies have been effective in increasing food production and consumption and also improving nutritional and health status. Following a 7-week food-based intervention in which 10 diabetic Australian Aboriginals returned to their traditional diet, which was low in fat and calories, there was improved control of blood glucose levels and decreased fasting triglyceride levels (O'Dea 1984). In a second study, 20 native Hawaiians ate a prescribed *ad libitum* traditional diet, which was low in energy density and fat, for a three-week period in a clinical setting (Shintani et al. 1991). As a result, body weight, cholesterol levels and BP decreased significantly (Shintani et al. 1991). Cultural pride was listed as one motivating factor for the high level of adherence seen in this study (Shintani et al. 1991).

Over a three-year period, a food-based intervention targeted 37,000 households in southwestern Nepal to improve vitamin A and iron intake (Jones et al. 2005). Kitchen gardens were encouraged through training, technical assistance and seed distribution of 16 micronutrient-rich, local crops, including eight dark-green leafy vegetables (DGLVs) (Jones et al. 2005). After 36 months, comparison of control and intervention households revealed increased self-reported consumption frequency of these homegrown vegetables and fruit (Jones et al. 2005). In tandem, nutrition education was delivered by informational materials and training sessions on causes of micronutrient deficiency, the local sources of vitamin A and iron, cooking tips and modern preservation techniques (Jones et al. 2005). Knowledge of the nutrition messages was significantly higher in the intervention group compared to the control group (Jones et al. 2005).

Another nutrition education and food-based intervention promoting traditional food and health in a Nuxalk community of British Columbia, Canada for three years found a significant improvement in adult vitamin A (plasma retinol) and erythrocyte folate status (Kuhnlein and Burgess 1997). Over 375 educational activities had taken place including food preservation and preparation demonstrations, community harvesting excursions and school-based sessions (Kuhnlein and Burgess 1997).

An effective social marketing campaign to control VAD was exemplified in Indonesia (de Pee et al. 1998c). Banners, billboards, posters and radio media channels as well as face-to-face

communication were used to promote consumption of eggs and DGLVs (de Pee et al. 1998c). After nine months, there was increased consumption of both foods, increased daily vitamin A intake and improved vitamin A status (serum retinol) (de Pee et al. 1998c).

After a two-year horticultural and nutritional education intervention to control vitamin A deficiency in Tanzania, several significant changes in knowledge and practice had occurred upon follow-up five years later (Kidala et al. 2000). Compared to the control villages, villages that were targeted by the intervention had home gardens, were growing carotenoid-rich crops provided by the intervention and vitamin A-rich foods were being consumed by children more than seven times a week. However, there was no evidence of improved vitamin A status, as measured by serum retinol. In fact, the control area had significantly higher retinol levels. This was explained by the external factor of higher helminth infection in the experimental villages (Kidala et al. 2000).

Fourteen studies of food-based projects to control VAD in developing countries, published between 1995 and 2000, were reviewed by Ruel (Ruel 2001). Included in this review were the studies by de Pee et al. in 1998 and Kidala et al. in 2000 mentioned previously. The projects consisted of nutrition education, social marketing, and mass media campaigns with and without a home garden component and the studies consistently documented significant increases in consumption of vitamin A-rich foods and/or vitamin A intake (Ruel 2001). However, only ten of these studies measured nutritional status outcome, and of these seven found improved nutritional status (Ruel 2001).

In comparison, food-based projects from the 1970s and 1980s generally focused on agriculture and food production without education or marketing components (Ruel 2001). These projects failed to demonstrate significant change in food intake or nutritional status (Ruel 2001). For example, a home garden project in Senegal failed to increase energy, protein, vitamin, or mineral intake (Brun et al. 1989). The reason for this lack of effect in the Senegal study was attributed to the fact that only a small fraction of the vegetables produced were consumed by the family and that income generated by the sale of vegetables was almost never used for food purchases (Brun et al. 1989). Ruel attributes the overall lack of change in this group of projects prior to 1990s to the lack of nutrition education and communication components in their food promotion strategies (Ruel 2001).

Review of evaluation studies suggests that food-based strategies have clear potential to improve vitamin A nutrition particularly when home garden, communication (media and social

marketing) and education interventions are combined (Ruel 2001). It is also important to consider how external factors may have influenced the results from an evaluation study.

Evaluation Methodology

Dietary Assessment Methodology to Evaluate Progress

Impact evaluation serves as an assessment of the intervention's immediate impact on one or more dependent variables (Green and Lewis 1986). Indicators of the immediate effect of health education interventions can include knowledge, beliefs, attitudes, skills, social supports and behaviour (Green and Lewis 1986). Progress evaluation of a nutrition intervention can examine the adoption of skills and behaviours that increase micronutrient intake and may reflect the intervention's impact. Such measurable indicators can include new recipes using a higher proportion of micronutrient-rich food, food preparation methods that preserve micronutrients (boiling rather than frying), the number of servings of micronutrient-rich foods at mealtime and as snacks, eating leaves not traditionally consumed, the proportion of traditional food in the diet compared to introduced, nutrient-poor foods, and new food combinations (FAO 1997). In this study, the dietary assessment provided the measures by which to evaluate progress towards the goals of the intervention.

Dietary assessment can be used to estimate nutrient intake as well as consumption frequency and dietary diversity. Methods include 24-hour recall and food frequency (Willet 1998). The quantified 24-hour dietary recall is a short-term method to estimate nutrient intakes by recording foods and amounts that were actually consumed by the individual on specific days (Willet 1998). The recall is open-ended and can be used flexibly for data analysis by examining nutrients, individual foods, food groups and/or meals (Willet 1998). In contrast to the recall method, the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) provides information on what foods are consumed and the frequency of consumption over a longer period (Willet 1998). Important considerations for developing a FFQ are the choice of foods, the clarity of the questions and the format of the frequency response section (Willet 1998).

There is natural variation in dietary habits, and the ability of assessment tools to capture 'normal' intake is limited by systematic biases including the day of the week, season and measurement error (Willet 1998). Challenges in dietary assessment are participant memory,

awareness of intake, portion size estimation and psychological traits that motivate bias (Gibson 2005). The magnitude of these concerns depends on the methods used and on the administration of dietary assessment (Gibson 2005). Limitations of the recall method are that it is only a single day of intake whereas day-to-day intake is highly variable for many individuals (Willet 1998). Thus, collection of intake on multiple days is required to estimate typical nutrient intake (Willet 1998). Two recalls can provide more valid estimates than a single recall as long as the sample is representative and the days of the week are adequately represented (Gibson 2005). For use in determining the effectiveness of an intervention program and estimating change in absolute nutrient intakes, having an appropriate balance of recall days of the week is of importance (Willet 1998). Advantages of the FFQ are that it is practical, easy-to-use, less time intensive and spans a longer time period than the 24-hour recall method (Willet 1998). However, less detail is obtained and the analysis will have less precise results and may be less accurate (Willet 1998; Macbeth and MacClancy 2004).

Underreporting of daily energy intake can often be a problem in quantitative dietary assessment (Gibson 2005). The Goldberg cutoff method can be used to identify records of poor validity that are statistically unlikely to reflect habitual, long-term intake (Goldberg et al. 1991; Gibson 2005). This method compares the ratio of an individual's average daily reported intake and estimated basal metabolic rate with a statistical cutoff based on number of days of dietary assessment (Gibson 2005). The basal metabolic rate is estimated for each individual based on age- and sex-specific equations derived by Schofield (1985) using weight and height (Gibson 2005). The Goldberg statistical cutoff represents the value below which the reported energy intake is not plausible at the 95% confidence limit (Gibson 2005).

Dietary diversity has been found to be a valid proxy for evaluating dietary quality (Roche et al. 2008) and nutritional adequacy of diet (Hatloy et al. 1998; Spigelski 2004). Dietary diversity measures have been positively correlated with micronutrient intake and longevity of life and have been found to be strong predictors of disease risk (Savige 2002; Kant and Graubard 2005). However, there is a lack of consensus in the literature of a standard measure of dietary diversity (Ruel 2003). One common measure is food variety score (FVS), which is a count of the different food items consumed over a recorded reference period (Frison et al. 2006). Another score is the dietary diversity score (DDS) which indicates the number of food groups consumed over a reference period (Frison et al. 2006). Methodological considerations include type of score, type of

assessment tool, reference period and importance of quantity and frequency (Frison et al. 2006). While one study found FVS from a 7-day FFQ to be a valid indicator of micronutrient intake and superior to DDS (Spigelski 2004), another study found DDS to be more significantly linked with anthropometric indices (Savy et al. 2005). Inclusion of condiments and spices is important; although consumed in small quantities, such foods may contribute to diversity of and nutrients in daily diets (Frison et al. 2006). A critique of FVS is that it may be limited when the score includes energy-dense foods that contribute to obesity (Kennedy 2004).

In 1999 a World Health Organization of the United Nations (WHO) report for the Western Pacific recommended that dietary diversity be incorporated into food-based guidelines. Specifically, the guidelines recommended that people eat at least twenty biologically distinct foods¹ a week drawing from all food groups. In this report, four individual assessment categories were suggested: marginal - < 20 food species consumed per week, fair - 20-24, good - 25-29 and very good - > 30 (WHO 1999a).

Health Status Assessment Methodology to Evaluate Outcome

Outcome evaluation is the examination of the long-term effects of an intervention, which can include changes in incidence and prevalence of health risk factors, morbidity and mortality (Green and Lewis 1986). An objective of anthropometric indicators is the identification of individuals or populations at risk of morbidity and mortality; this can be used to examine present health risk and/or predict future risk (WHO 1995). Population-based screening of DM2 and BP is also important alongside measures of overweight. Obese individuals (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) have over three times greater risk of developing DM2 and two to three times greater risk of hypertension (WHO 1999b).

BMI is an index of weight-for-height (kilograms/meters²) that is commonly used to classify states of underweight, healthy weight, overweight and obesity in adults (WHO 1999b). BMI is considered the most useful population-level measure of obesity and is an indirect estimate of relative risk of adverse health conditions related to high body fat (WHO 1995; WHO 1999b). To indicate the degree of health risk associated with high BMI, three cutoffs were proposed by the WHO in 1995: 25 kg/m² (grade one overweight), 30 kg/m² (grade two overweight) and 40 kg/m²

¹ The publication did not indicate whether cultivar (species varieties) were included as biologically distinct in this recommendation.

(grade three overweight) (WHO 1995). In this thesis these categories are referred to as overweight, obese, and very obese, respectively. The different grades of obesity are associated with increased risk of hypertension, coronary heart disease, DM2 and gallstones (Bailey and FerroLuzzi 1995).

However, BMI does not differentiate between weight associated with muscle and weight associated with fat (WHO 1999b). The relationship between BMI and body fat content varies according to body build, which can vary across populations (Mhurchu et al. 2004). For example, Polynesians tend to have lower fat (higher muscle) percentage than Caucasian Australians at the same BMI (WHO 1999b). Overall, the 1995 expert committee of WHO recommended use of BMI \geq 30 cutoff as a provisional standard applicable to all adults because of available data on risks of morbidity and mortality support this cutoff (WHO 1995). In fact, a meta-analysis of prospective studies in Asian and Australasian populations found a strong positive association between BMI and risks of stroke and ischemic heart disease that began at BMI of 20 kg/m² (Mhurchu et al. 2004).

Age and gender² are important factors in examining BMI. Body fat percentage increases with age up to 60-65 years and is higher in women than in men of identical BMI (WHO 1999b). Moderate obesity in the elderly has not been associated with poor health or increased risk of mortality (WHO 1995). The relationship between BMI and risk of comorbidity can also be affected by factors including diet, ethnicity and activity level (WHO 1999b).

Measurement of BMI in conjunction with fat distribution (such as waist circumference (WC)) is important when calculating risk of obesity comorbidities (WHO 1999b). Abdominal obesity is associated with greater risks to health than peripheral fat distribution (WHO 1999b). WC measurements are used to identify individuals at increased risk of obesity-related illness (WHO 1999b). Measured at the midpoint between the lower border of the rib cage and the iliac crest, WC is closely correlated with BMI and waist-to-hip ratio and provides an approximate index of intra-abdominal fat mass and total body fat (WHO 1999b). Changes in WC tend to reflect changes in risk factors for cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases (WHO 1999b).

Ethnic populations have different levels of health risk associated with WC measurements; thus no globally applicable cut-off points have been developed (WHO 1999b). Identification of risk using WC must be population-specific and will depend on levels of obesity and other risk factors for cardiovascular disease and DM2 (WHO 1999b). Sex-specific cutoffs are also needed as women

² The word 'gender' is used in this thesis when examining the differences between women and men.

show increased relative risk of coronary heart disease at lower WC than men (WHO 1999b). Examination of WC, gender and risk of metabolic complications associated with obesity in Caucasians revealed the following cutoffs: for men risk of metabolic complications was increased at a WC \geq 94 cm and substantially increased at \geq 102 cm; for women, there was increased risk at \geq 80 cm and substantially increased risk at \geq 88 cm (WHO 1999b).

The level of plasma glucose concentration after fasting for at least eight hours is referred to as fasting plasma glucose (FPG) (ADA 2003). The cutoff of FPG \geq 126 mg/dl is one of several criteria that can be used to diagnose DM2 and identify increased risk of premature mortality and microvascular and cardiovascular complications (ADA 2003; WHO and IDF 2006). The FPG measure is appropriate for epidemiological studies to estimate DM2 prevalence and incidence, but this approach slightly underestimates DM2 prevalence compared to what would be obtained from FPG combined with the oral glucose tolerance test (ADA 2003). A positive association between obesity and the risk of developing DM2 has also been observed in cross-sectional and prospective studies (WHO and IDF 2006).

Hypertension can be defined as high BP resulting from obesity, insulin resistance, high salt intake and perhaps sedentary lifestyle and stress (Carretero and Oparil 2000). NHANES II data from the U.S. indicate a 2.9-fold higher prevalence of hypertension in overweight adults compared to normal weight adults (WHO 1999b). The risk of developing hypertension increases with the duration of obesity, especially in women (WHO 1999b). Hypertension is also a major modifiable risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Carretero and Oparil 2000). The 1999 WHO and International Society of Hypertension Guidelines for the Management of Hypertension defined and classified hypertension in adults in the following way (WHO and ISH 1999): optimal – <120mmHg systolic blood pressure (SBP) /<80mmHg diastolic blood pressure (DBP); normal – <130 SBP / <85 DBP; high normal – 130-139 SBP / 85-89 DBP; borderline – 140-149 SBP / 90-94 DBP; mild hypertension – 140-159 SBP / 90-99 DBP; moderate hypertension – 160-179 SBP / 100-109 DBP; severe hypertension – $\geq 180 SBP / \geq 110 DBP$.

Process Evaluation Methodology

Process evaluation examines the inputs or processes of the intervention, such as appropriate content, methods and performance and can include measures of knowledge, participation, services delivered and completion of project (Green and Lewis 1986). This

examination allows for identification of key effective intervention components, for whom the intervention was effective and under what conditions the intervention was effective (Linnan and Steckler 2002). Process evaluation can support and enhance causal inference in assessment studies (Nutbeam 1998), which can have positive implications for both research and practice (Linnan and Steckler 2002). Along with quantitative process measures, process evaluation may also refer to qualitative assessment of the dynamics of program operation (Linnan and Steckler 2002). As well this qualitative research can enrich the understanding of intervention effects and guide systematic reviews (Rychetnik et al. 2002).

Several process indicators have been proposed to evaluate the intervention success of the CINE Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health projects. Such indicators include the number of activities, participation counts, media events, extent of community leader involvement, new intersectoral involvement and quantity of foods and crop varieties produced (Kuhnlein et al. 2006). Ownership by the target population and perceptions of relevance to the population's needs can be used to assess acceptability of the program (Nutbeam 1998). "Successful public health work with indigenous communities depends entirely on good process...that the community informs and controls the research and shapes it to its own priorities" (Kuhnlein et al. 2006). Other measures of process include the frequency and extent of implementation, the level of exposure and acceptability in the target population and whether the program was implemented as planned (Nutbeam 1998; Linnan and Steckler 2002).

A social marketing campaign promoting dietary diversification in Indonesia collected process indicators that were useful for monitoring and evaluation (Bloem et al. 2002). These indicators included records of types of media used and coverage rates. Similarly, in Bangladesh process indicators were collected to monitor food production as part of a home-gardening program. Measured indicators included type and size of garden, number of varieties produced, time spent in the garden and knowledge of vitamin A-rich foods (Bloem et al. 2002). Studies of community-based cardiovascular disease prevention programs found that by assessing the dose of the intervention delivered, the study was able to examine the effect that the activities had on targeted risk factors over time, which resulted in a corrective feedback process (Linnan and Steckler 2002).

Rationale

Diseases of modernization resulting from cultural, economic and nutrition transitions are an epidemic problem facing many countries of the world. Existing alongside conditions of malnutrition, this double burden affects individuals in terms of chronic morbidity and mortality.

A valid solution to these problems is food-based interventions at the community level that affect positive behaviour change in a sustainable manner. Successful approaches have combined nutritional education, agriculture and social marketing. Success of such interventions has been credited to strong support and involvement at the community level and intersectoral collaboration.

Evaluation is a strong and necessary component of such interventions that provides evidence of change or lack of change. Evaluation also aids in understanding the process by which such outcomes may have been attained. This level of follow-up is important to document so that the methodology of successful intervention approaches can be shared and expanded.

In Pohnpei, FSM, NR-NCDs and malnutrition are serious health problems. These problems are attributed to rapid changes in diet and lifestyle over the last forty years. Returning to a diet of traditional food has been proposed as a way of reversing these preventable health conditions in a sustainable way.

The IFCP organization has worked with a Pohnpeian community on a 'Traditional Food for Health' intervention for two years. Numerous activities promoting traditional food targeted women and men of all ages in the community during this period. Activities were principally educational and agricultural, but also involved social marketing components (such as traditional recipe sharing) and construction of smokeless charcoal ovens to facilitate traditional food preparation.

This thesis research evaluated this community-based intervention to measure behaviour change relating to food consumption practices (progress evaluation). An outcome evaluation examined changes in health status that could be linked to the intervention. The research also investigated the process by which the intervention may have caused such behaviour change (process evaluation).

Study Background

Federated States of Micronesia

FSM is a group of islands in the Western Pacific. Modern-day FSM has been largely affected by foreign influence, particularly in the last 40 years (Cassels 2006; Englberger et al. 2003a). FSM is divided into four states (from west to east): Yap, Chuuk, Pohnpei (the state in which this study took place) and Kosrae (Lee et al. 2001). The development of a cash-based economy, the increased availability and affordability of imported food, changing food habits and preferences and the loss of food production have resulted in a nutrition transition whereby obesity and chronic diseases now exist alongside infectious disease, malnutrition and micronutrient deficiencies. The following summary of FSM provides context to the current nutrition and health situation.

Historical and Political Context





FSM is located in the western Pacific Ocean, north of the equator and east of the Philippines (Figure 1 (Merriam-Webster 2001)). The country is comprised of more than 600 volcanic and coralbased (atoll) islands, of which 60 are inhabited (Lee et al. 2001; Golbuu et al. 2008). This territory spans over 2.5 million square kilometers (Englberger et al. 2008a), but has a land mass of only 702 square kilometers (Lee et al. 2001). The average temperature is 27°C and annual rainfall is 250 - 500 centimeters per year (Englberger et al. 2003a).

Micronesians descended from Asian and Polynesian ancestors who began populating the islands between 2,000 BC and 500 BC (Anderson et al. 2006). Over the thousands of years before the arrival of European and Asian colonizers, Micronesians developed sophisticated cultures, traveled the oceans, lived in relative comfort and constructed monumental projects relying on stone, bone and food species caught or grown on the islands (Wenkam and Baker 1973).

The territory known today as FSM was first colonized by Spain in 1886, followed by Germany in 1899. Then Japan controlled the islands from 1914 until losing the territory at the end of World War II. At this point the United Nations gave the U.S. administering authority of the islands (Cassels 2006). In 1986, the individual island states joined together to become the independent country of FSM (Cassels 2006). However, a relationship with the U.S. has continued in the form of Compacts of Free Association, which provide FSM with economic assistance as well as immigration and employment rights in the U.S. in return for the use of the islands for defense and military operations (Anderson et al. 2006; Cassels 2006). During the first Compact agreement from 1986 to 2003, FSM received \$1.5 billion USD (Cassels 2006). The second Compact agreement provides FSM with a total of \$2.1 billion USD in aid until 2023 (Cassels 2006; Shaeffer 2006). The Compacts have had a strong influence on the economy, food production and consumption, and health in FSM (Englberger et al. 2003a).

The colonizers of FSM have each left their imprint on the islands, but none has been as influential as the U.S. The Spanish introduced several plants and animals to the islands (Wenkam and Baker 1973). The Germans developed systems of transportation, governance and land tenure (Wenkam and Baker 1973). The Japanese built a thriving economy, including rice plantations on the islands (Cassels 2006). In the first 20 years of U.S. administration, there was little economic investment or activity within Micronesia (Englberger et al. 2003a). However, following criticism by the United Nations, the U.S. began sending subsidies to the islands which increased quickly from \$6 million in 1962 to \$130 million in 1978 (Englberger et al. 2003a; Cassels 2006). Since the 1960s, there have been numerous social, economic and cultural changes that have included growth of a cash-based economy, urbanization, an influx of processed foods from the U.S.,

increased conversion to motorized land and sea transportation, and decreased traditional fishing and local agriculture (Anderson et al. 2006).

People and Agriculture

While indigenous Micronesians have always been the majority population on the islands (Anderson et al. 2006), there has been a significant and noticeable loss of Micronesian culture over the last 50 years in terms of music, dance, construction and craft skills, agriculture, religion and language, among others (Lee et al. 2001; WHO 2003a). For example, based on the current rate of traditional knowledge loss, it has been predicted that, if not prevented, knowledge of breadfruit fermentation may disappear in one generation and taro production may only survive an additional four generations (Lee et al. 2001).

The economy of the islands was traditionally based on social networks and subsistence (WHO 2003a) and the agricultural resources available were generally adequate for food production (Englberger et al. 2003a). Forty-five percent of the FSM population still engages in subsistence agriculture and household production (Hezel and Lightfoot 2005). Agriculture has also existed on a commercial level but this makes up less than one percent of total exports (FAO 2006). Exports have included betel nuts, copra, black pepper, citrus, banana and sakau (kava) from 1992 to present (Hezel and Lightfoot 2005; Shaeffer 2006). However, documented trends indicate that overall knowledge, availability, diversity and use of local food to date are decreasing (Lee et al. 2001; Englberger et al. 2003a; Englberger et al. 2008a).

Diet

Local Micronesian food includes many diverse species and cultivars of root crops, fruits from trees and fish. Traditional island meals were generally made up of a starchy staple (such as breadfruit, taro, yams and/or sweet potato) and fish or seafood (including freshwater, reef and ocean fish and crustaceans) (Englberger et al. 2003a; Cassels 2006). Meals were supplemented with leafy vegetables, coconuts and fruits (WHO 2003a). Large servings of starchy root crops were consumed, up to four kilograms daily (WHO 2003a). Sugar cane and additional fruits were eaten as snacks (Englberger et al. 2003a). The traditional diet was rich in fibre, vitamins and minerals (Englberger et al. 2003a). As a result of foreign influence, the diet today is not the same as it was before colonization. The Spanish colonizers introduced maize, cassava, sweet potatoes, chickens and pigs (Cassels 2006). Rice became a staple following Japanese occupation (Wenkam and Baker 1973; Englberger et al. 2003a). Traditional diets incorporated some of these foods; however, the most dramatic dietary changes occurred during the American occupation (Englberger et al. 2003a; Cassels 2006).

Where the traditional meal was once breadfruit and fresh fish, it has now been replaced with rice and canned fish (Hezel 2004). A nutrition survey conducted in 1954 showed a strong reliance on local foods (Cassels 2006), while in 1986 40% of the total value of all imports to the country was imported food and drinks (Englberger et al. 2003a). Most sources agree that the major shift in diet, nutrient intake and food preference occurred in the last forty to fifty years (Englberger et al. 2003a; Anderson et al. 2006; Cassels 2006). The principal reasons for this are cited below.

Firstly, the continued dependence on foreign aid and an enhanced global food trade (Cassels 2006) has created a food dependency (WHO 2003a). With a substantial growth of the cash economy in the 1960s and 1970s resulting from the U.S. financial subsidies, imported foods became more affordable (Cassels 2006). Secondly, urbanization caused a major shift in lifestyle. Approximately 24% of the present FSM population are urban dwellers (WHO 2003a; UNICEF 2008). Many families living on the island of Pohnpei have moved from the outer islands or neighboring states to more urban dwellings with reduced access to land and have to buy their local food (Englberger 2008a). Urban families transitioned from using traditional fat-free cooking methods to fat-assisted methods and began supplementing traditional food with easily-accessible purchased foods (WHO 2003a).

Thirdly, U.S. food and agriculture programs have been implemented without significant modification or regard for the Micronesian traditional diet and local food production. One set of programs directly influencing food habits from the 1960s to the early 1990s was the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) supplementary feeding programs, which provided food for school lunches and people in need (Englberger et al. 2003a). At one point, the school lunch program, which included rice and tinned foods, provided food for 30% of the population on 180 days of the year (Englberger et al. 2003a). A second program established in 1985 was the USDA Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program (EFNEP), which promoted U.S. food and U.S. food guides across FSM (Englberger et al. 2003a).

Fourthly, while agricultural policies of the new FSM government were written to promote subsistence local food production, actual development efforts focused on export crops (Raynor 1991). Lastly, throughout the islands there has been a widespread belief and assumption that imported foods are superior to local foods (Englberger et al. 2003a).

As a result of this situation, imported foods became more accessible, convenient and affordable and were considered tastier and more prestigious than traditional food. It was during the last fifty years that rice consumption became a major staple in the diet, along with sugar and tinned meats (Englberger et al. 2003a). Imported cereal (white flour and rice) is now the largest provider of energy for Pacific countries (WHO 2003a). Main protein sources in the Micronesian diet are now local and canned fish, imported chicken and turkey tails (Cassels 2006). Imported poultry (chicken and turkey tail) consumption increased by 80% between 1980 and 2002 (Cassels 2006). In 1997, approximately one-quarter of fish intake was from canned sources (Cassels 2006). Many imported foods are processed and high in fat, particularly saturated fat, and/or refined sugar or flour with little fibre or micronutrients (WHO 2003a; Cassels 2006).

Health

The current population of FSM is 111,000 of whom 45% are under the age of 18 (UNICEF 2008). NR-NCDs and malnutrition are now serious problems across the country (Englberger et al. 2003a). "Nutritional imbalances at birth and in adulthood are making islander people a target for disease at both ends of the life cycle: malnutrition in its various forms early on and non-communicable diseases later in life" p.11 (Hezel 2004). The dietary and lifestyle changes discussed above are largely responsible for the health problems that are currently burdening the country's health system and its potential growth (Englberger et al. 2003a; Hezel 2004).

Obesity, chronic disease and malnutrition are relatively new phenomena in Micronesia. Early explorers of the Pacific, including Ferdinand Magellan (in 1521) and James Cook (in the 1770s), described the Islanders as muscular, well-proportioned and healthy with bountiful diets (WHO 2003a; Cassels 2006). In fact, a health survey conducted by the U.S. Navy in the 1940s (after World War II) indicated a near absence of obesity, hypertension or DM2 (Cassels 2006). Infectious disease and intestinal parasites were common causes of morbidity and mortality, DM2 and hypertension were unusual and there was little evidence of malnutrition (Englberger et al. 2003a). Obesity

Weight gain and being 'overweight' were not traditionally viewed negatively in the Micronesian culture. Body size was and may still be regarded as a symbol of prosperity (Hezel 2004). While few Micronesians would have been called overweight one hundred years ago, chiefs were easily identifiable because they ate well and engaged in little physical activity (Hezel 2004). In the Pacific, a high value was placed on fatty foods (WHO 2003a). In addition, there is a local disdain for physical exertion when it is not required (Hezel 2004).

Currently, there is a high prevalence of overweight and obesity in FSM. The National Nutrition Survey in 1987 revealed that one third of women (aged 15-45) were moderately overweight (25 kg/m² < BMI < 30 kg/m²) (Elymore et al. 1989). In 1993, 66-81% of women (aged 30-64) were overweight or obese (BMI > 25 kg/m²) across the FSM states (Lippwe 2002). The prevalence of overweight and obesity in similarly aged men ranged between 65-92% (Lippwe 2002). The WHO STEP survey of the Pohnpei state found 44% of men and women (aged 25-64) were obese (BMI \ge 30 kg/m²) (WHO 1999c).

Chronic Disease

The prevalence of chronic diseases is also high. A 1992-94 study on NCDs in 4,500 adults across FSM revealed high prevalences of obesity, hypertension, DM2 and dyslipidaemia (Englberger et al. 2003a). In 2002, the prevalence of hypertension and DM2 was 17% and 12%, respectively (WHO 2003a). Mortality data indicate an increasing burden of chronic NCDs (Anderson et al. 2006). Sixty-four percent of deaths in FSM in 2002 were from chronic diseases, including cardiovascular disease, cancer, chronic respiratory disease and DM2 (WHO 2005b).

Malnutrition

There was little evidence of malnutrition in the Pacific before the 1950s (WHO 2003a). South Pacific Health Services nutrition surveys carried out between 1951 and 1970 indicate few cases of malnutrition before colonization and found that indigenous languages lacked a word for malnutrition (WHO 2003a). However in 1988, the FSM National Nutritional Survey found high rates of mild to moderate anemia (based on haemoglobin) in women aged 15-49 (Elymore et al. 1989). Anemia prevalence (based on haemoglobin) among children ranged from 10–33% in surveys
conducted in Pohnpei (1994), Yap (2000) and Kosrae (2000) (Englberger et al. 2003a). In the 1988 National Nutritional Survey, 10% of children aged 0-4 years were stunted and 13% were underweight (based on <80% of WHO standards) (Elymore et al. 1989). A 1975 study found intestinal parasites in one third of all hospitalized children (Englberger et al. 2003a).

VAD was first documented in FSM in 1988 (Lloyd-Puryear et al. 1989). VAD among FSM children has been documented as some of the most prevalent in the world (WHO 2003a). In 2000, VAD (serum retinol <20 μ g/dl) among children aged 24-59 months was 63.3% and 33.8% in Kosrae and Yap, respectively (Englberger et al. 2003a). In women, the prevalence of VAD (serum retinol <30 μ g/dl) was 58% in Kosrae and 11.7% in Yap (Sowell et al. 2001). A vitamin A supplementation campaign of vitamin A capsules and deworming tablets started in 1993 (Lippwe 2002). In 2005, vitamin A supplement coverage rate of children 6-59 months old was 73% (UNICEF 2008).

Pohnpei and its Traditional Food System

The current study took place in the state of Pohnpei on the volcanic island of Pohnpei, which is the largest and tallest island in FSM (Golbuu et al. 2008). It is also one of the wettest places on earth receiving 838 cm per year at its peak (Golbuu et al. 2008). Its coastline is fringed with mangrove forest and a coral reef barrier surrounds the island at two to four kilometers from the coast (Golbuu et al. 2008). The population of Pohnpei state was documented at 34,500 in 2000, making it the second most populated state in FSM after Chuuk (Englberger et al. 2003a). There is no distinct rainy season in Pohnpei and the majority of local foods are harvested year-round (Englberger et al. 2008a). The seasonal foods include breadfruit (in season May to August), yam (in season September to March), mango (in season April and May) and pandanus (generally peaking November to February) (Englberger 2005; Englberger et al. 2008a).

Nutritionally-related disorders are serious problems in Pohnpei. From 1998 to 2002, the leading causes of death were heart disease, stroke, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and sepsis (Anderson et al. 2006). The 1994 child health survey in Pohnpei found 51% of children aged 24–47 months were VAD (serum retinol < $20 \mu g/dl$) (Englberger et al. 2003a). A survey in 1994 of Pohnpei children aged 2-4 years revealed iron anemia (haemoglobin <11.5 g/dl) in 33% (Lippwe 2002; Englberger et al. 2003a). The shift in diet from traditional food to imported food and a change in lifestyle are thought to have contributed to these health problems (Englberger et al. 2003a).

The traditional food system of Pohnpei was documented in 2005 using modifications to a published methodology manual ({Englberger et al. 2008a; manual: Kuhnlein et al. 2004a). Over 370 different local foods³ and food varieties (cultivars⁴) were identified from this research in the Pohnpei community of Mand (Englberger et al. 2008a). For example, 15 local cultivars of breadfruit were documented (Englberger et al. 2008a). Breadfruit was noted as the most commonly consumed local staple in FSM; it is a good source of energy and fiber and has some vitamin C (Englberger et al. 2003a). Twelve giant swamp taro cultivars were identified (Englberger et al. 2008a). These root crops have been found to be good sources of fibre and calcium, as well as provitamin A carotenoids (PAC) in yellow-fleshed varieties (Englberger et al. 2003a).

Twenty-six banana cultivars were also identified, of which 15 were yellow-fleshed (Englberger 2005). Bananas are traditionally prepared as main dishes, eaten as snacks and fed as a weaning food (Englberger et al. 2003a). In general, bananas are good sources of energy, vitamin C, potassium and fibre (Englberger et al. 2003a). Yellow-fleshed varieties are particularly rich in PAC (Englberger et al. 2003d) and some are also good sources of riboflavin, niacin and vitamin E (Englberger et al. 2006).

Twenty-five different species of vegetables were identified including 12 DGLVs (Englberger et al. 2008a). DGLVs were traditionally regarded as pig food and have been promoted in the past as a vitamin A (PAC)-rich food with limited success (Englberger et al. 2003a). Twenty-five fruit species, not including banana, were documented (Englberger et al. 2008a). However, the traditional diet does not generally include many different fruits; and while papaya and mango are good PAC sources when ripe, they are commonly eaten green. (Englberger et al. 2003a). The wealth of seafood in Pohnpei was apparent; 127 fish species and 26 seafood species were documented in this community-based survey (Englberger et al. 2008a).

Key-informant interviews and informal group discussions revealed that not all of these documented species and cultivars were consumed regularly. Some varieties were noted as rare, some fish were not hunted, while some other foods were not very popular (Englberger et al. 2008a). Negligence and over-dependence on other family members were named as major reasons why local food production and consumption has decreased in recent history (Englberger et al. 2008a).

³ Local food is the commonly used term in Micronesia and the Pacific for traditional food.

⁴ Cultivars refer to varieties produced upon cultivation.

Study Population

The Mand community of Pohnpei island has been the principal site of the Traditional Food for Health Intervention, which was evaluated in this thesis research. It is the same community involved in the documentation of the Pohnpei traditional food system, discussed previously. Involvement of the Mand Community began in 2005 when community members and a local nongovernmental organization, IFCP, joined the CINE Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health program representing the Oceana region (Englberger et al. 2008a). Community selection was based on several criteria set by CINE: a community that was rural, accessible and willing to participate.

The Mand community is located in the southeast corner of Pohnpei island in the rural municipality of Madolenihmw (Englberger et al. 2008a). In 2005, over 500 people were living in Mand, which was originally founded in 1954 by 60 people who came from Pingelap, a neighboring, coral-based (atoll) island (Englberger et al. 2008a). The community is walking distance to the sea, but lacks direct access and is located 40 kilometers from Kolonia, the town center of Pohnpei, on the island-perimeter road (Englberger et al. 2008a). Each original household in Mand had agricultural land plots available for local food production located five to twenty minutes from their home (Shaeffer 2006). The average size was 27.5 m² based on a random sample of plots surveyed in 2005 (Shaeffer 2006). This survey also revealed that these plots were not all actively being used for food production (Shaeffer 2006).

In 2005, the community relied predominantly on producing and catching the local food consumed; 83% of surveyed households responded that over half of the local food consumed was cultivated and/or caught by the household. Local food production was generally conducted at the household level, rather than at the community level. Agroforestry production occurred along the perimeter of houses as well as on the agricultural land plots (Shaeffer 2006). Processed imported food was available at several shops in the community and 80% of households in 2005 indicated that at least one person in the household had a salaried job (Englberger et al. 2008a).

Island Food Community of Pohnpei

IFCP is based in Kolonia, the town center of Pohnpei Island. The organization is nongovernmental having received its charter from the FSM national government in January 2004. The vision of IFCP is to see Pohnpeians live on a productive, environmentally-sound island where a diversity of locally-grown island food is produced and consumed, providing food security, sustainable development, economic benefits, self-reliance, improved health, cultural preservation and human dignity and at the same time protecting the natural resources (IFCP 2007). IFCP promotes local food across the island, through awareness-building, education, agriculture, conservation, food preservation and research.

'Traditional Food for Health' Community-based Intervention

For two years, a Traditional Food for Health intervention was implemented in the Mand community by IFCP to "assist the residents of Mand to meet their food needs, increase self-reliance, improve health and nutrition, economic savings and protect agricultural biodiversity" (Levendusky 2005). Initial involvement of Mand took place for documentation of the traditional food system in the summer of 2005 (Englberger et al. 2008a). Following this, intervention activities were held from September 2005 to June 2007 with significant community involvement and inter-agency collaboration. The Mand Community Working Group (MCWG), originally formed for the documentation study, continued to meet regularly throughout the intervention period and was involved in planning and implementing intervention activities. Twenty micronutrient-rich foods were chosen by MCWG at the beginning of the intervention from the traditional food list as important and appropriate to promote for nutritional, health and cultural reasons (Englberger et al. 2008a).

A variety of methods were used to promote locally grown foods that had high potential health benefits and good acceptability (Englberger et al. 2008b). Activities focused mainly on education and agriculture. Several educational activities targeted youth and women, while others were open to the entire community. Agricultural activities promoted home gardens and agroforestry by providing planting materials, tools and training/workshops. Social marketing and media were also used to publicize the project within Mand and on the greater Pohnpei Island. In addition, smokeless charcoal ovens were built and promoted during the intervention to improve convenience and practicality of preparing traditional food.

Methods

The CINE Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health program has facilitated food-based projects in twelve community settings of indigenous populations around the world, of which this thesis research is one part (CINE 2007). A comparison of pre- and post-intervention measures was decided upon by project partners to be the most appropriate methodology to evaluate the various interventions in the program (Kuhnlein et al. 2006). The single group pretest-posttest evaluative design is limited by reduced internal validity due to the influence of external events, maturation of the subjects and the educational effect of the pretest (Green and Lewis 1986). As a result, this research is not able to make conclusions about the direct effects of the intervention (Green and Lewis 1986). Rather, this evaluation attempts to highlight the community's effort (in the past two years) to make their health and well-being a priority (Kuhnlein et al. 2006).

To evaluate the effects of changing nutritional, health and socioeconomic influences, indicators must reflect a response to past and present interventions (WHO 1995). Triangulation is a method of using more than one approach to answer the same question (Nutbeam 1998). Three levels and types of outcomes can be measured to evaluate an intervention: long-term outcome measures, such as a change in mortality, morbidity or quality of life; intermediate impact or progress measures, such as a change in skills, attitudes or behaviour; and short-term process measures that examine levels of participation, program reach or recall of key messages (Green and Lewis 1986; King et al. 1994).

For this thesis study, diet, health and process indicators were used to evaluate the intervention at these three levels with the overall goal of understanding the degree of behaviour change related to traditional, locally-grown food. A single-group, pretest-posttest design was used in this thesis to evaluate diet and health status. The aim of the intervention was to improve health status through diet. Thus, diet was the intermediary step and a comparison of pre-intervention and post-intervention dietary patterns is referred to as the progress evaluation. Next, an examination of changes in health status over the intervention period formed the outcome evaluation. Finally, a process evaluation was conducted to examine how measured changes in diet and health status may have been effected by the intervention.

Health and diet were assessed by survey in the community of Mand in Pohnpei, FSM in 2005 (Englberger et al. 2008a). Then for two years, the IFCP conducted the Traditional Food for Health intervention. In 2007, a follow-up survey was conducted to assess health and dietary

changes and examine intervention implementation. This thesis research comprises the data collection in 2007, the descriptive and statistical comparison of the two time points and the overall evaluation of the intervention.

Research Design

The baseline and follow-up surveys were conducted from June to August in 2005 and 2007, respectively, during the same season, the breadfruit season. Qualitative and quantitative data approaches were used in 2007 to make follow-up observations on 2005 baseline data. Both surveys assessed health, diet and agricultural practices with similar methodology. Awareness and exposure to the intervention was also assessed by questionnaire in 2007.

The research incorporated the principles of participatory health research (WHO 2003b). Research agreements were signed in 2005 and 2007 between the Mand Community Leader, IFCP and the McGill University collaborator. These agreements explained the research purpose, informed consent, survey methodology, dissemination of results and benefits to the community and researcher (Appendix A). Collaboration for the health assessment research was granted by the FSM Department of Health and Social Affairs (Appendix B). Ethics approval for this thesis research was obtained by the McGill University Faculty of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences Research Ethics Board (Appendix C). At the individual level, informed consent was obtained verbally in 2005 and 2007. Verbal consent is more appropriate than written consent in this context given the oral culture of Pohnpei (Gordon 2000).

The 2007 survey was designed to match the methodology used in 2005 and together the two surveys form a longitudinal study on the same random sample. Diet was assessed in each survey period by two, non-consecutive, quantitative 24-hour recalls and a 7-day FFQ. The same random sample of adults (women) completed the dietary assessment in 2005 and 2007. Adult health of the community was assessed by measures of height, weight, WC, BP and FPG in 2005 and 2007. Adults were defined as individuals of 18 years of age or older during the 2005 survey. In 2005, additional information on agricultural practices, local and homegrown food use, food costs and attitudes was gathered by household questionnaires (Shaeffer 2006; Englberger et al. 2008a). In 2007, a project evaluation questionnaire was used to collect follow-up responses as well as additional information on awareness and exposure to the intervention activities and materials. The health assessments and the initial dietary interviews took place at the Mand Community Hall. The

second dietary interview and additional questionnaires were completed during household visits. While the forms and questionnaires used in the survey were written in English, the interviews were primarily conducted in Pohnpeian or Pingelapese and then transcribed in English. This method improved precision and was preferred by the multilingual interviewers.

In 2005, the random sample of 47 households was selected using a random number table and a list of all households in Mand (n=71) with the objective of including more than half of all households in the sample. Then in 2007 the same households from 2005 survey were invited to participate. These households were not targeted by the two-year intervention any more than other households; rather, intervention activities were open to the entire community. To recruit this sample during the 2007 survey, a sign was posted on the door of Mand Community Hall the day prior to the first day of survey (Appendix D). This advertisement informed participants to fast overnight for blood glucose testing and also listed the names of 2005 survey participants. Houseto-house visits and announcements at church by community leaders were also used to inform participants of subsequent days of survey work.

The health assessment was open to the entire community but recruiting efforts focused on reaching adults from the random sample of households. For the dietary assessment, only one adult woman from each household in the random sample was interviewed. Between 2005 and 2007, there were several changes (migration, death, household composition changes) that reduced the number of households and individuals in the random sample. Households were defined as the group of individuals who regularly ate their meals in the same house.

Research Team

The primary research team in 2007 included twelve officers from eight different agencies, including the community of Mand, the Pohnpei Government, College of Micronesia-FSM, IFCP and McGill University. Nine of these officers were part of the original 2005 research team. In both surveys there were 4 interviewers, 2 nurses and 3 research assistants collecting primary data. All interviewers in 2007 were the same as in 2005 except for one, and all were fluent in English and Pohnpeian, with the majority also fluent in Pingelapese. The interviewers from 2005 were retrained on dietary assessment protocols in 2007, while the new interviewer received complete training. Interviewers also received training on the project evaluation questionnaire. The nurses were

professionally trained and were responsible for taking BP and FPG measurements. The research assistants were trained to measure height, weight and WC.

The thesis candidate oversaw and coordinated the 2007 collection of survey data, with much assistance from IFCP and the Mand Community. All data in 2005 and 2007 were collected by the research team over an eight week survey period from June to August. During this period, survey data were also entered electronically by the thesis candidate and one of the interviewers. Original questionnaires were stored in the IFCP office. The thesis candidate completed subsequent data management and analysis at McGill University in Montreal, Canada.

Dietary Assessment

The dietary assessment comprised of a longitudinal study with measurements taken in 2005 and 2007 from the same sample population during the breadfruit season. The focus of this assessment was to measure changes in micronutrient intake and consumption patterns over the two-year intervention period. In both surveys a 7-day FFQ and two non-consecutive 24-hour recalls were administered during one-on-one interviews to assess usual individual intake. Dietary interviews were conducted with one adult woman from each household in the random sample responding about her own diet and the diet of one child in the household between the ages of one and ten. Pohnpeian women are the primary persons in the household to purchase and prepare food (Corsi et al. 2008), and thus are the most knowledgeable about the foods eaten in the household. Only dietary data of the adult were analyzed for the purpose of this thesis. Dietary forms and methodology were consistent between surveys. At the field site, completed forms were reviewed after each interview by the thesis candidate for omissions and inconsistencies.

Food Frequency Questionnaire

A FFQ was used to examine the frequency of consumption of selected foods over a seven day period and to assess diversity of foods, species and cultivars consumed (Appendix E). The 7day FFQ used in the 2005 and 2007 surveys was modified from FFQs previously developed for FSM (Englberger 2003; Englberger et al. 2005; Corsi et al. 2008) to include foods from the Pohnpeian traditional food system and to distinguish between imported and locally grown foods. Specific food species and cultivars were also added to obtain details on their consumption. Thirty-three food items and 200 sub-items were included in the FFQ. For each food item, interviewers asked the participant: "On how many days in the last seven days did you eat _____?" The participant was also asked if they had eaten any of the sub-items in the past seven days; the interviewer circled the item if it had been consumed at least once. The same questionnaire was used in 2005 and 2007 except that peanut butter was added as a sub-item to 'imported fat' and 'imported sugar' food items because informal interviews prior to the 2007 survey indicated that this was a common food in the diet. Forty-seven and 43 food frequencies were taken in 2005 and 2005 and 2007, respectively.

24-hour Recall

Two 24-hour recalls (Appendix F) were taken from individuals on non-consecutive days in each household at baseline (n=44) and follow-up (n=44) to estimate usual daily nutrient intake, daily intake of certain foods, consumption frequency and dietary diversity. A standardized protocol was used to obtain the foods and quantities eaten over the 24-hour recall period. Interviewers explained the 24-hour reference period and then asked about all food and drink consumed during this period. Responses were recorded one food item per line with details on raw or cooked form, cooking method, cultivar, maturity and brand names. These additional details improved the accuracy of the dietary assessment; for example, the carotenoid content of bananas varies among cultivars (Englberger et al. 2003c; Englberger et al. 2003d). Quantities consumed were then recorded using household measures. Visual aids of commonly consumed foods were provided to assist with portion size estimation. Measuring cups, plates, tablespoons, teaspoons and rulers were also provided to quantify portions of food consumed. Interviewer bias was reduced by alternating interviewers so that the repeated 24-hour recalls were not completed by the same interviewer.

Data Management

The inclusion criterion for data analysis was that each household included in the dietary assessment have complete dietary records (FFQ and two 24-recalls) from both years. There were 40 such dietary assessments representing 40 different households from the random sample. In

three of these households the respondent changed between survey years because of changes in household composition.

Data from FFQ were entered into Excel worksheets (Microsoft Office Professional Edition 2003). The 24-hour recalls were entered and analysed with FoodWorks Professional Edition (version 4.0, Xyris Software, Australia), which used Pacific Islands food composition data published by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (Dignan et al. 2004). Of the 119 different foods appearing in the 24-hour recalls, the majority were found in the FAO food composition database. Several green leafy vegetables (GLVs), namely chaya (*Cnidoscolus chayamansa*), chili leaves (*Capsicum annuum*), and two species of local spinach (*Alternanthera sissoo* and *Gynura crepioides*), were entered as 'tropical spinach' because individual food entries did not exist in the database. Nutrient composition of banana cultivar varieties did not exist in the database as the composition of these varieties has been analysed and published (Englberger et al. 2003b; Englberger et al. 2003d). The white-fleshed banana varieties were entered as either 'cooking banana' or 'ripe banana' food entries depending on their maturity when consumed. Ripe and unripe papaya (pawpaw) was also distinguished in food entries.

In addition, eggless recipes of pancake and doughnut were added to the food database to more accurately reflect local preparation. Instant noodles, or ramen, were entered consistently as magi-type noodles. All the remaining food items were closely matched to food entries appearing in the FAO database. Usual fortification of foods, namely niacin, thiamin and iron of rice, instant noodles and wheat flour, were used as they appear in the FAO database; there was no additional fortification noted in Pohnpei or added to the database. There were no missing values in the database for nutrients assessed.

Gram weights of portion sizes recorded on recalls were determined using a standard portion size list used previously in FSM (Englberger 2003; Englberger et al. 2005). Food entries in FoodWorks were grouped as either imported or local. Daily intakes from imported, local and all foods were calculated and entered into Excel. Estimates of the average daily intake values were then determined by least square mean statistics for energy, protein, fat, carbohydrate, vitamin C, vitamin A, retinol, beta-carotene equivalents (BCE), calcium and iron. To note, FoodWorks reports vitamin A as retinol activity equivalents, using 1:12 beta-carotene equivalent conversion. Individual food items and quantities consumed over the 48-hour recall period were also entered into Excel to

examine changes in consumption quantity, frequency and dietary diversity between the two survey years.

Additional Computations

Nutrient Intake

Vitamin and mineral supplement usage was infrequent and appeared in two out of 86 recall observations in 2007 and was not included in nutrient intake computations. The Goldberg cutoff method (Goldberg et al. 1991) was used to improve validity of the 24-hour recalls records by examining underreporting based on individual reported energy intakes. The cutoff method compares the ratio of the individual's average daily energy intake estimate (determined by recall) and their estimated basal metabolic rate (determined by published age- and sex-specific equations) to the published cutoff values based on two days of dietary assessment (Gibson 2005). These calculations revealed that two individuals had underreported in 2005 and five additional individuals had underreported in 2007. As a result the 24-hour recalls from seven individuals were excluded.

In another attempt to improve validity of the dietary records, lactating women, as determined by an interview question on recall forms, were excluded from nutrient analysis, because these women have larger energy and nutrient requirements and it was felt that inclusion of these women could skew the intake results. As a result seven additional women were excluded because they were lactating during one or both survey periods. In total, recalls from 14 subjects were excluded and the sample size for analysis of nutrient and quantity daily intake was 26 (n=40-14).

Dietary Diversity

Information on dietary diversity was analysed separately for both dietary assessment methods. Three scores of dietary diversity were computed for each: food group variety, species diversity and food item variety. Food groups were created for imported and local food items separately. Local food items were grouped into one of six groups: starchy staples, meat and nuts (including fish), fruit, vegetable, fat and snacks. Imported food items were grouped into the same groups with two additional groups for dairy and sweets. A food group score was calculated as the number of imported, local and total food groups consumed by the individual during the reference

period as captured by the dietary assessment tools (two days from the repeat recalls and seven days from the FFQ).

Species diversity was defined as the number of unique individual imported species, local species and total species consumed by each individual over the reference period. Cultivar varieties were not included in the score. Species distinctions of spinach, shrimp, reef fish, and tuna were not available in the food composition database and/or were not captured by dietary assessment. Similarly, the food item variety, or FVS, was the number of all food items and sub-items consumed by each individual during the reference period. Cultivar varieties were included in the score as unique food items.

All forty repeat 24-hour recalls from each year were used for this diversity analysis, rather than the reduced sample size due to Goldberg exclusion. This was done based on the assumption that while some respondents may have underreported quantities consumed, it was felt by the research team that the dietary recalls accurately captured the variety of food items consumed. Alcohol and local kava (sakau en Pohnpei) were not included in diversity scores.

Consumption Frequency

All forty food frequency questionnaires and repeat 24-hour recalls from each year were also used for consumption frequency calculations. As stated above, the recalls were assumed to accurately capture all food items consumed. Rather, the several instances of underreporting were believed to be due to misreporting of quantities consumed.

Health Status Assessment

There were 158 total survey participants in 2005 and 119 total survey participants in 2007 from the random sample of households, with 116 individuals participating in both years. In 2005 and 2007, there were also 45 and 41 volunteers who participated in the health assessments, respectively; however, these individuals were not included in data analysis. For each assessment, there are different subsets of participants who had complete measurements taken in both 2005 and 2007 and were included in data analysis: BMI – 68 individuals, WC – 84 individuals, FPG – 108 individuals and BP – 112 individuals.

The 2005 and 2007 health status assessments were conducted free of charge in the Mand Community Hall. Providing this service freely and conveniently in their village setting was considered as one way to attract participants, as the hospital charges for such assessments and may be difficult to access given its location in Kolonia. The objective of the assessment was to examine health status in a longitudinal study by taking measures of anthropometry, FPG and BP on the same individuals in 2005 and 2007. All community members aged 18 or older were invited to participate; however, only the measurements from individuals in the random sample were included in data analysis. Brief counseling at the time of the survey was provided to participants explaining each measurement and the associated health risk. The results and health risk categories were provided immediately after the health assessment to each participant on a results slip (Appendix G).

Anthropometry

Standing height was measured with a microtoise (CMS Weighing Equipment. Ltd., London). Subjects were asked to take off their shoes and stand against the wall with their heels, buttocks, upper back and head touching the wall and attention directed forward. Height was recorded with a precision of 0.1 cm.

Weight was measured using a digital electronic scale (Seca, model 890, Hamburg), reading to the nearest 0.1 kg. Women were weighed without shoes in undergarments and light clothing, normally a tee-shirt and skirt or dress. Similarly, men were weighed shoeless in undergarments and light clothing, normally a tee-shirt and shorts or light trousers.

BMI was calculated immediately for the participant using a height and weight table with colored regions indicating BMI ranges for underweight (<18 kg/m²), normal (18-24.9 kg/m²), overweight (25-29.9 kg/m²) and obese (\geq 30 kg/m²). Quantitative calculation of BMI for statistical analysis was completed after the survey.

WC was measured using a flexible measuring tape. For women the measurement was taken over light clothing, while men were asked to lift their shirt. The tape measure was held at the navel one finger width from the skin and measurement was taken with a precision of 0.1 cm when the participant was not holding their breath. As population-specific cutoffs have not been developed, WHO cutoffs indicating substantially increased health risk were used (greater than 88

cm for women and 102 cm for men) (WHO 1999b). These cutoffs indicate the degree of abdominal adiposity.

Blood Pressure

BP measurements were taken by a professional nurse using a BP monitor. Participants were asked to sit for at least five minutes prior to BP measurement. Measurement was repeated for cases outside the normal ranges. When measurements indicated hypertension, the associated health risk was explained to the participant. Participants, who had high BP (>140/90 mmHg) after repeated measures, were referred to the health dispensary for further assessment and counseling.

Fasting Plasma Glucose

FPG levels were measured by a public health nurse using a mobile blood glucose monitor (Accu-Chek®, Roche Diagnostics). While whole blood from fingertip was applied to the test strip, Accu-Chek meters are calibrated to deliver plasma-like values (Roche 2008). Prior to the test, participants were asked whether they had eaten anything between midnight and arrival to the assessment site. The test was not completed on individuals in a non-fasting state, who were asked to return on the following survey day. If the FPG level was abnormal (\geq 126 mg/dl), the nurse explained their risk of DM2 and requested that they follow up with public health doctor at the Diabetes Control Program. The contact information for this doctor was provided on the individual results slip (Appendix G).

Data Management

All data were recorded at the field site and later entered into Excel. Inclusion criteria for data analysis were that the individual was a household member in the random sample and that measurements were taken in both 2005 and 2007. Data were examined for significant change between years as continuous variables and as health risk categories. For BP, if one of the systolic or diastolic measures fell into a risk category, the higher risk category was assigned, as is common practice (WHO and ISH 1999). When multiple BP readings were obtained, averages were taken.

Intervention Evaluation Questionnaire

A four-page, 25-question evaluation questionnaire was administered to examine nondietary changes that may be attributable to the intervention (Appendix H). This questionnaire was developed over a two-week period as a result of considerable discussion with a Mand community leader, IFCP staff and the primary research team. The thoughtful insight and review provided by these individuals familiar with the project aided in the formulation of relevant, clear and culturallyappropriate questions. The questionnaire was structured with open-ended questions and precoded responses. The final survey was pilot tested on one individual unfamiliar with the project to review question comprehension. The survey interviewers were trained on this questionnaire, which was completed by one-on-one interview either following the second 24-hour recall or on a separate day.

The first part of the questionnaire elicited responses on exposure, participation and opinion of the main intervention activities and materials used. Another section examined agricultural practices of plants that were promoted and distributed during the intervention period, namely: banana, vegetables (grouped as GLVs and non-GLVs) and citrus. Additional questions related to DM2, vitamin A, local and homegrown food consumption in household and monthly spending on food. Several of these questions were formulated to obtain follow-up information on 2005 survey data (Shaeffer 2006; Englberger et al. 2008a).

Data were collected from 42 households and then entered in Excel and analysed. Responses were combined and grouped to obtain scores of awareness, exposure and practice, as well as an understanding of crop diversity between survey years. The responses were also examined for repeated themes.

Statistical Analysis

SAS (SAS for Windows, version 9.1, SAS Institute Inc., USA) was used to statistically examine the change in various measures between 2005 and 2007. A classification model with a randomized complete block (RCB) design was used to analyse data. A P-value of <0.05 was considered significant. Proc Mixed was used to examine change in dependent variables as continuous quantitative outcomes with a normal distribution. Normality was tested with Proc Univariate, using a Shapiro-Wilk statistic with a P-value >0.01 as an indication of normality. If

normality was not met, power transformations were used (in the order of logarithm, square root, cube root, fourth root). Proc Glimmix was used to examine change in dependent variables as ordered categorical variables with a binomial or multinomial distribution and for quantitative dependent variables with a binomial distribution.

Dietary Assessment

The statistical model for various dietary outcomes was:

outcome = hsld_i + year_j + error

where the outcome (dependent) variables were grams consumed, nutrient intake, consumption frequency and dietary diversity. Variation in these outcomes was examined by household (a random effect serving as the block in the RCB design) and year (2005 or 2007, a fixed effect). This model was developed similarly to a paired t-test but with the additional benefit of obtaining variance estimates for the random effects that may be useful for subsequent studies, such as power calculations for experimental design when examining similar outcome variables.

Health Assessment

The statistical model for various health outcomes was:

outcome = hsld_i + year_j + gender_k + age_l + indvl(hsld, gender)_{i,k} + error where the outcome (dependent) variables were BMI, WC, FPG and BP. The independent variables included three fixed effects: year, gender and age and two random effects: household (hsld, the block in the RCB design) and individual (indvl). Each individual was assigned a unique number, which was nested within household and gender. Ages were grouped into five categories: 18-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59 and over 60. This model controls for two variables known to influence health status, namely gender and age. Unlike the paired t-test, this model produces variance estimates for the random effects that are provided for informational purposes and may be useful for subsequent studies.

BMI, WC, FPG and BP were examined as continuous dependent variables using Proc Mixed. For this analysis, systolic and diastolic BP were examined separately. Changes in health risk category were also examined statistically in Proc Glimmix using the following ordered categories: BMI – normal, overweight, obese, very obese; WC – lower risk, increased risk; FPG – normal, abnormal; and BP – optimal/normal, high normal, mild/borderline hypertension, definite hypertension.

Results

Dietary Assessment

Diet was analysed by nutrient intake, food consumption quantity, frequency and dietary diversity. Overall, comparing diets from 2005 and 2007, micronutrient intake had increased, consumption frequency of key foods changed and the diet became more diverse. Increased local food consumption contributed a large amount to these changes. This may reflect changing food habits and behaviour change that have been influenced and promoted by the two-year intervention.

Consumption Quantity (Table 1)

Average daily quantities consumed of top imported and local food items varied between survey years. The average amount of local food consumed per individual increased from 471 grams in 2005 to 618 grams in 2007, while the quantity of imported food consumed decreased from 1,201 grams per individual in 2005 to 951 grams in 2007. The same top 15 foods, ranked by quantity, were consumed in 2005 and 2007. Of the top 15 consumed, seven were local food and included (in order from highest to lowest quantity consumed in 2007) banana, coconut, giant swamp taro, breadfruit, fresh fish, fruit and pork. The average daily consumption of these local foods increased between survey years by 6–200%, except for local fish which decreased by 31%. Top imported foods consumed were rice, chicken, sugar, canned fish, instant noodles, fruit, donuts and bread. There was a significant decrease in daily rice consumption (P=0.0002) from an average of 847 grams per day in 2005 to 544 grams per day in 2007. Quantities of other foods were not significantly different or did not meet normality criteria.

Energy and Nutrient Intake (Tables 2 and 3)

Energy, macronutrient and micronutrient intakes were examined in 2005 and 2007 (Table 2). Top food contributors to respective intakes are presented in Table 3. Overall, estimates of average macronutrient intakes in 2005 and 2007 were within WHO recommendations based on their contribution to energy intake except for protein which contributed more than the recommended range of 8-12% (WHO 2003a). Estimated average micronutrient intakes in both years were lower than the recommended dietary allowances (RDAs) and adequate intakes (Als) for vitamin C,

vitamin A, calcium and iron (Institute of Medicine 1997; Institute of Medicine 2000; Institute of Medicine 2001).

Total estimated average daily energy intake decreased significantly by 11% (P=0.04) (Table 2). This was predominantly due to a significant decrease in total carbohydrate intake (P=0.03). The top five foods contributing to energy in both 2005 and 2007 were rice, chicken, local banana, local fish and canned fish (Table 3).

The significant decrease in average total daily carbohydrate intake in Table 2 is most likely explained by the significant drop in daily rice consumption (P=0.0002) (Table 1). Rice was the top contributor to carbohydrate intake in both years, followed by local banana, imported sugar products, local giant swamp taro and local breadfruit (in 2007) (Table 3). The total daily intake of protein and fat did not change significantly; consumption remained at approximately 97 grams and 62 grams, respectively (Table 2). Top five contributors to protein intake were imported chicken, local fish, rice, imported fish and local pork in both years (Table 3). Top five contributors to fat intake in 2007 were imported chicken, canned fish, oil/margarine, local coconut and local pork. This indicated several changes from 2005 when local fish was the second top contributor to fat intake.

Overall, average daily consumption of many micronutrients was higher in the 2007 survey compared to the 2005 survey. Total average daily vitamin C intake increased non-significantly from an estimated average intake of 43 mg in 2005 to 62 mg in 2007 (Table 2). The 2007 intake approaches the RDA of 75 mg of vitamin C per day for women (Institute of Medicine 2000). Local banana, breadfruit, giant swamp taro and fruit as well as imported fruit were the top five contributors to vitamin C intake in 2007 (Table 3).

Vitamin A intake increased by nine percent from 177 µg to 193 µg; however, this increase was not significant (Table 2). Average daily vitamin A intakes from both years were well below the RDA (700 µg/day for women) (Institute of Medicine 2001). However, BCE intake (the active equivalent of provitamin A carotenoids) increased significantly by 110% between 2005 and 2007, from 227 µg to 476 µg (P=0.02) (Table 2). The top five contributors to BCE intake in 2007 were local GLVs, banana, vegetables (excluding GLVs) and breadfruit as well as imported vegetables (Table 3). The contribution of these foods to BCE intake increased between 2005 and 2007 except for bananas, which actually decreased from 742 µg to 412 µg of vitamin A equivalents. While the quantity of bananas consumed increased between 2005 and 2007 (Table 1), the decrease in BCE contribution from bananas resulted from reduced consumption of the carotenoid-

rich, yellow-fleshed banana varieties. The average daily consumption of these yellow-fleshed varieties was 17 grams in 2005 but two grams in 2007 (data not tabulated). While there was a significant increase in total BCE, total daily retinol intake (another dietary form of vitamin A) did not change significantly (Table 2). The top five contributors to retinol in 2007 were canned fish, imported chicken, margarine and eggs as well as local fish (Table 3).

Total average daily calcium intake increased non-significantly from 246 mg in 2005 to 326 mg in 2007 (Table 2). These estimated average intake values did not meet the adequate intake of 1,000 mg or 1,200 mg of calcium for women of 19-50 years and 51+ years, respectively (Institute of Medicine 1997). Top contributors in 2007 were local giant swamp taro, coconut and fish, as well as imported canned fish and chicken (Table 3). Average iron intake did not change between 2005 and 2007 remaining at approximately 9 mg per day (Table 2). This does not meet the RDA for iron, which is 18 mg and 8 mg for women of 19-50 and 51+ years, respectively (Institute of Medicine 2001). Top contributors to iron in 2007 were imported chicken, rice and canned fish, as well as local banana and fish (Table 3).

Local Food Contribution

The estimate of average daily intake of energy from local food sources did not change significantly between survey years (Table 2), even though the total quantity consumed increased (non-significantly) (Table 1). Major local energy sources included banana, fish, coconut, giant swamp taro and breadfruit (Table 3).

Carbohydrate intake from local foods increased non-significantly by 38% of the 2005 intake value (Table 2). While local sources of carbohydrate increased, there was large variation in intake. As a result, the increase was not statistically significant. Top local carbohydrate sources in both years were banana, giant swamp taro, breadfruit, coconut and dryland taro (Table 3). Protein and fat intake from local foods decreased between 2005 and 2007 by 37% and 39%, respectively, from the 2005 intake values (Table 2). Only the change in fat intake was statistically significant (P=0.04). The decrease in both is predominantly due to less daily consumption of local fish, the consumption of which decreased from an estimated daily consumption quantity of 128 grams in 2005 to 88 grams in 2007 (Table 1). Consumption of other top local sources of protein, mainly pork and banana, did not change notably (Table 3). Coconut and pork were other top local sources of dietary fat, the consumption of which remained similar in 2005 and 2007.

Local food contributed 36-98% of all micronutrient intakes (Table 2). Estimated average daily intake of BCE, calcium and vitamin C from local foods increased between surveys, although only the change in BCE intake was significant. The significant increase in total BCE intake was due to local food contribution; the local food contribution to BCE increased significantly by 153%, from 202 µg to 512 µg (P=0.02). GLVs contributed 10-fold more to BCE intake in 2007 than in 2005, becoming the top food contributor in 2007 (Table 3). BCE contribution from local vegetables excluding GLVs (such as cucumber, tomato, bell pepper and eggplant) increased almost 10-fold becoming the third top contributor in 2007 from the seventh in 2005. The contribution of giant swamp taro increased substantially by 200%. Banana and breadfruit remained as top five contributors to BCE in both years. While total consumption of banana increased, as reflected in an increased contribution to energy in 2007, the contribution of giana to BCE and vitamin A actually decreased. As stated above, this was due to reduced consumption of yellow-fleshed bananas in 2007.

The daily retinol intake from local food decreased significantly (P=0.02) by 64%, contributing to the 12% non-significant decrease in vitamin A intake from local foods, despite increased BCE intake (Table 2). This was likely due to decreased local fish (mostly tuna) consumption, which fell from being the top contributor to retinol in 2005 to the third top contributor in 2007 (Table 3).

Increases in banana, giant swamp taro and local vegetable (including GLVs) consumption resulted in a 30% increase in vitamin C intake from local food between 2005 and 2007 (Table 2). Local food contributed 40% in 2005 and 47% in 2007 of total calcium intake. The overall top contributor to calcium was giant swamp taro, the contribution of which increased by 200% between 2005 and 2007 (Table 3). In addition, calcium contribution from coconut and GLVs were 2.5- and 10-fold greater, respectively, in 2007 compared to 2005. Local food contributed 32-33% of iron intake, sources of which included banana, fish, giant swamp taro, coconut and pork.

Imported Food Contribution

Imported food was the principle (>66%) source of energy, protein, fat and carbohydrate intake in both surveys (Table 2). However, carbohydrate intake from imported food sources decreased significantly by 27% (P=0.0007). This was mostly due to the significant decrease in rice consumption in 2007 (P=0.0002) (Table 1). Besides rice, contribution to carbohydrate intake by

sugar and wheat flour-based products (such as pancake, bread, donut and instant noodles) did not vary between survey years (Table 3).

The imported food contribution to total micronutrient intake did not change significantly between 2005 and 2007. Approximately three percent of total vitamin C intake was contributed by imported food, mostly from fruit sources. Approximately half of the vitamin A intake was from imported foods (47% in 2005 and 54% in 2007) (Table 2). This vitamin A contribution was predominantly in the form of retinol from canned fish and imported chicken (Table 3). Imported foods, mostly as vegetables and fruits, contributed 31% and 20% of the total BCE intake in 2005 and 2007, respectively. The contribution to calcium intake from imported sources, particularly canned fish and chicken, did not fluctuate significantly between survey years. The majority of iron intake was from imported sources (64%), mainly chicken, rice (due to the large consumption quantities of rice) and canned fish.

Consumption Frequency (Table 4)

There were numerous changes in consumption patterns between 2005 and 2007. Comparison of the two dietary assessment methods (FFQ and repeat, 24-hour recall) reveals general agreement in trends observed. However, the FFQ tended to capture a greater difference in consumption frequency between years than the recall method. This is likely explained by the longer reference period - seven days by FFQ rather compared to two days by recalls. Results from the FFQ are summarized below followed by the results from the 24-hour recalls. Tables 7 and 8 provide additional information on food items appearing in the FFQ and 24-hour recall.

Of the local starchy staples, giant swamp taro increased significantly from being eaten on less than one day per week in 2005 to one day per week in 2007 (P<0.0001). Banana consumption increased significantly; bananas were consumed an average of 2.6 days per week in 2005 and four days per week in 2007 (P=0.0001). There was no significant change when white-fleshed and yellow-fleshed bananas were asked about separately. White-fleshed bananas remained more frequently consumed than yellow-fleshed bananas, being eaten on three days a week while yellow-fleshed cultivars were consumed less than one day a week. Consumption of breadfruit and "other starch" (including dryland taro, yam, cassava and sweet potato) did not change significantly; these staples were consumed on four days and less than one day per week in both years, respectively.

Consumption of local fish (including seafood) occurred an average of four days per week in both years. Local meat consumption (pork, chicken, duck and dog) did not change significantly and occurred approximately one day per week.

Of the imported carbohydrates, weekly rice consumption decreased significantly from being eaten seven days per week in 2005 to six days per week in 2007 (P<0.001). On average, wheat 'flour products' (including instant noodles, doughnuts and pancakes) consumption frequency increased significantly from four days per week in 2005 to five days a week in 2007 (P=0.008). Imported (canned) fish consumption frequency remained at approximately 2.5 days per week between years, while imported meat consumption increased significantly from being eaten on average 1.7 days per week in 2005 to 2.6 days per week in 2007 (P=0.003). Consumption of chicken eggs, mostly an imported product, increased significantly from being consumed on one day in 2005 to 1.6 days per week in 2007 (P=0.03). Dairy was consumed less than one day per week in both years.

Consumption of all vegetables (local⁵ and imported) increased significantly from being eaten on 1.5 days per week in 2005 to 3.4 days per week in 2007 (P<0.0001). When asked about separately, consumption frequency of local vegetables increased significantly from 1.4 days a week to 3.3 days a week (P<0.0001). Popular local vegetables eaten on a weekly basis included GLVs (particularly chaya, chinese cabbage and spinach), cucumber, bell pepper and eggplant (see Table 7 for scientific names). Imported vegetables were consumed on average less than one day per week in both years.

Consumption frequency of all fruit (local and imported) increased significantly from being eaten an average of three days per week in 2005 to 4.5 days per week in 2007 (P<0.0001). Local fruit was consumed an average of 3.5 days per week in 2005 and four days per week in 2007; however, this increase was not significant. Reported imported fruit consumption frequency decreased significantly but remained at less than one day per week (P=0.0004). Popular local fruit consumed on a weekly basis included mountain apple, pineapple, papaya, guava and citrus, while imported fruits included apples, oranges and canned pineapple (see Table 7 for scientific names).

Local drink and local snack consumption increased significantly. Consumption frequency of local snacks of sugar cane and coconut husk (the edible exterior of one coconut variety) increased from 0.3 days per week in 2005 to 0.7 days per week in 2007 (P=0.01). Popular local

⁵ Local vegetables include traditional species as well as introduced species grown locally

drinks, including drinking coconut, madeu (made from cinnamon bark) and lemongrass tea, were consumed 2.4 days a week in 2005 and 3.2 days a week in 2007 (P=0.01). Local nut consumption consisted of chestnuts (*Inocarpus fagifer*), the frequency of which also increased significantly from 0.2 days per week in 2005 to 0.6 days per week in 2007 (P=0.01). Use of coconut fat (including coconut cream, oil and embryo) did not change significantly; consumption frequency remained at less than two days per week.

The frequency of sugar consumption (including sweet imported foods such as donuts, ice cream and cookies as well as sucrose added to local food or local drink) decreased significantly from three days a week in 2005 to two days a week in 2007 (P=0.0002). Conversely, imported drinks with sugar (including soft drinks, koolaid and sucrose added to tea and coffee) increased significantly; these drinks were consumed on two days per week in 2005 and on almost four days per week in 2007 (P<0.0001).

When foods from the repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recalls were grouped into the same food item groups as the FFQ, far fewer significant differences in consumption frequency were found. The only significant difference was in local vegetable consumption, which increased significantly in 2007, from a consumption frequency of 0.3 to 0.6 days over the two-day recall period (P=0.04). While other trends between 2005 and 2007 paralleled those found in the FFQ, there was little difference captured in the two-day dietary records.

Dietary Diversity (Tables 5, 6, 7)

Dietary diversity was also examined to provide additional clues of dietary changes over the intervention period. Diversity was measured as the number of different food groups ('food group score'), species ('species diversity score') and food items ('food variety score') consumed over a 7-day, consecutive period measured by FFQ and a two-day, non-consecutive period measured by 24-hour recall. The FFQ captured more differences in dietary diversity than the recall, likely reflecting the larger reference period, as was found in the consumption frequency results presented above. Two statistical procedures were used to examine diversity scores between 2005 and 2007. Proc Glimmix used a true binomial distribution, whereas Proc Mixed used an approximation to the binomial distribution. Both procedures produced similar results of significance (Table 5). Lists of imported and local food species and the number of times each food species appeared in the dietary records are tabulated in Tables 6 and 7.

By FFQ, the number of 14 different food groups (six local food groups and eight imported food groups) consumed increased significantly between survey years from an estimated average of 10 in 2005 to 11 in 2007 (P=0.04) (Table 5a). Most of this change occurred within the local food groups which increased significantly from 4.8 to 5.5 groups (P=0.001). While 18% of the sample population consumed from the six local food groups in 2005, 58% consumed from the six local food groups in 2007 (data not tabulated). The imported food group score did not change significantly between years, remaining at an estimated average of five food groups. By recall method, food group scores did not change significantly; an estimated average of 3.5 local food groups and four imported food groups were consumed in both years (Table 5b).

A total of 72 different species were consumed by the sample population over a 7-day period as captured by FFQ (Table 5a). Of these, 51 were from local sources and 21 were from imported sources. By FFQ, an estimated average of 18 different species were consumed in 2007 compared to 12 different species in 2005 (P<0.0001). This increase in total dietary diversity was due to a more diverse diet of local species; the estimated average weekly consumption of local species increased significantly by five species from 12 in 2005 to 17 in 2007 (P<0.0001). In 2005, 11 species was the upper limit of local species consumed, whereas in 2007, 48% of the sample population consumed more than 11 different local species (percentage not tabulated). Imported species diversity did not change significantly.

As captured by recall, a total of 56 different species were consumed over the two-day period, of which 40 were local and 24 were imported (Table 5b). There was some overlap between imported and local food species, thus the total number of species is less than the sum of local and imported food species. According to the data captured by recall, species diversity did not differ significantly between years. The average number of total species consumed increased from 8.2 in 2005 to 8.9 in 2007, local species consumed increased from 4.4 to 4.8, and imported species remained at four.

By FFQ, 100 different local food items and 66 different imported food items were captured by the 7-day FFQ (Table 5a). An estimated average of 12 additional food items in total were consumed in 2007 compared to 2005; this 52% increase from 21 in 2005 to 33 in 2007 was significant (P<0.0001). Significant increases in local and imported food variety were also found, with increases of 65% and 37%, respectively (P<0.0001 for both). While the upper limit of local food items eaten in 2005 was 19, the upper limit in 2007 more than doubled to 43. By recall, 119 different food items were captured. Total food variety captured by recall increased from 11 to 13 in 2007; this increase was statistically significant in the Proc Mixed test (P=0.03) but not in the Proc Glimmix test for significance (Table 5b). Local and imported food variety by recall did not change significantly.

Promoted Foods Score (data not tabulated)

A 'promoted foods score' was calculated to examine changes in consumption of the key micronutrient-rich foods promoted in various activities by the IFCP. Twenty foods were originally selected by the community for promotion (Table 5 in Englberger et al. 2008a). The calculated score was the number of the top five promoted foods consumed per individual in each year. These main promoted foods were yellow-fleshed banana, giant swamp taro, breadfruit, yam and GLVs. By FFQ, there was a significant increase between 2005 and 2007 (P=0.003). In 2005, the average individual consumed less than two of these promoted local foods, whereas in 2007 the estimated average number of promoted foods consumed was 2.5. In 2005, the upper limit of promoted foods consumed was three, whereas in 2007, 25% of individuals ate more than three of these promoted foods. Results from the 24-hour recall demonstrated a modest, but non-significant increase in consumption of these foods from one in 2005 to 1.2 in 2007.

Health Status Assessment

Four measures of health status were assessed in 2005 and 2007: BMI, WC, FPG and BP. Each of these health outcomes was analysed at the individual level for effects of year, age and gender using raw measures as well as classification according to health risk. Health risk categories and corresponding cutoff measures are presented in Table 8. Overall, there was no indication of significant change in health status between the 2005 and 2007 survey years. Prevalence of obesity and DM2 remained high.

Body Mass Index (Tables 8, 9)

Estimated average BMI of the sample population did not change significantly between years, remaining at approximately 31 kg/m², using the outcome variable as the raw BMI value (Proc

Mixed) or BMI category (Proc Glimmix using assigned ordered categories of 1, 2, 3, 4 for normal, overweight, obese and very obese, respectively) (Table 8). In the sample population, 13% and 19% had a normal BMI in 2005 and 2007, respectively. None of the participants were underweight and the majority was obese or very obese in both years. The estimated average individual change in BMI between 2005 and 2007 was 0.4% with a nearly equal number of people gaining and losing weight (data not tabulated). The percent change ranged from an increase in BMI by 16% to a decrease of 17%.

There was a significant difference in BMI due to gender (P=0.005) (Table 8). The estimated average BMI for women was 33.6 kg/m², which falls in the obese range, while that of men was in the overweight range at 29.2 kg/m². More men than women had a normal BMI; in 2007, 35% of men and 8% of women were in normal BMI range (Table 9). Over 90% of women had BMI \geq 25 kg/m² and 70% were obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²). The majority of men was overweight but not to the same extent; in both years over 64% of men had a BMI \geq 25 kg/m² and 38% were obese or very obese. Age did not have a significant effect (Table 8). BMI among men was highest at age 30-39, while the trend of BMI among women increased moderately across the age groups (Table 9).

Waist Circumference (Table 8)

The estimated average WC of the sample population was 98 cm in 2005 and 100.5 cm in 2007; there was no significant difference between years. Over 70% of the sample population in both years had a WC indicating substantially increased risk of obesity-related illness (based on sexspecific cutoffs presented in Table 8). Between 2005 and 2007, WC of individuals changed an average of 0.8%; the largest increase observed was 18% and the largest decrease was 16% (data not tabulated). On average, women had a higher WC than men (women: 100.9 cm, men: 95.4 cm) although there was no significant effect of gender. Prevalence of increased risk was 85% among women and 41% among men (data not tabulated). The effect of age approached significance (P=0.05). The highest average WC was in the age group of 40-49 years.

Fasting Plasma Glucose (Table 8, 10)

There was no significant difference in FPG concentration or classification category (normal or abnormal) between the survey years (Table 8). Over 60% of the sample population had normal FPG levels. The prevalence of DM2 (FPG \geq 126 mg/dl) was 34% and 38% in 2005 and 2007, respectively. The estimated average FPG concentration in both years was higher than recommended (2005: 128.2 mg/dl, 2007: 129.1 mg/dl). Several individuals with FPG levels exceeding 300 mg/dl may have skewed the estimated averages.⁶

There were 25 incidental cases of DM2 indicated by abnormal FPG in 2005 and an additional 10 cases of DM2 discovered in 2007 (i.e. these 10 individuals had normal FPG levels in 2005 and abnormal FPG levels in 2007) (Table 10). Of the 41 cases of diabetes found in 2007, 13 had been diagnosed prior to the 2005 survey (participants were questioned at check-in), 18 were incidental cases found in 2005 and 10 were incidental cases indicated in the 2007 survey.

There was no significant effect of gender on FPG levels (Table 8). The prevalence of abnormal FPG was 3-4% higher in women than men in both years (Table 10). On the other hand, age had a significant positive effect on FPG level (P<0.0001) (Table 8). FPG increased across age groups, particularly after 40 years of age when the estimated average FPG level was abnormal. In both survey years, more than 50% of men over 50 years had abnormal FPG levels. For women, this trend occurred in a younger age group with more than 50% of women 40 years and older having abnormal FPG levels (Table 10).

Blood Pressure (Table 8)

Over 79% of the sample population in both years had BP measurements in the optimal range and 4-5% had definite cases of hypertension. Systolic and diastolic BP measures were examined separately as continuous variables. Neither measure was significantly different between 2005 and 2007. The estimated averages in both years for systolic and diastolic BP were 115 mmHg and 73 mmHg, respectively, which fall in the optimal range. There was no significant effect of gender on BP. Systolic and diastolic BP both increased significantly with age (P<0.0001). The estimated average with age reaching the 'high normal' risk category at age 50 years and older. The estimated average diastolic measures remained in the optimal range.

⁶ There were eleven individuals with FPG >300 mg/dl in 2005 and nine individuals with FPG >300 mg/dl in 2007.

Intervention Assessment

The process evaluation of the intervention was conducted by examining the intervention activities and materials delivered and the practices that were directly facilitated by the intervention. This provided evidence of the behaviour change process as it relates to local food production and consumption. Descriptions of the 10 intervention activities and four materials included in the assessment are presented in Table 11. These activities and materials were selected because they directly involved the community of Mand. There were additional activities and materials not included in the intervention assessment that did not specifically target the Mand community but instead were island-wide targeting all Pohnpeians (Englberger et al. 2008b).

Awareness and Exposure

Intervention Activities (Table 12)

For each principal activity carried out during the intervention, respondents were asked whether they had heard about the activity (awareness), whether someone in their household had participated (exposure), their opinion of the activity and the most important thing they had learned from the activity.

Awareness of the MCWG was the highest of all 10 activities with 93% of respondents having heard about this working group. Exposure was high as well with 60% of sampled households participating in the MCWG meetings. The most important concepts learned from the this activity were the benefits of consuming and planting local food, healthy cooking and health topics including vitamin A, DM2, breastfeeding and heart disease. One respondent commented that they "learned how our culture is being neglected." One person recommended improving the records of plant distribution.

The Youth School Education activity, which took place at the Mand Elementary school, had a level of awareness of 76% and 33% of the respondents said that a child in their household had participated. The general comment among responses was that it was good training for the children. One person stated, "Students need to learn about their own local food." According to the adult responses, important concepts their children learned were that different banana varieties are nutritious, have vitamin content and are good for health. Children also learned how to make recipes using banana. One respondent commented that their daughter shared the three-banana salad recipe she learned at school (made with orange, yellow and white-fleshed bananas) with her family. Another respondent said that their daughter did not eat bananas before the activity but now does. One recommendation made was that the program should be expanded to all grades.

The Youth Drama Club was the activity with the third highest level of awareness at 88%. Over 25% of the households sampled had a child who participated. Adults reported that their children learned about yellow-fleshed banana varieties, the vitamin content of bananas and how to create and act out a drama skit. The children also learned to share with community members the importance of local food. It was also considered to be a good activity to keep the children busy after school hours.

Eighty-three percent of respondents were aware of the Breastfeeding Support Group, while 33% of the households had at least one member participate in these regular meetings. Overall, respondents said that this was a good activity for both mother and baby. One person stated, "[We] needed to learn the facts about breastfeeding, verses the beliefs from before." Another person commented that breastfeeding was good for the community to promote. As a result of this activity, respondents learned the definition and importance of exclusive breastfeeding and how breastfeeding reduces the chances of their child getting sick.

Planting material distribution and training occurred at community working group meetings and during workshops over the intervention period. Eighty-six percent of respondents said they were aware of this activity and 50% said that someone from their household had participated. Respondents were pleased with the activity noting that, as a result, they planted more varieties, including rare varieties and are producing more local food. Some of the most important concepts learned were how to plant using new methods, make seedlings, compost and take care of their plants. Several comments made were that homegrown food can be good for health, recognizing "the benefit of using what you grow." Respondents recommended that this activity be expanded to have plant distribution more frequently, on a monthly or quarterly basis.

Seventy-six percent of respondents were aware of the Home Gardening activity and 48% of households had at least one member participate. The common themes among the responses were that the container gardens improved accessibility to and decreased cost of vegetables. One remark was that these gardens were very convenient in that they were created next to the house and require minimal space. Other respondents mentioned that they made container gardens at work, out of tires, in the back of an old truck and in plastic bags. From this training, people learned

how to make a container garden, plant seeds, transplant seedlings, compost and protect the garden from animals. However, one person commented that it was too much work to make the container and gather soil.

The Cooking Training conducted by two agriculture and nutrition extension agents had an awareness level of 83% and an exposure level of 50%. All participants appeared to enjoy sharing and learning new and healthy recipes at this workshop. One important concept appearing in the responses was that participants learned new combinations and ways of mixing food by incorporating local food into imported food dishes. For example, one respondent commented, "With this training, even with a can of meat I will add pumpkin plant tips [flowers]. Kids love it." Respondents mentioned the following local foods that they learned to mix with imported food: chili pepper, spinach, banana blossom, leafy vegetables and pumpkin plant tips.

The activity with the second highest level of awareness (90%) was the Smokeless Charcoal Oven training and distribution. The exposure level was 50%. Learning the benefits of the smokeless charcoal oven compared to the traditional oven (uhmw) was given most importance. Benefits mentioned included that it makes food preparation easier and healthier, saves time, reduces frying, reduces firewood use and uses less cooking fuel (kerosene) or electricity. Other responses were, "I use it all the time" and "Using local food in a local way [using local material for charcoal] promotes healthy living."

The sample population was least aware of and least exposed to the U.S. Ambassador's Dinner at 57% and 21%, respectively. Respondents saw this activity as a way to promote local food in a setting that allowed sharing of traditional recipes among women.

Seventy-one percent of the respondents were aware of the planting and weight loss competitions and 50% of households had participated. These competitions were focused on horticulture of uncommon varieties of food species and separately, on awareness of weight control and physical activity. The majority of responses applied to the weight loss competition; a salient theme was, "Part of health improvement is exercise." Some of the most important concepts learned were that excessive weight is linked to increased health problems, that weight can be controlled with physical activity and that physical activity improves health. A recommendation was to expand this competition. However, one person remarked that they were weighed too many times as part of the weight loss competition.

Intervention Materials (Table 12, Figure 2)

The intervention's social marketing campaign, which included posters, billboards, as well as a regular presence in the island-wide newspaper and on the local radio station, had been noticed by a broad audience. The Pohnpei Bananas Poster (Figure 2a) and the Pacific Island Indigenous Food Poster were widely recognized by 95% and 33% of the sample population, respectively. Nearly the entire sample population (98%) had seen the Go Local Billboard (Figure 2d) in 2007 compared to 76% in 2005 (2005 data not tabulated). Seventy-six percent of respondents knew about the regular media reports, which often reported on the Mand intervention (eg. Figure 2c).

Intervention Messages (data not tabulated)

Exposure to the vitamin A message was ascertained in the evaluation questionnaire in 2007 using the question, "What do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?" Overall the majority (56%) of respondents stated vitamins. Of this, 21% specifically stated vitamin A and 10% stated the most complete and accurate response, beta-carotene.

In 2005 and 2007, respondents were also asked by questionnaire what they thought was the cause of DM2. In 2005, 40% said that diet and lack of exercise cause DM2. This increased slightly in 2007, when 43% gave this combined response. Heredity was also given as a cause of DM2 by 8% in 2005 and 18% in 2007.

Practice

Household Agriculture Practices (Table 13a)

Local food production was supported by the intervention with several of the intervention activities described above. To examine the potential impact of the intervention on agricultural practice, the evaluation questionnaire in 2007 focused on banana and vegetable cultivation. Information on the number of plants planted in the past two years, the varieties planted and the source of planting materials was obtained by this questionnaire.

Bananas had been planted by 88% of respondents in the past two years. An average of 50 banana plants had been planted per household between 2005 and 2007, consisting of six different

banana cultivars - three white-fleshed varieties and three yellow-fleshed varieties (data not tabulated). Most of these banana plants had been obtained from their own land (50% of the sample population responded that they had obtained banana planting material from their own land), followed by the pilot farm (a nearby agriculture station, 48%), family and friends (43%) and the MCWG meetings (17%) (data not tabulated; more than one response was permitted thus percentages do not add to 100%).

Vegetable production was divided into two categories: GLVs and other vegetables. The majority of households (76%) had planted GLVs plants in the past two years. An average of 32 GLV plants of three different species were planted (data not tabulated). The most commonly planted GLVs included (from most to least common) spinach, Chinese cabbage, chaya, pele, kangkong and katuk. When vegetables other than GLVs were asked about separately, 67% of respondants planted one or more of these vegetables in the past two years. An average of 23 vegetable plants of three different species had been planted including (from most to least commonly planted) eggplant, cucumber, bell pepper, string beans, cassava, sweet potato and avocado (data not tabulated). Twenty-four percent of the sample population obtained their GLV planting materials from the MCWG meetings, and 29% obtained their other vegetable planting materials from these community meetings (data not tabulated). Species names are provided in Table 7.

Household Food Practices (Table 13b)

The 2007 evaluation questionnaire included questions on how much local food and homegrown food was consumed in the household and how much money was spent on food. These questions were repeated from the 2005 survey.

Overall, responses indicated that less food was spent on food in 2007 compared to 2005. Sixty-three percent of households responded that they spent more than half of their monthly salary on food in 2005. In 2007, only 33% responded that they spent more than half of their monthly salary on food. Another 33% of households in 2007 spent half of their monthly salary on food and 28% spent less than half.

The proportion of local food in the household increased moderately between years. In 2005, 89% reported that local food made up half or less than half of their household food, while in

2007, only 65% reported this. The number of households reporting that local food made up greater than 75% of their total food increased by five households from 3% in 2005 to 15% in 2007.

To understand the amount of homegrown food consumed, the question was asked: "What proportion of the local food your household consumes is homegrown?" The majority of respondents in both years reported that more than 75% of the local food consumed was homegrown – 78% in 2005 and 83% in 2007. Sixteen percent responded that homegrown food made up less than half of their local food in 2005 and 10% responded this way in 2007.

Discussion

This thesis research has served to document the changes that have occurred following a food-based intervention in a community setting using baseline and follow-up data as well as qualitative measurements. The goal of the intervention was to increase local food consumption and production and ultimately to improve health. The intervention targeted a broad audience with numerous different activities over the two-year period. It is the cumulative outcome and quality of these efforts that are documented in this evaluation, rather than the pinpointing of individual activities, materials or recipients.

The evaluation approach has been three-pronged. First, evaluation of intermediate progress examined dietary changes in consumption quantity, consumption frequency, nutrient intake and dietary diversity. Secondly, the long-term outcome of improved health status was assessed. Lastly, the process of intervention implementation was examined by self-reported responses on awareness, exposure, knowledge and opinion of activities and materials. While small in scale, the triangulation evaluative approach permitted a comprehensive examination of behaviours relating to local food that may have been influenced by the persistent messages and numerous activities of the intervention.

Limitations

There have been several limitations to this thesis research. Firstly, the evaluation design did not have the scientific rigour needed to establish a relationship of cause and effect between the intervention and observed changes. Indeed, the use of replicate comparison sites has been recommended for evaluation of food-based interventions (Ruel 2001). However, in the current study it was not possible to have even a single comparison site, because portions of the intervention had been conducted across the island, particularly the social marketing components.

Secondly, the evaluation focused on nutrition and health and did not collect extensive data on agricultural crop production and on external factors that may have affected food consumption patterns, including availability, accessibility and affordability of food. Thus, the attribution of potential causes for the changes documented is limited. What the evaluation results do suggest is that there has been an increase in good practices relating to local food. This indicates, though not conclusively, that some of the information provided by the intervention over the two-year period has been acted upon.

Thirdly, because of the longitudinal pretest-posttest design of the evaluation, the posttest responses may be biased by knowledge gained from the pretest experience two years prior and from the intervention itself. This is a potential source of experimental bias in the current study. However, if response bias was very common, then additional changes other than the ones seen would likely have been captured. For example, frequency and cultivar counts indicate that dietary patterns relating to yellow-fleshed bananas had not changed, which is contrary to one of the major messages of the intervention.

Fourthly, a two-year period may not have been sufficiently long enough to observe the effects of behaviour change relating to local food production and consumption. For example, some of the planting materials distributed require a two-year or longer cultivation period. This results in a lag time longer than two years to observe the effects from agricultural production and cultivation on food consumption. In addition the health effects resulting from increased consumption of local, nutrient-rich foods may take longer than two years to become evident. The long-term effects of fruits and vegetables as functional foods, i.e. protection against DM2 and chronic disease (Frison et al. 2006; Rao and Rao 2007), were not investigated in this evaluation.

Fifthly, a larger sample size may have improved the power to detect significant changes in diet and health status. For example, an evaluation of a nine-month social marketing intervention in Indonesia found a significant 11% increase in daily vitamin A intake (de Pee et al. 1998c). Dietary data had been collected by five cross-sectional surveys on 7,200 people each time. Based on this finding, the nine percent increase in vitamin A intake seen in the current study with a sample size of 40 perhaps could have been significant if a larger sample size had been used. However, because the current study was longitudinal in design, an even larger effect size would need to be observed compared to the cross-sectional study. Ultimately, the community size limited the size of the random sample; the community was small with 71 total households and a population of 500. A further reduction in sample size due to exclusion of underreporters and lactation for examination of nutrient intake was appropriate, but likely removed intakes at both ends of the nutrient intake ranges.

Finally, because the intervention used an inter-agency, participatory and community-based approach, the evaluation results are context-specific. There will never be a single 'how-to' handbook to implement and evaluate food-based interventions. Rather the utility of this thesis
research is to provide documentation of what happened, what changed, and what did not, so that lessons learned can be considered in other situations and geographic regions.

Progress Evaluation – Dietary Assessment

Dietary records from the same randomly selected households in both 2005 and 2007 revealed significant changes in nutrient intake, consumption frequency and dietary diversity in the adult sample interviewed. Many of these changes reflected increased local food consumption and may provide evidence of behaviour change and intervention progress. Dietary assessments taken during the breadfruit season, one of two seasons on Pohnpei, of 2005 and 2007 likely reflect typical dietary patterns. While breadfruit would not be eaten as frequently during other parts of the year, most other local and imported foods are available year-round. Only yam, mango and pandanus were not in season during the survey period, but these foods were still locally available as evidenced by their appearance in the dietary survey records. Local food was either harvested locally or purchased at markets in Kolonia, located 40 minutes by car from Mand. Processed imported foods were purchased at several shops in Mand or at grocery stores in Kolonia, which sell both processed and fresh imported items.

Of the local starchy staples, giant swamp taro and banana were particularly promoted by the intervention. During the intervention, educational activities and social marketing materials publicized the high nutrient content of different giant swamp taro and banana cultivars emphasizing yellow-fleshed varieties as particularly nutrient-rich and good for long-term health. For example, promotional posters with pictures and corresponding carotenoid contents of different giant swamp taro and banana cultivars were displayed in the community and used in workshops and trainings (Figure 2a,b). An additional tool was Banana Bingo, a game developed for the Youth School activity to help students identify nutrient-rich banana varieties (for more details see Englberger et al. 2008b). Yellow-fleshed varieties of both staples, which are higher in BCE than white-fleshed varieties, had been rated in 2005 as top foods to promote during the intervention (Englberger et al. 2008a). Consumption of the carotenoid-rich varieties of local food was encouraged during the intervention with the message that carotenoids from such local plants may have a protective effect against chronic disease and VAD (Englberger et al. 2003b). One particularly successful tool was the Pohnpei Bananas poster, which was devoted to the yellow-fleshed bananas of Pohnpei and had a 95% visibility in 2007 (Figure 2a).

Evaluation results indicated that weekly consumption of both banana and giant swamp taro increased significantly between 2005 and 2007. Giant swamp taro consumption quantity and contribution to vitamin C, BCE, and calcium was higher in 2007 than 2005. While weekly consumption of all types of banana increased significantly, there was no significant increase in frequency of yellow-fleshed banana consumption when this group was asked about separately. In fact, the total quantity of yellow-fleshed bananas consumed decreased between 2005 and 2007, from a daily consumption in the sample population of 440 g to 100 g, which decreased the contribution of bananas to vitamin A intake in 2007. Yellow-fleshed banana cultivars had been consumed by 10 individuals in 2005 and 16 individuals in 2007 by FFQ (Table 7). Consumption frequency of yellow-fleshed giant swamp taro cultivars was not included as a separate category in the FFQ.

The lack of change in yellow-fleshed banana consumption may be explained by various reasons. Firstly, while yellow-fleshed bananas are often preferred over white-fleshed bananas, they are rarer and harder to find (Englberger 2008a). Secondly, while yellow-fleshed banana varieties had been planted in the past two years (as determined by evaluation questionnaire), the cultivation period is frequently longer than two years and depends on the type of cultivar, the size of the planting material and the environmental and growing conditions (Englberger 2008b). Thirdly, it is also likely that not all of the yellow-fleshed planting materials distributed during the intervention survived. The community-based monitoring of distributed crops during the intervention period revealed that the plants had not always been properly cared for (Englberger 2008b). Yellow-fleshed varieties also take more skill and are more difficult to grow than white-fleshed varieties (Englberger 2008c). Overall it appears that the increase in frequency of banana consumption was a result of women taking better care of and harvesting more of what they already had, which were mostly white-fleshed varieties (Englberger 2008b).

Imported rice consumption decreased significantly in 2007 compared to 2005, both in frequency and average daily consumption quantity. Although rice remained the top contributor of energy and carbohydrate, decreased rice consumption likely explained the significant decreases seen in energy and carbohydrate intake. This change in rice consumption may have been affected indirectly by the intervention; rice was compared to local foods in intervention messages as the commonly consumed imported food without micronutrient or fiber content. If this was the case, it could reflect an important behaviour change of local starches replacing rice in meals. However,

changes resulting from external factors including rising rice prices cannot be ruled out. Since 2000, global rice reserves have decreased by half and for the last 25 years rice consumption has outpaced production (Bradsher 2008). Conditions of drought and plant disease in 2008 along with economic uncertainty has made countries that depend on rice imports, such as FSM, vulnerable to extreme price swings (Bradsher 2008). Yet, the dramatic changes have occurred after the 2007 survey; the yearly average volatility in rice on the Chicago Board of Trade actually decreased from 21.9 in 2005 to 17.4 in 2007 (Chicago Board of Trade 2008). Thus, it is unlikely that price fluctuations influenced the observed decrease in rice consumption.

Consumption frequency of local fish and meat did not change between 2005 and 2007; neither was there change in the local food contribution to daily protein intake. However, local food contribution to daily fat intake decreased significantly, which was likely contributed by the (non significant) decrease in average daily local fish consumption. The intervention predominantly focused on local plant foods, rather than local fish and meat. It is possible that by focusing on plant foods, the intervention indirectly affected the time and energy spent on local fish cultivation. It is also possible that this change in fish consumption reflected external fluctuations in accessibility and availability, some of which may relate to the Pacific export tuna industry and continued food dependence in FSM (Cassels 2006). Local factors of increasing fuel costs and diminishing fish resources on Pohnpei may have also contributed (Englberger 2008b; Englberger 2008c).

Weekly consumption of liver and egg increased significantly between 2005 and 2007, but these foods had not been the focus of intervention activities other than as part of nutrition education messages as good sources of retinol. Liver eaten in 2007 was predominantly from local fish including reef fish and tuna, but also from imported chicken. Total daily intake of retinol did not change and local food contribution to retinol actually decreased significantly. This may be due to the reduced local fish intake, mentioned above. In addition, liver and eggs were eaten infrequently and their long-term contribution to average retinol intake may not have been captured by two 24-hour recalls (Willet 1998).

Local vegetable consumption increased significantly in 2007 on a weekly basis by FFQ as well as on the two days captured by 24-hour recall. GLVs, as a group, contributed more to BCE, vitamin A and calcium intake in 2007 than in 2005. The significant increases in frequency of local vegetables and giant swamp taro consumption produced the significantly higher average daily BCE intake seen in 2007. In particular, the contribution of GLVs to BCE intake increased 10-fold

between 2005 and 2007. Homegrown vegetable production was directly encouraged by the home garden activities that included training workshops, creation of community demonstration plots, the distribution of planting materials, the creation of a community nursery to grow seedlings, planting competitions and cooking demonstrations that incorporated locally-grown vegetables into commonly eaten imported dishes. These intervention activities were a product of considerable collaboration and investment among the Mand Community, IFCP, the Natural Resource Conservation Service of USDA and EFNEP.

Local fruit consumption did not change significantly between survey years. Fruit planting materials for pineapple, soursop, guava and citrus were distributed during the intervention and general fruit consumption was promoted at each MCWG meeting. However, the time needed for these to grow to maturity and bear fruit is greater than the two-year period of this intervention. This may explain the lack of change in fruit consumption.

Weekly consumption of local snacks and drinks also increased significantly which may represent additional reliance on local foods outside of meal times. Weekly consumption frequency of sugar added to local food and sugar from imported products decreased significantly between 2005 and 2007; however, the consumption frequency of imported drinks containing sugar, including soft drinks increased significantly. Local snacks and drinks had been promoted and served at the MCWG meetings in place of donuts and soft drinks, which commonly accompany community meetings and gatherings. Additional messages specifically targeting soft drinks and sugar added to tea and coffee may be required.

Dietary diversity was a particularly valid measure in the study context given the large amount of biodiversity on the island of Pohnpei (Englberger et al. 2008a). Consumption of 14 different food groups, 72 different species and 166 different food items were examined as captured by FFQ. The focus among these different measures was on the diversity of local foods consumed, which had increased significantly for all FFQ-based diversity measures between 2005 and 2007. More cultivars of the promoted staple foods, breadfruit, giant swamp taro and banana, were consumed in 2007 compared to 2005 (Table 7). For example, the number of yellow-fleshed banana cultivars consumed increased from three in 2005 to seven in 2007 (by FFQ, Table 7). Cultivar and crop varieties of local foods, which are captured in the FVS, had been promoted by several posters distributed in Mand (Figure 2a,b) and had been the focus of community discussion and educational intervention activities. Cultivar variety was a key component emphasized by the intervention: the majority of banana planting materials distributed were yellow-fleshed, different flesh colours were used in cooking demonstrations and media messages promoting local starchy staples consistently mentioned the additional nutritional benefits of eating yellow-fleshed varieties.

The local FVS is likely the most strongly associated with nutrient adequacy as it captures the micronutrient-rich cultivar varieties of local starchy staples. However, if the imported FVS is included in a total dietary diversity score, products of low dietary quality (high in sugar, salt and/or fat; low in fibre and nutrients) may reduce the ability of the score to predict nutrient adequacy. Hence, a combined approach that includes all local food species and cultivars (local FVS) and all imported food species (imported species diversity score) may be appropriate for future measures of dietary diversity in the Pohnpeian and Micronesian context. For example, all imported items that are wheat-based would be included as one item. Murphy et al. found a positive association between four different measures of dietary diversity (6 food groups, 22 food subgroups, similar-nutrient food groupings and total food items) and nutrient adequacy (Murphy et al. 2006). However, extrapolation to this context is difficult as species and cultivars were not included in the diversity scores used by Murphy et al.

Methodological Considerations

Epidemiologic evidence from prospective studies in the U.S. found high dietary diversity (measured by both high quality foods and food groups) to be associated with greater longevity and reduced incidences of cardiovascular disease, DM2 and cancer (Frison et al. 2006; Kant et al. 1995; Kant et al. 2000). The current study found that a 7-day FFQ captured far more diversity than two, non-consecutive 24-hour recalls. Perhaps an additional day of recall would have provided results comparable to the FFQ, as another study of dietary diversity found a 7-day food frequency to be comparable to three, non-consecutive 24-hour recalls (Spigelski 2004).

While only the repeat 24-hour recalls provided quantitative dietary data that was used to estimate daily energy and nutrient intakes, both the recalls and the FFQ were used to examine changing patterns of consumption frequency and dietary diversity. In general, the two types of dietary records captured similar trends between 2005 and 2007. However, the FFQ captured more changes that were significant than the 24-hour recall, likely due to the longer dietary reference period (seven days versus two days). The FFQ listed pre-defined foods items whereas the recall was open-ended. However, partially validating the FFQ for its ability to measure total dietary intake

of food, there were very few food items that appeared on the recall that were not on the FFQ. In fact, different cultivars of breadfruit and giant swamp taro were captured by the FFQ but this information was not consistently recorded during the 24-hour recall interviews.

The 24-hour recalls of seven individuals (17.5% of the sample population) were excluded from quantitative analysis because their average energy intake from one or both surveys years was lower than expected given their estimated basal metabolic rate. This exclusion criteria has been used to measure the validity of energy intake in numerous other food intake studies (Gibson 2005; Olendzki et al. 2008). Underreporting of energy intake is a common problem of self-reported dietary assessments; it is also more prevalent than overreporting and occurs more often in obese subjects (Olendzki et al. 2008). Thus, it is recommended that future dietary studies in the Pacific review quantitative dietary data for valid energy intakes during data collection and repeat interviews as necessary. Also, consideration of the potential need for exclusion due to underreporting and lactation should be made when deciding on sample size during the planning phase.

Limitations

Dietary assessments have limitations in terms of the tools used, the data collection process and specificity of food composition data. Sources of error include nonresponse bias, respondent bias, interviewer bias, respondent memory lapses, incorrect estimation of portion size, supplement usage, coding errors and handling of mixed dishes (Gibson 2005). The majority of these relate to the quantitative use of the 24-hour recall to estimate average daily nutrient intake; however, respondent bias, interviewer bias and memory lapses also may have resulted in errors of food frequency intakes and dietary diversity scores.

Nonresponse bias does not appear to be of particular concern in this study. The loss-tofollow-up among dietary assessment participants was minimal and reflected customary changes in demographics; three households moved away from the community and one participant passed away and was not replaced. Respondents from five households were replaced with another woman in the household due to changes in household composition. Social desirability may have been a cause of possible respondent bias, particularly since the sample population was the same in both 2005 and 2007 surveys. Interviewer training, individual retraining during field work and switching interviewers for the repeat 24-hour recalls were carried out to reduce sources of interviewer bias.

Interviews repeated on different days and seasons are needed in order to minimize error due to intra-individual variability (Willet 1998; Gibson 2005). In this study, 24-hour recalls were administered on two, nonconsecutive days, which may not have been sufficient when estimating 'typical' daily intakes of certain vitamins and minerals. However, this concern was nominal as assessment of nutritional adequacy was not an objective of this study. Baseline and follow-up dietary data were recorded during a single season. This was appropriate for this comparison study between two, similar time points, but the dietary information attained should not be extrapolated to the non-breadfruit season. Ultimately, the quality of data depends on the participants' willingness and ability to communicate information; this was aided by the existing familiarity between many of the interviewers and participants.

Probing questions were used in the 24-hour recall and FFQ to assist in participants' ability to recall foods. It has been reported that it is more difficult to estimate large portion sizes than small portions sizes irrespective of body weight (Gibson 2005). Given the cultural and social setting of Pohnpei where large quantities of starchy stables are consumed, this may have contributed to the degree of underreporting found in this study. Three-dimensional measurement aids of household measures and real food samples were available during the interviews to assist in portion size estimation. Bias caused by underreporting, the probability of which has been found to increase with BMI (Gibson 2005), was reduced by excluding several recall data sets.

24-hour Recall-specific Considerations

Coding errors were limited by applying rules for consistent food entry between 2005 and 2007. For example, local tuna was entered into FoodWorks as either 'tuna, composite, flesh, raw' if it was eaten raw (sashimi) or as 'tuna, composite, flesh, baked' if it was eaten cooked. If the tuna was fried, the interviewer was trained to enter the amount of oil used to fry on a separate line of the 24-hour recall form. If the interviewer did not follow this, a standard amount of oil was applied (1 tbs vegetable oil per 100 g tuna). Mixed dishes in the 24-hour recall were handled by separating the ingredients and entering each ingredient on a separate line. This minimized error and also allowed for accurate grouping of foods into food groups for diversity scores.

Limitations on the data entry by using the FAO Pacific Islands' food composition database (Dignan et al. 2004) included the lack of cultivar entries for banana, giant swamp taro, and breadfruit; missing entries for two species of GLVs: chaya (*Cnidoscolus chayamansa*) and chilli leaves (*Capsicum annuum*); and a lack of species-specific entries for local spinach (*Alternanthera sissoo* and *Gynura crepioides*). However, the carotenoid and mineral contents of many Micronesian cultivar varieties of banana, giant swamp taro and breadfruit are known due to extensive study and analysis by Dr. Englberger and IFCP (Englberger et al. 2003b; Englberger et al. 2003c; Englberger et al. 2003d). Because names of specific banana cultivars were known by participants and recorded, the published nutrient composition data for two yellow-fleshed bananas were added to the composition database and included in the analysis to more accurately estimate average BCE, calcium and iron intakes. Unfortunately, names of giant swamp taro and breadfruit cultivars consumed during the recall period were not consistently obtained during dietary interviews, largely due to participants not knowing which cultivars they consumed. Thus, the published cultivar-specific composition data could not be used in the nutrient analysis of this study and the FAO database values were used instead (27 μg BCE/100 g edible portion of giant swamp taro and 30 μg BCE/100 g edible portion of breadfruit).

However, for the purpose of discussion, if half of the total quantity of giant swamp taro consumed had been yellow-fleshed and the median value of BCE content from published Pohnpeian cultivar varieties was applied to this portion (1400 μ g/100 g edible portion, (Englberger et al. 2003b)), the giant swamp taro contribution to BCE would have increased 26-fold (from 648 μ g to 17,128 μ g in 2007). In this case, giant swamp taro would have been the highest contributor to BCE in both 2005 and 2007. Similarly, if half of the breadfruit quantity consumed had been yellow-fleshed with a BCE content of 410 μ g/100 g edible portion (the median of published Pohnpeian varieties (Englberger et al. 2003b)), then contribution of breadfruit to BCE intake would have increased 7-fold (from 692 μ g to 5,079 μ g in 2007). Based on these changes, breadfruit would have been the second highest contributor to BCE after banana in 2005 and GLVs in 2007.

Thus, by not including the specific BCE content of giant swamp taro and breadfruit cultivars consumed in nutrient intake analysis, the calculated average daily BCE intake for both years was likely underestimated. Nevertheless, even without including this important contribution of yellow-fleshed cultivars of giant swamp taro and breadfruit, there were significant increases in average daily BCE intake from local food and also from total food consumed from 2005 to 2007, as noted in Table 2. If yellow-fleshed varieties had been recorded and specifically included in the analysis, a more dramatic increase in intake may have been found.

Outcome Evaluation - Health Status Assessment

Over a two-year period from 2005 to 2007, the intervention in the Mand community of Pohnpei promoted traditional food as a healthier alternative to imported food. The main intervention message was that health conditions of obesity, heart disease, DM2, cancer, VAD and anemia can be prevented and controlled by a healthy local diet, which is high in fibre, vitamins and carotenoids and low in fat. A healthy diet can reverse the deterioration in glucose tolerance commonly seen in diets high in fat and low in carbohydrate and fibre (WHO 1999b). Worldwide, it is estimated that if no one had a BMI greater than 25, then 64% of DM2 cases in men and 74% of DM2 cases in women could theoretically have been prevented (WHO 1999b).

Indeed, examination of local food contribution to nutrient intake revealed that local food was low in fat and a good source of vitamin C and BCE. Dietary fibre and healthy unsaturated fat was not measured but local food was likely a top contributor of these beneficial food components because local foods are nominally processed, fish is a good source of omega 3 fatty acids, and coconut is a good source of medium-chain fatty acids (Whitney and Rolfes 2002). However, there was no significant change in health status of the Mand community immediately following the two-year intervention. Obesity and DM2 rates remained high and hypertension was still of moderate concern. The prevalence of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) was 57% and the estimated average WC remained at 98 cm. The situation was comparable to that of a neighboring island in FSM, Kosrae, where 59% of the entire adult population (>20 years) in 1994 was obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) and the average WC was 91 cm (Shmulewitz et al. 2001).

As discussed previously, the association of BMI and obesity-related morbidity and mortality can vary across populations due to differences in body composition and proportion (WHO 1999b). For example, some Pacific populations have a lower percentage of body fat than Caucasian populations at a given BMI (WHO 1999b; Barba et al. 2004). Despite these considerations, obesity is still a significant problem in Mand; ten percent of the sample population was very obese (BMI \geq 40 kg/m²). Also, the assessment of obesity in this study is robust using both BMI and WC as measures of health risk..

The incidence and prevalence of DM2 is also a concern in the population. DM2 prevalence remained at approximately 36%. The prevalence in Mand was higher than in Kosrae where DM2 was found in 12% of the adult population, using similar diagnosis criteria (Shmulewitz et al. 2001). Hypertension (borderline and definite cases) prevalence was slightly lower in Mand at 12% in 2007

compared to Kosrae where the prevalence was 17%, using the same cutoff values (Shmulewitz et al. 2001).

Gender and age were found to be significant predictors of health status in this study. BMI was significantly higher in women than men and both FPG and BP increased significantly with age. Thus, intervention activities that targeted women were appropriate. While it appears important to target the older generation with information on DM2 and hypertension, targeting younger age groups, particularly youth, was also of particular importance to prevent the onset of such adverse health conditions.

While promotion of the traditional diet in Pohnpei is seen as an appropriate corrective and preventive public health action to address increasing prevalence of chronic disease, it may be too early to measure such long-term health outcomes of this food-based intervention. In addition, the intervention may also need to continue for more than two years in order to have sustained impact on dietary behaviour and health. Thus, it is recommended that intervention activities continue and follow-up health assessments take place at five year intervals to better document changes in health status.

According to a WHO report, the main focus of interventions and public health messages on obesity should be on obesity prevention and weight control as well as normalizing weight-related disorders and metabolic risk factors associated with excess weight, rather than weight loss (WHO 1995). "Weight gain in adult life may be associated with increased morbidity and mortality independently of the original degree of overweight" (p.312 WHO 1995). Thus, the indication of weight maintenance over a two year period in this study may in fact be indicative of a positive effect of the intervention. However, this finding cannot be confirmed at present without data from a comparison control group.

Process Evaluation – Intervention Assessment

The two-year intervention has promoted local food production and consumption using foodbased strategies of education, social marketing, training and agriculture. The methods used to accomplish these strategies (targeting, promoting, collaborating and communicating) appear to have been far-reaching and comprehensive in the Mand community intervention as indicated by the high levels of awareness and exposure. The intervention also extended beyond the community and there were numerous other island-wide activities that affected Mand residents that were not included in the intervention assessment, such as the creation of carotenoid-rich banana stamps, distribution of 'Go Local' T-shirts, and involvement in annual World Food Day activities (Englberger et al. 2008b).

The exposure level to the intervention activities was high ranging from 57-93%. As a process indicator, exposure ratings have been associated with message recall and intervention success in other studies. A nutrition education intervention in six health centres in Peru found that exposure to key activities, which ranged from 9.2% to 19.5% after the first year of the intervention, was significantly influential in explaining the extent of message recall (Robert et al. 2006). Significant improvements in energy, iron, and zinc intakes and decreased stunting were found in the experimental areas compared to control areas after the two years of the intervention (Penny et al. 2005). Similarly, in a church-based nutrition intervention in North Carolina, exposure to activities, which ranged from 61-93%, was associated with greater fruit and vegetable intake at two-years (Campbell et al. 2000).

Of the main intervention activities described here for Mand, two were targeted to youth, one was targeted to breastfeeding mothers, another was targeted to all women and six were open to the entire community. Local food promotion occurred by cooking demonstration, expansion of agroforestry crops and crop varieties, home garden development, nutrition education and social marketing. These numerous venues for promotion likely contributed to improved education about and self-efficacy of producing and preparing local foods. Smokeless charcoal ovens distributed to 34 households in the community may have also made local food preparation more feasible. Lateral promotion of physical activity occurred in group settings through education, exercise, agriculture and competition. Incorporation of physical activity was an appropriate compliment to healthy food promotion as both are necessary for health improvement.

Partnership and collaboration were integral parts of the intervention and likely contributed to the success of the intervention. IFCP worked regularly with community leaders and residents during weekly meetings of the MCWG. The Youth School Education project was conducted jointly with the Conservation Society of Pohnpei in the Mand Elementary School for two school years. The Youth Drama club was led by an instructor from the College of Micronesia – FSM during his spare time. Upon request of IFCP, the College of Micronesia-FSM Cooperative Extension Service implemented the 10-day EFNEP training in Mand. Partnership with the Natural Resource

Conservation Service made the construction of demonstration home gardens and related workshops possible.

Communication strategies and channels were numerous. Media presence was strong; regular radio broadcasts and newspaper articles highlighting the intervention activities were heard and seen by 76% of the sample population. Attractive posters with pictures and nutritional content of rare yellow-fleshed banana cultivars and other traditional foods also had high visibility among community members. Additional social marketing strategies reinforced the intervention messages and encouraged participation. Fourteen women from Mand had been photographed with the traditional dishes they prepared for community meetings. These photographs and recipes were published in the local newspaper, included in the Mand Community Recipe Book and distributed in the community. The Youth Drama club shared their creative skits about local food at the community Easter celebrations.

In essence, the message of the importance of traditional food for health was widespread and delivered numerous times. It reached community members directly through activities and materials and indirectly through family and friends. Salient themes appearing in the questionnaire responses on the intervention included the connection between eating local food and health, the practice of mixing local homegrown vegetables with meals of rice and instant noodles, the ability of regular physical activity to improve health and the transfer of information from youth to adults. While not measured, the intervention likely reinforced both self- and community-efficacy by encouraging individuals and the community as a whole to be proactive about their health. Evidence of thorough intervention implementation was that all of the intervention activities proposed in 2005 during the documentation stage by the community working group had been carried out during the intervention (Englberger et al. 2008a).

Conclusion

Faced with the pandemic of obesity and obesity-related conditions that coexist with malnutrition, it has been recommended that food and nutrition programs adopt food-based approaches that improve diet quality, employ agricultural biodiversity (recognizing its benefits for food security and health), revitalize and mobilize the indigenous and traditional food systems, improve the well-being of rural and urban populations and reintroduce indigenous staple and non-staple foods known to be rich in micronutrients and non-nutrient phytochemicals (Frison et al. 2006). The intervention approach by IFCP in Mand met this recommendation; the production and consumption of local foods known to be micronutrient and carotenoid-rich were promoted. The approach used was also multidimensional; local food promotion was incorporated with concepts of local culture, environmental sustainability and long-term food security.

Based on the evaluation results, the intervention may have successfully increased local food consumption in the community. The frequency and variety of traditional food consumption increased over the intervention period and these changes contributed to improved micronutrient intake. Health status remained unchanged, but could improve in the future if the healthy dietary patterns documented in 2007 are sustained and augmented. Increased consumption and reliance on local food means that people are more likely to meet the recommended intakes for micronutrients, particularly vitamin A, vitamin C and calcium, and are more likely to be eating a diverse diet. For health outcomes, micronutrients and phytochemicals in fruits and vegetables may correct deficiencies and prevent disease in the long-term. The low-fat and high-fibre properties of traditional Pohnpeian foods may also contribute to the correction of metabolic and hypertensive disorders if consumed in sufficient quantities and for sufficient duration. In addition to the positive health effects of reliance on the traditional diet, increased self-reliance on Pohnpei also provides for improved food security. This is particularly relevant in the current context of increasing costs of rice and fuel on the world market.

The nutrition education, health awareness, cooking training and agriculture workshops appear to be valid in that they were targeted, well-received and covered the spectrum of possible food-based strategies. In particular, the youth education, cooking demonstrations and agricultural production appear to have been particularly successful in their reach, acceptability, message penetration and influence. The rich soil and tropical climate on Pohnpei make home gardens and agroforestry plots feasible and sustainable. In addition, the Breastfeeding Support Group appears

to hold particular value to the community in terms of the long-term health and social engagement of mothers, babies and family.

This evaluation of process, progress and outcome can provide insights to affect future efforts in Pohnpei, other islands in FSM and internationally. It is recommended that the intervention continue to work with community members and leaders, youth and women to promote local food consumption and production. Methods of practical agricultural and food preparation training should be encouraged in tandem with educational workshops and social marketing (Ruel 2003). The intervention should remain community-based with strong community involvement, but should adapt to local contexts as it expands. IFCP has already begun working to increase availability of micronutrient-foods alongside its community activities by developing commercial production of locally processed banana products and preservation techniques, such as solar drying, to maintain food storage and preservation. Promotion of physical activity and weight maintenance should continue to be integrated into the intervention activities.

Diet, health and implementation process were examined to provide evidence of the foodbased intervention implemented by IFCP in the community of Mand and change (or lack of change) in diet and health. While small in scale, the evaluation was able to demonstrate improved dietary quality and diversity over the two-year period. It is evident that this intervention has striven to meet the 1992 International Conference on Nutrition declaration to promote dietary diversity and use of indigenous and traditional foods to address food insecurity, malnutrition and disease. The economic and total welfare of the country depends on developing and promoting sustainable services, infrastructure, production and behaviour that will allow more self-sufficient means of providing for Micronesians. This Traditional Food for Health food-based intervention appears to be meeting this need. Both the intervention and evaluation approaches used here can be considered in other contexts around the world where micronutrient-rich traditional food is available but is not commonly consumed. It is hoped that the methodology, results, limitations and recommendations presented in this thesis will be used in planning and making follow-up observations on future foodbased initiatives. Figure 2 and Tables



Figure 2: Several intervention materials used in Pohnpei to promote local food

- a Banana poster: displaying carotenoid content of yellow-fleshed Pohnpeian bananas
- b Vitamin A poster: displaying carotenoid content of banana, giant swamp taro, breadfruit, and pandanus
- c Newspaper article on Mand Drama Club in Kaselehlie Press
- d Go Local billboard: posted in Mand community and two locations in Kolonia, Pohnpei
- e Example of two stamps developed by IFCP to promote local, micronutrient-rich bananas

by repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recall (26 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld) reported as average daily consumption Table 1: Top foods consumed by one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007

	2005			2007	
		average daily			average daily
		consumption			consumption
Source	Food Item	per indvl (g)	Source	Food Item	per indvl (g)
imported	rice	846.9	imported	rice	544.1*
local	banana, all	131.0	local	banana, all	170.2
local	(fresh) fish	127.8	imported	chicken	149.8
imported	chicken	111.0	local	coconut product	94.2
local	breadfruit	80.8	local	taro, giant swamp	92.3
imported	sugar products	71.8	local	breadfruit	88.8
local	coconut product	41.5	local	(fresh) fish	87.9
imported	(canned) fish	39.5	imported	sugar products	62.1
imported	instant noodles	35.6	imported	(canned) fish	52.9
local	taro, giant swamp	30.8	imported	instant noodles	29.6
local	local fruit	21.4	local	local fruit	22.7
imported	canned meat	20.1	imported	imported fruit	20.7
local	pork	14.4	imported	donut	20.1
imported	bread	14.2	imported	bread	18.1
imported	donut	13.4	local	pork	16.5
	tot food consilmed	471 3	duantity .	of local food consumed	618.3
duantity (of imported food consumed	1,201.2	guantity of	imported food consumed	951.3
damined					

* Significant decrease from 2005 (P=0.0002). Remaining food items were compared statistically but were not normally distributed and not statistically significant.

Explanation of food items

canned fish - canned mackerel, tuna and sardines

coconut products - cream, flesh, juice and germinating

fresh fish - all local fish (tuna, mackerel and reef fish)

local fruit - excluding banana; including pineapple, pawpaw, pandanus and malay apple

sugar products - granulated sugar added to food and drinks containing sugar (incl. soft drinks)

		20	05	20	07			Variance I	Parameter
		20	05	20				Estim	ates ²
		LS Mean ¹	% of energy	LS Mean ¹	% of energy	% change	P-value	Household	Residual
	Energy (KJ)	9,879.3		8,833.4		-10.6	0.04ª	0.01	0.04
	Carbohydrate (g)	354.6	59.8	303.7	56.5	-14.4	0.03	873.58	6,138.63
	Protein (g)	100.7	17.0	92.7	17.3	-8.0	0.39 ^a	0.00	0.12
	Fat (g)	61.3	23.3	62.6	26.2	2.0	0.82	0.53	389.80
6	Vitamin C (mg)	43.2		61.8		43.1	0.08ª	0.08	0.48
Iot	Vitamin A (µg)	176.5		193.2		9.4	0.59 ^a	0.05	0.36
• •	Retinol (µg)	176.0		148.1		-15.8	0.30	1,058.44	9,013.64
	Beta-carotene equivalents (uo)	226.6		475.7		109.9	0.02 ^a	0.00	1.25
	Calcium (mg)	246.0	1	326.4	1	32.7	0.16 ^a	0.01	0.50
	Iron (mg)	9.9		9.2	1	-7.0	0.39 ^a	0.01	0.09
			% of total ³		% of total ³				
	Energy (KJ)	2,286.2	23.2	2,127.6	24.3	-6.9	0.71 ^{be}	0.00	256.57
	Carbohydrate (g)	51.1	14.8	70.3	24.6	37.7	0.24 ^b	0.00	13.90
tion in the second seco	Protein (g)	31.9	33.9	20.1	23.5	-37.2	0.06 ^{ce}	0.18	0.72
ā	Fat (g)	18.6	33.3	11.3	20.1	-38.9	0.04 ⁶	0.10	2.40
br	Vitamin C (mg)	42.0	97.6	55.0	97.0	31.0	0.21 ^b	0.64	7.00
Ŭ	Vitamin A (µg)	92.3	52.8	80.4	46.1	-12.9	0.59 ^b	0.00	18.50
ö	Retinol (µg)	53.4	43.1	19.0	18.1	-64.4	0.02 ^b	0.00	17.98
ocal F	Beta-carotene equivalents (µq)	202.1	68.6	511.6	79.7	153.2	0.02 ^b	0.00	146.95
ЦЦ	Calcium (mg)	89.9	40.5	137.9	47.5	53.5	0.25 ^{de}	0.00	1.05
	Iron (mg)	3.4	35.7	3.1	36.4	-9.2	0.67 ^{ce}	0.00	0.16
	Energy (KJ)	7,587.7	76.8	6,624.5	75.7	-12.7	0.09	220,635.00	4,002,796.00
<u>i</u>	Carbohydrate (g)	294.5	85.2	216.1	75.4	-26.6	0.0007	1,122.54	5,388.80
pri	Protein (g)	62.2	66.1	65.2	76.5	4.8	0.68 ^ª	0.00	0.16
E	Fat (g)	37.1	66.7	45.0	79.9	21.2	0.10 ^a	0.00	0.17
ပိ	Vitamin C (mg)	1.0	2.4	1.7	3.0	67.1	0.54 ^{de}	0.01	0.64
ğ	Vitamin A (µg)	82.3	47.2	94.1	53.9	14.4	0.55 ^a	0.03	0.63
ĽЦ	Retinol (µg)	70.6	56.9	85.8	81.9	21.6	0.42 ^a	0.00	0.75
ported	Beta-carotene equivalents (µg)	92.3	31.4	130.0	20.3	40.8	0.64 ^e	0.00	81,776.00
Ē	Calcium (mg)	131.9	59.5	152.2	52.5	15.4	0.41 ^a	0.18	0.40
ľ	Iron (mg)	6.2	64.3	5.4	63.6	-11.8	0.16 ^a	0.00	0.10
Lea	st square mean estimate	(Standard errors	(SE) of least sq	uare mean esti	mates cannot be	e obtained for tra	ansformed varia	bles. Hence for c	onsistency, SE are

Table 2: Average daily energy and nutrient intake in one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007 by repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recall (26 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld)

not presented.)

² Variance estimates are from Proc Mixed. Estimate at zero indicates that there is no variation for this parameter. Eg. There was no variance among households for total protein intake

³ Because total, local, and imported intakes were analyzed separately, the LS Mean for local and LS Mean for imported do not exactly equal the LS Mean for total. Hence, for comparison, % of total was calculated by the sum of the LS Means for local and imported.

*log transformation

^b squareroot transformation

^c cuberoot transformation

^d fourthroot transformation

* unable to find power transformation producing normality; the transformation used was closest to normality

Bold denotes significant difference



Table 3: Top foods contributing to energy and nutrient intake in one Pohnpeian community (total intakes and percent contribution from repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recall, 26 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld)

			Top Contribu	tors to Energy	V					
··	2005			2007						
			%			1	%			
Source	Food Item	Energy (KJ)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	Energy (KJ)	Contribution			
imported	rice	113,381	44.4	imported	rice	72,842	30.4			
imported	(frozen) chicken	29,585	11.6	imported	(frozen) chicken	39,513	16.5			
local	(fresh) fish	22,246	8.7	local	banana, all	20,458	8.6			
local	banana, all	14,183	5.6	local	(fresh) fish	13,458	5.6			
imported	sugar products	10,312	4.0	imported	(canned) fish	12,449	5.2			
imported	(canned) fish	9,133	3.6	imported	sugar products	12,238	5.1			
local	breadfruit	6,573	2.6	local	coconut product	8,234	3.4			
local	coconut product	6,248	2.4	imported	donut	8,091	3.4			
imported	donut	5,386	2.1	local	taro, giant swamp	7,239	3.0			
local	pork (meat)	5,311	2.1	local	breadfruit	7,226	3.0			
imported	canned meat	4,987	2.0	imported	oil/margarine	6,829	2.9			
imported	instant noodles	3,838	1.5	local	pork (meat)	6,090	2.5			
imported	pancake (eggless)	4,325	1.7	imported	bread	4,765	2.0			
imported	bread	3,746	1.5	imported	pancake (eggless)	4,601	1.9			
imported	oil/margarine	3,481	1.4	imported	instant noodles	3,194	1.3			

		To	p Contributor	s to Carbohyd	rate						
	2005				2007						
	<u></u> Т		%				%				
Source	Food Item	CHO (g)	Contribution	Source	Food item	CHO (g)	Contribution				
imported	rice	6,166	67.7	imported	rice	3,961	50.9				
local	banana, all	880	9.7	local	banana, all	1,159	14.9				
imported	sugar products	625	6.9	imported	sugar products	724	9.3				
local	breadfruit	302	3.3	local	taro, giant swamp	390	5.0				
imported	pancake (eggless)	223	2.4	local	breadfruit	332	4.3				
imported	bread	174	1.9	imported	pancake (eggless)	237	3.0				
imported	donut	139	1.5	imported	bread	222	2.9				
local	taro, giant swamp	130	1.4	imported	donut	208	2.7				
imported	instant noodles	125	1.4	local	coconut product	118	1.5				
imported	ship biscuit	62	0.7	imported	instant noodles	104	1.3				
local	local fruit	57	0.6	local	taro, dryland	66	0.8				
local	yam, composite, boiled	55	0.6	imported	imported fruit	55	0.7				
local	coconut product	54	0.6	local	local fruit	42	0.5				
local	taro, dryland	22	0.2	local	sugar cane juice	41	0.5				
imported	flour	19	0.2	imported	ship biscuit	28	0.4				

Explanation of food items	
canned fish - canned mackerel, tuna and sardines	local fruit - excluding banana; including pineapple, pawpaw, pandanus and malay apple
coconut products - cream, flesh, juice and germinating	local vegetable, not GLV - includes cucumber, tomato, sweet potato and pumpkin
dairy - milk, cheese and ice cream	oil/margarine - includes butter (consumed infrequently)
fresh fish - all local fish (tuna, mackerel and reef fish)	other beef products - excluding canned meats; including hamburger and hot dog
GLV - green leafy vegetables	peanut product - whole peanuts and peanut butter
imported fruit - apple, orange, canned pineapple and juice	sugar products - granulated sugar added to food and drinks containing sugar (incl. soft drinks)



Table 3: Continued

ł

			Top Contribu	tors to Protei	n						
	2005				2007						
		1	%				%				
Source	Food Item	Protein (g)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	Protein (g)	Contribution				
local	(fresh) fish	811	29.5	imported	(frozen) chicken	1,016	39.0				
imported	(frozen) chicken	742	27.0	local	(fresh) fish	550	21.1				
imported	rice	506	18.4	imported	rice	325	12.5				
imported	(canned) fish	197	7.2	imported	(canned) fish	264	10.2				
imported	canned meat	105	3.8	local	pork (meat)	108	4.2				
local	pork (meat)	95	3.4	local	banana, all	49	1.9				
local	banana, all	36	1.3	imported	bread	39	1.5				
imported	bread	30	1.1	imported	donut	31	1.2				
local	breadfruit	27	1.0	local	breadfruit	30	1.2				
imported	other beef products	27	1.0	imported	pancake (eggless)	28	1.1				
imported	pancake (eggless)	26	0.9	local	coconut product	26	1.0				
imported	egg	25	0.9	imported	instant noodles	20	0.8				
imported	instant noodles	24	0.9	imported	egg	15	0.6				
imported	donut	21	0.8	imported	turkey tail	13	0.5				
local	coconut product	20	0.7	imported	canned meat	12	0.4				

			Top Contrib	outors to Fat			
	2005			1	2007		
			%				%
Source	Food Item	Fat (g)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	Fat (g)	Contribution
imported	(frozen) chicken	459	29.7	imported	(frozen) chicken	601	34.8
local	(fresh) fish	224	14.5	imported	(canned) fish	215	12.4
imported	(canned) fish	156	10.1	imported	oil/margarine	184	10.7
local	coconut product	134	8.7	local	coconut product	155	9.0
local	pork (meat)	100	6.5	local	pork (meat)	115	6.6
imported	oil/margarine	94	6.1	imported	donut	108	6.2
imported	canned meat	85	5.5	local	(fresh) fish	107	6.2
imported	donut	72	4.6	imported	instant noodles	29	1.7
imported	rice	44	2.9	imported	canned meat	29	1.7
imported	instant noodles	35	2.3	imported	rice	28	1.6
imported	other beef products	29	1.9	local	pork fat	25	1.4
imported	peanut product	22	1.4	local	breadfruit	21	1.2
imported	egg	21	1.4	imported	other beef products	18	1.0
local	breadfruit	19	1.2	imported	peanut product	18	1.0
imported	dairy	10	0.6	imported	egg	13	0.7

		•	Top Contribut	or	s to Vitamin	С		
	2005		•			2007		
		Vitamin C	%				Vitamin C	%
Source	Food Item	(mg)	Contribution		Source	Food Item	(mg)	Contribution
local	breadfruit	462	32.8		local	banana, all	565	29.1
local	banana, all	430	30.5		local	breadfruit	508	26.1
local	local fruit	183	13.0		imported	imported fruit	225	11.6
imported	imported vegetable	67	4.8		local	taro, giant swamp	187	9.6
local	taro, giant swamp	63	4.5		locat	local fruit	155	8.0
local	yam, composite, boiled	52	3.7		imported	imported vegetable	81	4.1
imported	imported fruit	33	2.4		local	green leafy vegetable	68	3.5
local	(fresh) fish	28	2.0	1	local	coconut product	53	2.7
locai	coconut product	27	1.9	1	local	vegetable, not GLV	42	2.1
imported	other beef products	22	1.5		local	(fresh) fish	22	1.2
local	green leafy vegetable	9	0.6	1	local	taro, dryland	15	0.8
local	vegetable, not GLV	8	0.6		imported	(canned) fish	10	0.5
imported	(canned) fish	8	0.6		imported	other beef products	10	0.5
imported	sugar products	7	0.5		imported	dairy	1	0.1
local	taro, dryland	5	0.4	1	imported	instant noodles	1	0.0

Table 3: Continued

đ

			Top Contribut	ors	s to Vitamin	Α		•			
	2005		-	Т	2007						
		Vitamin A	%				Vitamin A	%			
Source	Food Item	(µg)	Contribution		Source	Food Item	(µg)	Contribution			
local	(fresh) fish	1,803	32.5		imported	(canned) fish	1,622	27.9			
imported	(canned) fish	1,235	22.3		imported	(frozen) chicken	948	16.3			
imported	(frozen) chicken	775	14.0		local	green leafy vegetable	930	16.0			
local	banana, all	742	13.4		local	(fresh) fish	743	12.8			
imported	egg	286	5.1	Ιſ	local	banana, all	412	7.1			
imported	dairy	124	2.2	Ιſ	imported	oil/margarine	323	5.6			
local	green leafy vegetable	91	1.6		local	reef fish	290	5.0			
imported	imported vegetable	91	1.6	ΙΓ	imported	egg	171	2.9			
imported	oil/margarine	85	1.5		local	vegetable, not GLV	171	2.9			
imported	canned meat	83	1.5		imported	dairy	114	2.0			
local	breadfruit	53	0.9	[imported	imported vegetable	111	1.9			
local	local fruit	33	0.6		local	breadfruit	58	1.0			
local	vegetable, not GLV	24	0.4		local	taro, giant swamp	54	0.9			
local	yam, composite, boiled	23	0.4	ΙC	imported	imported fruit	39	0.7			
local	pork (meat)	23	0.4		local	local fruit	31	0.5			

			;							
		Fop Contrib	utors to Beta-	carotene equivalents (BCE)						
	2005			2007						
			%		1		%			
Source	Food Item	BCE (µg)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	BCE (µg)_	Contribution			
local	banana, all	5,134	51.3	local	green leafy vegetable	11,161	55.7			
local	green leafy vegetable	1,097	11.0	local	banana, all	3,058	15.3			
imported	imported vegetable	1,061	10.6	local	vegetable, not GLV	2,008	10.0			
local	breadfruit	630	6.3	imported	imported vegetable	1,330	6.6			
local	vegetable, not GLV	289	2.9	local	breadfruit	693	3.5			
local	local fruit	272	2.7	local	taro, giant swamp	648	3.2			
local	yam, composite, boiled	270	2.7	imported	imported fruit	469	2.3			
imported	canned meat	268	2.7	local	local fruit	274	1.4			
local	taro, giant swamp	216	2.2	imported	oil/margarine	181	0.9			
imported	sugar products	140	1.4	local	taro, dryland	112	0.6			
imported	imported fruit	83	0.8	imported	dairy	67	0.3			
imported	dairy	82	0.8	imported	other beef products	26	0.1			
imported	oil/margarine	48	0.5	imported	sugar products	5	0.0			
imported	other beef products	43	0.4	imported	peanut product	1	0.0			
local	taro, dryland	38	0.4	imported	(canned) fish	0	0.0			

			Top Contribu	ito	rs to Retino						
	2005				2007						
			%					%			
Source	Food Item	Retinol (µg)	Contribution		Source	Food Item	Retinol (µg)	Contribution			
local	(fresh) fish	1,803	40.9		imported	(canned) fish	1,622	40.8			
imported	(canned) fish	1,235	28.0		imported	(frozen) chicken	948	23.9			
imported	(frozen) chicken	775	17.6		local	(fresh) fish	743	18.7			
imported	egg	286	6.5		imported	oil/margarine	308	7.8			
imported	dairy	117	2.6		imported	egg	171	4.3			
imported	oil/margarine	81	1.8		imported	dairy	108	2.7			
imported	canned meat	60	1.4		local	pork (meat)	26	0.6			
local	pork (meat)	23	0.5		imported	sugar products	24	0.6			
local	crab	19	0.4	1	imported	canned meat	15	0.4			
imported	other beef products	15	0.3	1	imported	other beef products	7	0.2			
local	pork fat	0	0.0		local	pork fat	2	0.1			

Table 3: Continued

			Top Contribut	tors to Calcium						
	2005			2007						
		Calcium	%				%			
Source	Food Item	(mg)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	Calcium (mg)	Contribution			
imported	(canned) fish	2,205	28.6	local	taro, giant swamp	3,961	32.9			
locat	taro, giant swamp	1,320	17.1	imported	(canned) fish	2,934	24.4			
imported	rice	881	11.4	local	coconut product	634	5.3			
local	(fresh) fish	804	10.4	imported	(frozen) chicken	623	5.2			
imported	(frozen) chicken	430	5.6	local	(fresh) fish	589	4.9			
local	banana, all	318	4.1	imported	rice	566	4.7			
local	breadfruit	273	3.5	local	green leafy vegetable	521	4.3			
local	coconut product	252	3.3	local	banana, all	452	3.8			
imported	donut	212	2.7	imported	donut	318	2.6			
imported	dairy	132	1.7	local	breadfruit	300	2.5			
local	local fruit	126	1.6	imported	dairy	278	2.3			
imported	bread	118	1.5	imported	bread	150	1.3			
imported	egg	83	1.1	local	local fruit	114	0.9			
imported	instant noodles	71	0.9	local	taro, dryland	100	0.8			
imported	canned meat	68	0.9	imported	sugar products	69	0.6			

· ·			Top Contrib	utors to Iron			
	2005				2007		
			%				%
Source	Food item	Iron (mg)	Contribution	Source	Food Item	Iron (mg)	Contribution
imported	rice	66	24.0	imported	(frozen) chicken	44	17.9
local	(fresh) fish	59	21.6	imported	rice	42	17.2
imported	(frozen) chicken	31	11.1	local	banana, all	32	12.9
local	banana, all	23	8.3	imported	(canned) fish	27	10.9
imported	(canned) fish	20	7.3	local	(fresh) fish	22	8.8
imported	canned meat	17	6.1	local	taro, giant swamp	13	5.4
local	coconut product	8	3.0	local	coconut product	10	4.2
imported	instant noodles	7	2.7	imported	instant noodles	6	2.5
local	pork (meat)	5	1.8	local	pork (meat)	6	2.3
local	taro, giant swamp	4	1.6	imported	donut	5	2.1
local	breadfruit	4	1.5	imported	bread	5	2.1
imported	bread	4	1.5	local	green leafy vegetable	5	2.1
imported	donut	3	1.3	local	breadfruit	5	1.9
imported	egg	3	1.3	imported	pancake (eggless)	3	1.3
imported	pancake (eggless)	3	1.1	local	sugar cane juice	3	1.3

Table 4: Food consumption frequency in one Pohnpeian community by 7-day FFQ and repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recall (n= 80, 40 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld)

		Weel	dy Consum	otion		Two-d	ay Consum	ption
		(7-day	FFQ, 1 cour	nt/day)		(Repeat 24-	hr recall, 1	count/day)
	Food Item	LS Me	ans ^a	-		LS Me	ans ^a	Durahus
		2005	2007	P-value		2005	2007	P-value
	banana, all	2.6	3.9	0.0001		0.7	0.8	0.33
	banana, white-fleshed	2.9	2.9	0.86		0.7	0.8	0.41
	banana, yellow-fleshed	0.5	0.7	0.13		0.1	0.1	0.48
	breadfruit	4.0	3.8	0.41		0.7	0.7	0.87
	coconut fat	1.7	1.3	0.15		0.9	0.6	0.06
	drink, local	2.4	3.2	0.01		0.2	0.3	0.5
	fish, local	3.9	4.2	0.42		0.9	1.1	0.16
cal	fruit, local ^c	3.5	4.0	0.10		1.0	1.2	0.35
Ĕ	meat, local	1.5	1.1	0.06		0.3	0.3	0.67
	nut, local	0.2	0.6	0.01		b	b	b
	pandanus	0.0	0.0	1		b	b	b
	snack, local	0.3	0.7	0.01		b	b	b
	starch, all	4.7	4.8	0.78		1.4	1.5	0.72
	starch, other ^d	0.1	0.3	0.07		0.1	0.2	0.12
	taro, giant swamp	0.2	0.9	<0.0001		0.2	0.2	0.45
	vegetable, local	1.4	3.3	<0.0001		0.3	0.6	0.04
	dairy ^e	0.6	0.8	0.25		0.1	0.2	0.10
	drink, imported with							
	sugar ^f	2.0	3.6	<0.0001		1.0	1.2	0.16
	egg	1.1	1.6	0.03		0.1	0.1	0.47
	fish, imported	2.4	2.7	0.46		0.7	0.6	0.61
2	flour product	4.1	5.0	0.008		1.1	1.3	0.20
orte	fruit, imported	0.8	0.2	0.0004		0.0	0.1	0.27
Ĕ	meat, imported	1.7	2.6	0.003		1.1	0.9	0.21
	rice	6.8	6.1	<0.001		1.9	1.8	0.29
	snack, imported	0.3	0.4	0.4		0.0	0.1	0.34
	sugar (imported product							
	or added to local food) ⁹	3.2	1.9	0.0002		1.1	1.4	0.06
	turkey tail	0.2	0.2	0.65		b	b	b
	vegetable, imported	0.5	0.6	0.32		0.3	0.3	0.66
<u>a</u>	fat, imported/animal	2.1	2.4	0.46	1	0.6	0.9	0.08
2	fried food	2.1	2.3	0.45	1	n/a	n/a	n/a
and	fruit, all	3.0	4.5	<0.0001		1.1	1.3	0.27
a	liver	0.1	0.5	0.001		n/a	n/a	n/a
드	vegetable, all	1.5	3.4	<0.0001	Į.	0.5	0.8	0.09

Note: Food item categories defined as appear on 7-day FFQ (Appendix E). Refer to Appendix E for details not included in footnotes a - Least square mean estimates from Proc Glimmix with binomial distribution (standard errors (SE) of least square mean estimates cannot be obtained for transformed variables; hence for consistency, SE are not presented.)

b - Analysis did not converge

c - Includes ripe banana; excludes pandanus

d - Includes dryland taro, yam, cassava, sweet potato

e - Includes butter, margarine, cheese, milk

f - Includes soft drinks, koolaid and sweetened tea and coffee

g - Includes donuts and sugar added to local food and/or local drink

n/a - Food items not categorizable or did not appear in 24-hour recall

Bold denotes significant difference



	20	05	20	007	B voluo ^b	B-Value ⁶
Food Group Score	LS Mean ^a	Range	LS Mean ^a	Range	r-value	r-value
Total (n=14)	10.1	6 - 13	10.9	6 - 14	0.04	0.04
Local (n=6)	4.8	2 - 6	5.5	4 - 6	0.001	<0.0001 ^d
Imported (n=8)	5.3	2 - 7	5.4	2 - 8	0.74	0.74 ^d
Species Diversity Score						
Total (n=72)	12.4	7 - 18	18.1	9 - 29	<0.0001	<0.0001
Local (n=51)	12.3	3 - 11	17.3	5 - 23	<0.0001	<0.0001
Imported (n=21)	5.2	2 - 8	6.0	3 - 11	0.14	0.06
Food Variety Score						
Total (n=166)	21.3	11 - 31	32.5	14 - 66	<0.0001	<0.0001 ^d
Local (n=100)	11.8	4 - 19	19.5	8 - 43	<0.0001	<0.0001 ^d
Imported (n=66)	9.4	3 - 16	12.8	5 - 24	<0.0001	0.0003

Table 5a: Dietary diversity in one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007 by 7-day FFQ (40 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld)

Table 5b: Dietary diversity in one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007 by repeat, non-consecutive 24-hour recall (40 hslds/yr; 1 indvl/hsld)

	20	05	20	007	Dualuab	D Volue ⁶
Food Group Score	LS Mean ^a	Range	LS Mean ^a	Range	P-value	P-value
Total (n=14)	7.4	4 - 11	8.0	4 - 12	0.19	0.14
Local (n=6)	3.4	2 - 6	3.6	0 - 6	0.58	0.39
Imported (n=8)	4.0	2 - 7	4.4	2 - 7	0.21	0.13
Species Diversity Score						
Total (n=56) ^f	8.2	5 - 15	8.9	4 - 16	0.25	0.10
Local (n=40)	4.4	2 - 9	4.8	0 - 10	0.32	0.24
Imported (n=24)	4.2	2 - 9	4.3	2 - 9	0.76	0.72 ^d
Food Variety Score						
Total (n=119)	11.3	7 - 21	12.6	6 - 29	0.09	0.03
Local (n=56)	4.7	2 - 10	5.4	0 - 12	0.18	0.15
Imported (n=63)	e	3 - 17	e	3 - 15	e	0.30

a Least square means computed with Proc Glimmix (Standard errors (SE) of least square mean estimates cannot be obtained for transformed variables. Hence for consistency, SE are not presented.)

b Year effect tested with Proc GLIMMIX, binomial distribution

c Year effect tested with Proc MIXED with arcsine transformation

d Nonnormal distribution

e Analysis did not converge

f Due to overlap the total number of species is less than the sum of local and imported species

Bold denotes significant difference

Definitions:

Food Groups Score - the number of different food groups consumed by the individual over the reference period

Local Food Groups (6): starchy staples, meat and nuts (including fish), fruit, vegetable, fat and snacks

Imported Food Groups (8): starchy staples, meat and nuts (including fish), fruit, vegetable, fat, snacks, dairy and sweets Species Diversity Score - the number of unique individual species, excluding cultivars, consumed over the reference period

Food Variety Score - the number of all food items and sub-items, including cultivars, consumed over the reference period

Table 6: Imported food species consumed in one Pohnpeian community as captured by 24-hour recall and 7-day FFQ (40 hslds/year; 1 indvl/hsld)

			24-hour	recall	FF	Q
Food Group	Imported Food	Description		2007	2005	2007
Food Group	Imported Food	Description	2005	1 count/	1 count/	1 count/
-			1 count/ 2d	2d	7d	7d
starch	rice	white	39	39	40	38
starch	wheat	ramen, bread, flour	30	34	35	40
meat	chicken	meat, egg	27	30	20	34
meat	beef products	canned meat, hamburger	13	6	23	19
meat	turkey	turkey tail	0	2	5	7
fish	mackerel	canned	12	13	22	28
fish	sardines	canned	0	1	1	5
fish	tuna	canned	13	9	18	21
nuts	peanut	whole, butter	3	4	0	3
dairy	dairy product	milk, ice cream, cheese	3	3	10	16
vegetable	brocolli		2	1	n/a	n/a
vegetable	cabbage	european	3	2	2	3
vegetable	carrot		3	2	1	6
vegetable	chili		1	0	n/a	n/a
vegetable	corn		4	0	0	1
vegetable	cucumber		0	0	3	0
vegetable	garlic		0	4	n/a	n/a
vegetable	lettuce		0	0	1	0
vegetable	onion		2	7	n/a	n/a
vegetable	potato	fresh, canned	3	2	0	3
vegetable	tomato	fresh, canned	1	2	1	2
fruit	apple		0	1	2	2
fruit	grapes		0	0	1	0
fruit	guava	juice	0	1	n/a	n/a
fruit	orange	whole, juice	2	1	1	0
fruit	pineapple	canned	0	2	8	3

Note: count is the number of households who consumed the food item at least once during the reference period

n/a - food did not appear on FFQ



Table 7: Local food species and cultivars consumed in one Pohnpeian community as captured by 7-day FFQ and 24-hour recall (40 hslds/year; 1 indv//hsld)

					c	24-hou	r recall
Eard Group	Common Name	Cultivar, description or	Scientific Name ^a	2005	2007	2005	2007
		(local name)		1 count/7d	1 count/ 7d	1 count/ 2d	1 count/ 2d
starchv stable	breadfruit	(mei)	Artocarpus altilis / mariannensis	38	33	22	22
		ripe unseeded		16	13	n/c	n/c
		green unseeded		15	22	n/c	n/c
		green seeded		0	2	n/c	n/c
		ripe seeded		0	в	n/c	n/c
starchy stable	taro. drvland	(sewa)	Colocasia esculenta	5	4	-	5
starchy stable	taro, giant swamp	(mweiang)	Cyrtosperma merkusii	6	17	9	6
	vellow-fleshed	Pwiliet (Pwilies)		2	5	n/c	n/c
	vellow-fleshed	Simihden		0	2	n/c	n/c
	vellow-fleshed	Sounpwong Weneu		0	1	n/c	n/c
	veliow-fleshed	Tekatek (Sekasek)		0	3	n/c	n/c
starchv stable	vam	(kehp)	Dioscorea spp.	0	9	-	0
starchv stanle	tapioca	cassava / tapioca	Manihot esculenta	0	2	0	~
and and film man		(dapionka)		6	¢	0	Ŧ
starchy staple	sweet potato	(pidende)	ipomea batatas		n 8		- 2
starchy staple	banana	(wis)	Musa spp.	33	36	23	24
	white-fleshed	Inahsio (Aroh wis)		2	5	0	2
	white-fleshed	Kaimana (Lokoei)		14	15	с	8
	white-fleshed	Utin Menihle		7	14	0	۰-
	white-fleshed	Pihsi/Fiji		8	13	-	5
	white-fleshed	<u>Utin Ruk/lihli</u> (Wis in Ruk)		8	13	19	11
	white-fleshed	<u>Utin Wai/ Cavendish</u> (Wis in Wai)		n/a	n/a	0	-
	vellow-fleshed	Akadahn (Lakadahn)		2	+	0	1
	vellow-fleshed	Karat (Wis Karat)		0	3	0	0
	veltow-fleshed	Daiwang		9	7	5	2
	vellow-fleshed	l Utimwas		0	2	0	0
	vellow-fleshed	Utin lap (Wis in lap)		0	1	0	0
	vellow-fleshed	Utin Kerenis		0	1	0	0
	yellow-fleshed	Utin Rais/Kudud /Sendobki)		2	~	0	-
nuts	chestnut	mworopw (mwerepw)	Inocarpus fagifer	ø	14	-	0

	en						
		Cultimar description or			q	Z4-hou	r recall
Food Group	Common Name		Scientific Name ^a	2005	2007	2005	2007
		(local name)		1 count/ 7d	1 count/ 7d	1 count/ 2d	1 count/ 2d
fish	tuna, skipjack and vellowfin	(lesapwil; pweipwei)	Katsuwonus pelamis; Thunnus albacares	13	20	17	19
fish	reef fish	fresh, dried	over 100 different fish	28	33	14	20
fish	mackerel, double- lined	(pweir)	Grammatorcynus bilineatus	n/a	n/a	9	2
other seafood	crab, mangrove	(elimoang)	Scylla sirreda	0	+	-	0
other seafood	lobster	(urehna)	Panilurus spp.	0	2	0	0
other seafood	shrimp	(likedepw)	Palaemon serrifer	1	3	0	0
meat	chicken	(malek)	Gallus domesticus	5	7	0	-
meat	doa	(kidi)	Canis familiaris	1	0	0	0
meat	duck	(deki)	Aytha fuligula	0	1	0	0
meat	pork	meat, fat (koaso;pwihk)	Sus scrofa	17	18	14	11
areen leafv vea	pumpkin	leaves, flesh (pwengkin)	Cucurbita moschata	0	1	0	2
green leafy veg	chili	leaves, pepper (sele)	Capsicum annuum	2	4	0	2
green leafy veg	kangkong	swamp cabbage (kangkong)	Ipornoea aquatica	4	9	0	7
green leafy veg	pele	(bele)	Hibiscus manihot	2	8	0	0
green leafy veg	spinach, Brazilian and Okinawa	(sipinis)	Alternanthera sissoo; Gynura crepidioides	0	13	З	9
green leafy veg	chinese cabbage	(cabbage)	Brassica chinensis	2	14	2	5
green leafy veg	chaya	(chaya)	Cnidoscolus chayamansa	3	15	-	з
green leafy veg	drumstick	moringay (drumstick)	Moringa oleifera	n/a	n/a	0	-
other veg	beans	(pihns)	Vigna sesquipedalis	0	4	0	0
other veg	bell pepper	(bell pepper)	Capsicum annuum	1	11	0	-
other veg	cucumber	(kiuhri)	Cucumis sativus	7	13	9	θ
other veg	eggplant	(nasupi; eggplant)	Solanum melongena	0	7	0	-
other veg	ginger	(sinter; sinser)	Zingiber officinale	n/a	n/a	-	0
other veg	leek	(nira; lihk)	Allium schoenoprasum	0	4	0	0
other veg	onion, green	(nengi)	Allium cepa	1	8	0	-
other vea	tomato	(domado)	Lycopersicon esculentum	0	4	0	2

Table 7: Continued

Table 7: Continu	led						
				L L	a	24-hou	r recall
Food Group	Common Name	Cultivar, description or	Scientific Name ^a	2005	2007	2005	2007
		(local name)		1 count/ 7d	1 count/7d	1 count/ 2d	1 count/ 2d
	rose apple, bell	(apel en wai; apeltik;	Europia iamhos	~	g	0	0
Iruit	apple	apolsikisik)	radeina janinoo		,	•	
fruit	citrus	(karer, karertik;karersik)	Citrus aurantifolia	0	13	9	11
fruit	guava	(kuahpa)	Psidium guajava	3	6	2	0
fruit	mango	(kehngid)	Mangifera indica	5	2	0	0
	malay / mountain	(anel en Pohnnei)	Svzvaium malaccensis	0	20	4	7
fruit	apple						
fruit	pandanus	(kipar)	Pandanus tectorius	2	2	2	0
		Swaipwepwe		0	1	n/c	n/c
		Aspwirek		1	0	n/c	n/c
fruit	papava / pawpaw	(memiap; keiniap)	Carica papaya	4	15	۰.	2
fruit	pineapple	(pweinaper; pweiniaper)	Ananas comosus	10	17	8	5
fruit	soursop	(sei)	Annona muricata	1	1	0	-
fruit	starfruit	(ansu)	Averrhoa carambola	n/a	n/a	- -	0
fruit	watermelon	(sihka; wedamelon)	Citrullus vulgaris	0	9	0	-
drinks/snices	cinnamon	(madeu)	Cinnamomum carolinense	3	8	1	0
drinks/snices	lemondrass	(lemon grass)	Cymbopogon citratus	0	11	1	2
drinks/spices	sugar cane	(sehu; seu)	Saccharum officinarum	8	14	0	~
		cream, oil, flesh, embryo	Coors nucifiers	45	36	30	24
coconut	coconut	(ering; pahr)	COCOS LIACIESI a	2	3	3	

Note: count is the number of households who consumed the food item at least once during the reference period

n/a - food did not appear on FFQ

n/c - not captured by 24-hour recall

a - species names taken from Table 3 in Englberger, L., A. Lorens, et al. (2008). Documentation of the Traditional Food System of Pohnpei. Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems: the Many Dimensions of Culture, Diversity and Environment for Nutrition and Health. in H. Kuhnlein, B. Erasmus and D. Spigelski. Rome, United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (in press) and spelling has been verified with one other publication (using The International Plant Names Index, FAO Databases, etc.)

Table 8: Results from health assessments in 2005 and 2007 in one Pohnpeian community and statistical analysis of effects of year, age and gender

						Statistical Analy	/sis	
	n = obs	nescripi	IVE STATISTIC:				4	
Outcome	(Indvis/yr)		2005	2007	Least Square Mean ^a	P-value ⁴	P-value	Variance estimates
DMI (Latm2)		Median	30.6	31	Ð		(multinomial distribution)	
Categories:		Range	18.3 - 50	20-51.9	year: 2005= 31.4; 2007=31.4	year (P=0.78)	year NS (P=0.78)	hsld 13.446
normal 18-24.9		health risk:	(%) u	u (%)	age: A=30.8, B=31.6, C=30.9,	ace (P=0.46)	age NS (P=0.44)	indvl 27.51
overweight 25-29.9	n = 136 /////	normal	9 (13)	13 (19)	D=30.9, E:32.9			residual 2.1
obese 30-39.9	(100/1)	overweight	21 (31)	16 (24)	gender: m=29.24, f=33.55	gender (P=0.005)	gender SS (P=0.006)	
verv obese ≥40		opese	31 (46)	32 (47)				
		very obese	7 (10)	7 (10)				
Waist Circumference (cm)		Median	86	100.5	Ø		(binomial distribution)	
Categories:	č	Range	71.2-131.4	71.2-129.5	year: 2005=98.12, 2007=98.21	year (P=0.94)		0 pisu
increased risk >88cm (f)	1 = 84	health risk:	u (%)	n (%)	age: A=90.11, B=99.95,	age (P=0.05)	σ	indvl 100.47
>102cm (m)	(44/)	lower risk	10 (24)	12 (29)	C=101.35, D= 99.58, E=99.84			residual 24.87
		increased risk	32 (76)	30 (71)	gender: m=95.43, f=100.9	gender (P=0.16)		
Fasting Plasma Glucose		Median	111	114	Jan Barra		(binomial distribution)	
(II)		Range	79-436	85-496	year: 2005=128.2, 2007=129.1	year (P=0.74)	year NS (P=0.78)	hsid 1.45E-6
Categories:	n = 216	diabetes risk:	n (%)	n (%)	age: A=110.49, B=110.2,	age (P<0.0001)	age SS (P=0.003)	indvl 2.0E-6
normal FPG < 126ma/dl		normal	71 (66)	67 (62)	C=142.0, D=140.8, E=151.4			resid 1.39E-6
abnormal EPG ≥ 126mo/dl		abnormal	37 (34)	41 (38)	gender: m=124.7, f=132.8	gender (P=0.17)	gender NS (P=0.28)	
Blood Pressure (mmHa)		Systolic: Median	110	110	<u>Systolic</u>	Systolic	(multinomial distribution)	Systolic
Categories:		Svstolic: Range	90-195	90-180	year: 2005=114.8, 2007=115.1	year (P=0.85)		hsid 10.31
optimal/normal <130/85					age: A=101.4, B=107.8,	ane (P<0.0001)	ס	indvl 157.24
high normal 130-139/85-89		Diastolic: Median	70	20	C=114.9, D=122.2, E=128.4			resid 125.//
mild/horderline hvoertension	n = 224	Diastolic: Range	40-120	50-98	gender: m=116.6, f=113.3	gender (P=0.28)		
140-159/90-99	(112/yr)	hypertension:	(%) u	(%) u	Diastolic	Diastolic	(multinomial distribution)	Diastolic
definite hypertension		optimal/normal	93 (83)	89 (80)	year: 2005=72.6, 2007=73.1	year (P=0.64)		hsid 4.12
2160/100		high normal	8 (7)	9 (8)	age: A=66.1, B= 68.1,	age (P<0.0001)	g	indvl 41.64
		mild/borderline	7 (6)	8 (7)	C=74.3, D=75.7, E=80.0			resid 6/.1/
		definite	4 (4)	6 (5)	gender: m=74.1, f=71.6	gender (P=0.16)		
					net and an	ce for consistency SE are not	nresented	

a Proc Mixed (outcomes as continuous variables). Note: standard errors (SE) of least square mean estimates cannot be obtained for b Proc Glimmix (outcome as health risk category) c Age categories: A(18-29), B(30-39), C(40-49), D(50-59), and E(over 60)

d Analysis did not converge

e No transformation f Reciprocal transformation Bold denotes significant difference

2005	n	BMI kg/m ²	normal BMI 18-24.9	overweight BMI 25-29.9	obese BMI 30-39.9	very obese BMI ≥ 40
Men		Mean (sd)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
18-29y	9	29.5 (8.4)	4 (44)	1 (11)	3 (33)	1 (11)
30-39 y	1	33.1 (n/a)	0	0	1 (100)	0
40-49 y	7	27.4 (5.7)	2 (29)	2 (29)	3 (43)	0
50-59 y	9	29.0 (4.8)	2 (22)	4 (44)	3 (33)	0
60+ v	3	26.3 (1.4)	0	3 (100)	0	0
subtotal	29	28.8 (6.0)	8 (28)	10 (35)	10 (35)	1 (3)
Women	n		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
18-29 y	6	28.9 (4.1)	1 (17)	1 (17)	4 (67)	0
30-39 v	12	33.5 (7.1)	0	5 (42)	5 (42)	2 (17)
40-49 y	15	35.2 (5.7)	0	2 (13)	10 (67)	3 (20)
50-59 y	3	31.9 (5.3)	0	2 (67)	1 (33)	0
60+ v	3	36.0 (12.2)	0	1 (33)	1 (33)	1 (33)
subtotal	39	33.1 (6.6)	1 (3)	11 (28)	21 (54)	6 (15)
grand total	68	31.3 (6.7)	9 (13)	21 (31)	31 (46)	7

Table 9: Body Mass Index (BMI) results from one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007 by gender and age category (n=136; 68 indvls/yr)

2007		D	normal	overweight	obese	very obese
2307	n	BMI kg/m ²	BMI 18-24.9	BMI 25-29.9	BMI 30-39.9	BMI ≥ 40
Men		Mean (sd)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
18-29y	7	28.1 (9.6)	4 (57)	1 (14)	1 (14)	1 (14)
30-39 y	2	38.0 (2.1)	0	0	2 (100)	0
40-49 y	8	28.9 (5.6)	2 (25)	2 (25)	4 (50)	0
50-59 y	8	28.0 (5.0)	2 (25)	4 (50)	2 (25)	0
60+ y	4	28.5 (7.1)	2 (50)	1 (25)	1 (25)	0
subtotal	29	29.0 (6.8)	10 (35)	8 (28)	10 (35)	1 (3)
Women	n		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
18-29 y	5	29.1 (4.4)	1 (20)	2 (40)	2 (40)	0
30-39 y	10	34.5 (7.5)	1 (80)	1 (10)	5 (50)	3 (30)
40-49 y	12	33.8 (7.0)	1 (8)	2 (17)	8 (67)	1 (8)
50-59 y	8	33.5 (4.2)	0	1 (13)	6 (75)	1 (13)
60+ y	4	33.7 (11.1)	0	2 (50)	1 (25)	1 (25)
subtotal	39	33.3 (6.7)	3 (8)	8 (21)	22 (56)	6 (15)
grand total	68	31.5 (7.0)	13 (19)	16 (24)	32 (47)	7 (10)

Table 10: Fasting plasma glucose (FPG) results from one Pohnpeian community in 2005 and 2007 by gender and age categories (n=216, 108 indvls/yr)

2005 Men	n	FPG mg/dl Mean (sd)	FPG mg/dl Range	Normal FPG n (%)	Abnormal FPG ^a n (%)	New cases
18-29 y	18	105 (12)	87 - 138	17 (94)	1 (6)	1
30-39 y	3	114 (15)	101 - 131	2 (67)	1 (33)	1
40-49 y	11	143 (74)	93 - 358	7 (64)	4 (36)	4
50-59 y	9	166 (66)	104 - 303	3 (3)	6 (67)	3
60+ y	3	205 (116)	101 - 330	1 (33)	2 (67)	0
subtotal	44	134 (61)	87 - 358	30 (68)	14 (32)	9
Women						
18-29 y	21	110 (32)	79 - 196	17 (81)	4 (19)	4
30-39 y	17	120 (40)	86 - 258	12 (71)	5 (29)	5
40-49 y	19	199 (107)	102 - 374	9 (47)	10 (53)	5
50-59 y	3	223 (185)	109 - 436	2 (67)	1 (33)	0
60+y	4	180 (111)	113 - 345	1 (25)	3 (75)	2
subtotal	64	149 (87)	79 - 436	41 (64)	23 (36)	16
	-					
grand total	108	143 (77)	79 - 436	71 (66)	37 (34)	25

2007 Men	n	FPG mg/dl Mean (sd)	FPG mg/dl Range	Normal FPG n (%)	Abnormal FPG ^a n (%)	New cases
18-29 y	15	110 (19)	87 - 148	12 (80)	3 (20)	3
30-39 y	4	111 (12)	98 - 126	3 (75)	1 (25)	1
40-49 y	13	136 (60)	96 - 301	9 (69)	4 (31)	0
50-59 y	8	187 (79)	100 - 312	2 (25)	6 (75)	0
60+ y	4	234 (179)	116 - 496	2 (50)	2 (50)	0
subtotal	44	143 (78)	87 - 496	28 (64)	16 (36)	4
Women						
18-29 y	19	110 (26)	89 - 195	16 (84)	3 (16)	2
30-39 y	15	112 (19)	85 - 156	11 (73)	4 (27)	2
40-49 y	16	189 (96)	96 - 395	7 (44)	9 (56)	1
50-59 y	9	170 (97)	102 - 415	3 (33)	6 (67)	1
60+y	5	239 (165)	110 - 434	2 (40)	3 (60)	0
subtotal	64	149 (86)	85 - 434	39 (61)	25 (39)	6
grand total	108	146 (82)	85 - 496	67 (62)	41 (38)	10

^a abnormal FPG ≥126 mg/di

Group Targeted	А	Youth	Youth	Women	All	AI	Women
Approach	Community Involvement and Collaboration	Education	Education	Education	Practice (agriculture)	Practice (agriculture)	Education and Practice (cooking)
Description	Community meetings took place for two years on a weekly or bimonthly basis. Initially the group met to document their traditional food system. Then, during the intervention, members planned intervention activities, monitored food production, discussed healthy eating, vitamin A, diabetes, anemia and heart disease and discussed and shared local foods.	As part of an island-wide Youth-to-Youth school education program of the As provide the an island-wide Youth-to-Youth school education Society of Pohnpei, IFCP visited grades 4 and 5 of Mand Elementary School to teach children about local banana varieties, the health value of Pohnpei bananas and encourage banana consumption as snacks and in various recipes.	Led by an instructor from the College of Micronesia-FSM, children learned the nutritional and health value of local island food through song, dance and skits. The club performed several times, including at the 2006 Mand Easter celebration.	A group of mothers from Mand met regularly with IFCP staff and an Agriculture and Nutrition Extension Agent to discuss exclusive breastfeeding, complementary feeding, healthy eating and physical exercise. Beliefs and taboos relating to breastfeeding were discussed, such as the idea that eating more increases breastmilk production.	Over 20 different crops were distributed, including yellow-fleshed banana cultivars, spinach, chaya, taro, pineapple, citrus and soursop. Training on planting and caring for plants accompanied distribution. Monitoring of plant growth was conducted regularly.	In partnership with Natural Resource Conservation Service of USDA, container gardens and raised beds were constructed on 14 sites to grow vegetables including chinese cabbage, cucumber and eggplant. Public workshops were held on propagation and planting of these crops.	This training by EFNEP (Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program) and initiated by IFCP was part of a 10-day training focusing on the development and use of home gardens. Cooking demonstrations were conducted on how to use
A	Community Working Group	Youth School Education	Youth Drama Club	Breastfeeding Suppor Group	Planting Material Distribution	Home Gardening	Cooking Training (EFNEP)

Table 11: List of intervention activities and materials included in evaluation assessment of one Pohnpeian community

Table 11: Continued

1

;

Activity	Description	Approach	Group Targeted
okeless Charcoal Ovens	Over 30 ovens were built by and distributed to community members to make cooking local foods easier and healthier (compared to frying) and decrease air emissions. The goal was to increase consumption of locally grown foods and decrease reliance on imported foods. A competition was also held to encourage use of the ovens.	Practice (cooking)	All
ıbassador's Dinner	This pottuck dinner took place at the U.S. Ambassador Suzanne Hale's residence. The purpose was to encourage preparation of local recipes made with 95% local food.	Practice (cooking)	AII
anting and Weight oss Competitions	The planting competitions were completed with local food crops of taro, banana, citrus, soursop and vegetables. These were conducted several times over the two- year period in the community and also in conjunction with annual agricultural fairs. Planting tools were given as awards. One weight loss competition was held among women to increase awareness of the health risks of obesity and encourage physical activity.	Practice (agriculture, physical activity) & Social Marketing	All (weight loss - women)
Materials	Description	Category	
Pohnpei Bananas Poster	This poster displays color photographs and indicates the beta-carotene content of 15 yellow-fleshed banana cultivars. A message on the poster encourages consumption of these bananas "to help protect against diabetes, heart disease, certain cancer, vitamin A deficiency and anemia." These posters are widely displayed in Mand and Pohnpei at local markets, health clinics, schools, etc.	Social Marketing	
cific Island Indigenous Food Poster	This poster, produced by FAO and CINE, celebrates the 2nd International Decade of the World's Indigenous Peoples. The colorful pictures of local foods and food preparation on the poster were taken in Mand. Text describes the diversity and micronutrient content of various foods. Several copies of this poster were given to	Social Marketing	
3o Local Billboard	One "Go Local" billboard was put up in the Mand community and two others were placed in Kolonia to promote healthy living through local foods. The image depicts a family engaged in local food cultivation surrounded by pandanus, Karat, breadfruit, coconut, taro and other local crops.	Social Marketing	

IFCP - Island Food Community of Pohnpei

Additional outreach

Radio

materials

Social Marketing - media

Articles about the intervention were written regularly in the local newspaper, the Kaselehlie Press, by IFCP staff. Subjects included recipe sharing, describing the results of the 2005 survey and publicizing traditional foods. Numerous articles included recipes and photographs of traditional Mand dishes and Mand women.

Newspaper

Information about the intervention activities was broadcast regularly on the local

radio station. FSM postal stamps of carotenoid-rich bananas, 'Go Local' T-shirts, IFCP email network

island-wide

Social Marketing - media

island-wide

Social Marketing

Table 12: Process indicators for intervention activities and materials that took place in one Pohnpeian community (indicators obtained from various sources including IFCP intervention log, newspaper articles, and by 2007 evaluation questionnaire)

•

	Exposure	Awareness ^a		Fraguency	Number of Meetings or Visits	Total Participants	Regular Participants	Other
ACTIVITY	(74-11)			failanhai i	0			
Community Working	ED ^{0/2}	03%	2 VARIE	weeklv - bimonthlv	78	126	11	62% women
dnoib	* 00	0,00	5 Jun 2					34 smokeless charcoal ovens constructed; each
Charcoal Ovens	50%	%06	8 months	n/a	8	34	n/a	household built their own
Youth Drama Club	29%	88%	 6 months 	monthly	3 performances; 6 meetings in 2006	20 in first; 10 in second	n/a	ages 10 - 12
Planting Material Distribution	50%	86%	8 months	throughout	n/a	34	n/a	types of plants distributed - 21
Cooking Training	50%	83%	10 days	ouce	10	25	n/a	
Breastfeeding Support Group	33%	83%	7 months	bimonthly	12	43	34	ages 15-37
Youth School Education	33%	76%	8 months	varied	13	42	n/a	ages 9-15
Home Gardening	48%	76%	12 months	varied	5	20 at first workshop	14 households	14 home gardens constructed, 4 workshops held, 1 nursery created
Planting and Weight Loss Competitions	50%	71%	2 years	 2 planting competitions, 1 weight loss competition 	n/a	planting competition - 23; weight loss competition - ~40	n/a	over 5 different fruits and vegetables were planted; weight loss participants wanted to be weighed monthly to track progress
U.S. Ambassor's Dinner	21%	57%	1 time	n/a	-	90 (15 from Mand)	n/a	30 different traditional dishes shared

aterials	Frequency	Exposure° (n=42)
bei Bananas Poster	n/a	95%
land Indigenous od Poster	n/a	33%
ical Billboard	n/a	98%
ewspaper	bi-monthly	1001
Radio	weekly - biweekly	%Q/

a: respondent heard about (from 2007 evaluation questionnaire) b: someone from household had participated (from 2007 evaluation questionnaire) c: respondent had seen material (from 2007 evaluation questionnaire)

Table 13a: Household agricultural practices in one Pohnpeian community in 2007 (by questionnaire, n=42)

agriculture fair		64% Participated in past 2 years
planting bananas		88% Planted in past 2 years
planting GLVs		76% Planted in past 2 years
planting vegetables	other	670/ Diantod in mart 3 waars
than GLVs		01 % LIGHTED III DASI Z JEGIS

Table 13b: Household food practices in one Pohnpeian community (by questionnaire)

Proportion of fam	illy's salary spe	ent on food:
	2005	2007
	(n=38)	(n=40)
zero	%0	3%
less than half	16%	28%
half	11%	33%
more than half	63%	33%
all	%0	%0
DNK	11%	5%
NR	%0	%0

GLVs - green leafy vegetables

DNK - does not know NR - no response

Proportion of hsld food that is local food: 2007 (n=40) 25% 40% 15% 15% 3% 3% 2005 (n=37) 35% 54% 8% %0 %0 3% RNA 0-25% 26-50% 51-75% 76-100%

Proportion of	ocal food is ho	me grown:
	2005	2002
	(n=37)	(n=40)
0-25%	%11	5%
26-50%	5%	2%
51-75%	5%	3%
76-100%	%82	83%
NR	%0	3%
DNK	%0	3%

References

- ADA (2003). "Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. American Diabetes Association." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **26**(Supplement): S5-S20.
- Allen, L. H. (2008). "To what extent can food-based approaches improve micronutrient status?" <u>Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **17**: 103-105.
- Anderson, I., S. Crengle, M. L. Kamaka, T. H. Chen, N. Palafox and L. Jackson-Pulver (2006). "Indigenous Health 1 - Indigenous health in Australia, New Zealand, and the Pacific." Lancet 367(9524): 1775-1785.
- Bailey, K. V. and A. FerroLuzzi (1995). "Use of body mass index of adults in assessing individual and community nutritional status." <u>Bulletin of the World Health Organization</u> **73**(5): 673-680.
- Barba, C., T. Cavalli-Sforza, J. Cutter, I. Darnton-Hill, P. Deurenberg, M. Deurenberg-Yap, T. Gill, P. James, G. Ko, A. H. Miu, V. Kosulwat, S. Kumanyika, A. Kurpad, N. Mascie-Taylor, H. K. Moon, C. Nishida, M. I. Noor, K. S. Reddy, E. Rush, J. T. Schultz, J. Seidell, J. Stevens, B. Swinburn, K. Tan, R. Weisell, Z. S. Wu, C. S. Yajnik, N. Yoshiike and P. Zimmet (2004). "Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies." Lancet 363(9403): 157-163.
- Bartlett, J. G., L. Modariago-Vignudo, J. D. O'Neil and H. V. Kuhnlein (2007). "Identifying Indigenous Peoples for health research in a global context: A review of perspectives and challenges." <u>International Journal of Circumpolar Health</u> 66(4): 287-307.
- Bloem, M. W., L. Kiess and R. Moench-Pfanner (2002). "Process indicators for monitoring and evaluating vitamin A programs." Journal of Nutrition **132**(9): 2934S-2939S.
- Bradsher, K. (2008). The Food Chain: A Drought in Australia, a Global Shortage of Rice. <u>The New</u> <u>York Times</u>. NY, The New York Times Company. April 17, 2008.
- Brun, T., J. Reynaud, et al. (1989). "Food and nutritional impact of one home garden project in Senegal." Ecology of Food and Nutrition 23: 91-108.
- Campbell, M., B. McAdams Motsinger, et al. (2000). "The North Carolina black churches united for better health project: intervention and process evaluation." <u>Health Educ Behav</u> 27: 241-253.
- Carretero, O. A. and S. Oparil (2000). "Essential hypertension Part I: Definition and etiology." <u>Circulation</u> **101**(3): 329-335.
- Cassels, S. (2006). "Overweight in the Pacific: links between foreign dependence, global food trade, and obesity in the Federated States of Micronesia." <u>Globalization and Health</u> **2**(10).
- Chicago Board of Trade (2008). "Rice historical volatility." http://www.cbot.com/cbot/pub/page/0,3181,1485,00.html Retrieved November 21, 2008.
- CINE. (2007). "Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems for Health Promotion: Global Health." http://www.mcgill.ca/cine/research/global/ Retrieved July 14, 2008.
- Corsi, A., L. Englberger, R. Flores, A. Lorens and M. H. Fitzgerald (2008). "A participatory assessment of changing dietary patterns and food behavior in Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia." <u>Asia Pacific J Clin Nutr</u> **17**(2): 309-316.
- Coyne, T., T. I. Ibiebele, P. D. Baade, A. Dobson, C. McClintock, S. Dunn, D. Leonard and J. Shaw (2005). "Diabetes mellitus and serum carotenoids: findings of a population-based study in Queensland, Australia." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 82(3): 685-693.
- de Pee, S., M. W. Bloem, et al. (1998a). "Reappraisal of the role of vegetables in the vitamin A status of mothers in Central Java, Indonesia." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **68**(5): 1068-1074.
- de Pee, S., C. E. West, et al. (1998b). "Orange fruit is more effective than are dark-green, leafy vegetables in increasing serum concentrations of retinol and beta-carotene in schoolchildren in Indonesia." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **68**(5): 1058-1067.
- de Pee, S., M. W. Bloem, Satoto, R. Yip, A. Sukaton, R. Tjiong, R. Shrimpton, Muhilal and B. Kodyat (1998c). "Impact of a social marketing campaign promoting dark-green leafy vegetables and eggs in central Java, Indonesia." <u>International Journal for Vitamin and</u> <u>Nutrition Research</u> 68(6): 389-398.
- de Pee, S., M. W. Bloem, et al. (1999). "Who has a high vitamin A intake from plant foods, but a low serum retinol concentration? Data from women in Indonesia." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **53**(4): 288-297.
- Dignan, C., B. Burlingame, S. Kumar and W. Aalbersberg (2004). The Pacific Islands Food Composition Tables. Second edition. Rome, FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations).
- Elymore, J., A. Elymore, J. Badcock, F. Bach and S. Terrell-Perica (1989). The 1987/1988 national nutrition survey of the Federated States of Micronesia. <u>Technical report</u> Noumea, New Caledonia, South Pacific Commission.
- Englberger, L., G. C. Marks and M. H. Fitzgerald (2003a). "Insights on food and nutrition in the Federated States of Micronesia: a review of the literature." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> **6**(1): 5-17.
- Englberger, L., W. Aalbersberg, P. Ravi, E. Bonnin, G. C. Marks, M. H. Fitzgerald and J. Elymore (2003b). "Further analyses on Micronesian banana, taro, breadfruit and other foods for provitamin A carotenoids and minerals." <u>Journal of Food Composition and Analysis</u> **16**(2): 219-236.
- Englberger, L., J. Schierle, B. Aalbersberg, G. Marks, M. Fitzgerald and J. Elymore (2003c).
 "Micronesian banana, giant swamp taro, and breadfruit cultivars: newly recognized sources of provitamin A and other carotenoids." <u>FASEB Journal</u> **17**(5): A1104-A1104.
- Englberger, L. (2003). A community and laboratory-based assessment of the natural food sources of vitamin A in the Federated States of Micronesia. PhD Thesis. Brisbane, Australia, University of Queensland.
- Englberger, L., J. Schierle, G. C. Marks and M. H. Fitzgerald (2003d). "Micronesian banana, taro, and other foods: newly recognized sources of provitamin A and other carotenoids." <u>Journal</u> of Food Composition and Analysis **16**(1): 3-19.
- Englberger, L., G. C. Marks, M. H. Fitzgerald and J. Timothy (2005). "Vitamin A intake and factors influencing it amongst children and caretakers in Kosrae, Micronesia." <u>Ecology of Food and Nutrition</u> **44**(4): 307-338.
- Englberger, L., J. Schierle, W. Aalbersberg, P. Hofmann, J. Humphries, A. Huang, A. Lorens, A. Levendusky, J. Daniells, G. C. Marks and M. H. Fitzgerald (2006). "Carotenoid and vitamin content of Karat and other Micronesian banana cultivars." <u>International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition</u> **57**(5-6): 399-418.
- Englberger, L., A. Lorens, A. Levendusky, P. Pedrus, K. Albert, W. Hagilmai, Y. Paul, D. Nelber, P. Moses, S. Shaeffer and M. Gallen (2008a). Documentation of the Traditional Food System of Pohnpei. <u>Indigenous Peoples' Food Systems: the Many Dimensions of Culture, Diversity and Environment for Nutrition and Health</u>. H. Kuhnlein, B. Erasmus and D. Spigelski. Rome, United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (in press).
- Englberger, L., A. Lorens, M. Pretrick, B. Raynor, J. Currie, A. Corsi, L. Kaufer, H. Kuhnlein and B. Spegal (2008b). Approaches and lessons learned for promoting dietary improvement in

Pohnpei, Micronesia. Food-based Approaches to Combating Micronutrient Deficiency.

Rome, United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (in press).

Englberger, L. (2008a). Personal Communication to L. Kaufer.

Englberger, L. (2008b). Email November 14, 2008 to. L. Kaufer.

Englberger, L. (2008c). Email November 15, 2008 to. L. Kaufer.

- FAO (1997). "Preventing micronutrient malnutrition: A guide to food-based approaches. A manual for policy makers and programme planners." from http://www.fao.org/docrep/X5244E/X5244e00.HTM.
- FAO (2006). "Food and Agriculture Indicators. Country: Federated States of MICRONESIA. Prepared by ESSGA from FAOSTAT, WorldBank." Retrieved July 13, 2008, from http://www.fao.org/ES/ess/compendium_2006/pdf/MIC_ESS_E.pdf.
- FAO/WHO (2002). Food-based approaches to meeting vitamin and mineral needs. <u>Human Vitamin</u> and <u>Mineral Requirements; Report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation Bangkok,</u> <u>Thailand</u>. Rome, FAO.
- Frison, E. A., I. F. Smith, T. Johns, J. Cherfas and P. B. Eyzaguirre (2006). "Agricultural biodiversity, nutrition, and health: Making a difference to hunger and nutrition in the developing world." <u>Food and Nutrition Bulletin</u> **27**(2): 167-179.
- Gibson, R. S. (2005). <u>Principles of nutritional assessment. Second edition</u>. New York, Oxford University Press, Inc.
- Golbuu, Y., K. Fabricius, S. Victor and R. H. Richmond (2008). "Gradients in coral reef communities exposed to muddy river discharge in Pohnpei, Micronesia." <u>Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf</u> <u>Science</u> **76**(1): 14-20.
- Goldberg, G. R., A. E. Black and et al (1991). "Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **45**: 569-581.
- Gordon, E. J. (2000). "When oral consent will do." Field Methods 12(3): 235-238.
- Green, L. and F. Lewis (1986). Selecting and implementing designs for evaluation. <u>Measurement</u> <u>and evaluation in health education and health promotion</u>. California, Mayfield Publishing Company.
- Haskell, M. J., K. M. Jamil, et al. (2004). "Daily consumption of Indian spinach (Basella alba) or sweet potatoes has a positive effect on total-body vitamin A stores in Bangladeshi men." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 80(3): 705-714.
- Hatloy, A., L. E. Torheim and A. Oshaug (1998). "Food variety a good indicator of nutritional adequacy of the diet? A case study from an urban area in Mali, West Africa." <u>European</u> <u>Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 52(12): 891-898.

Hezel, F. X. (2004). "Health in Micronesia over the years." Micronesian Counselor(53).

Hezel, F. X. and C. Lightfoot (2005). "Myths of the FSM economy." Micronesian Counselor (59).

IFCP. (2007). "Island Food Community of Pohnpei." March 17, 2007, from

http://www.islandfood.org/.

Institute of Medicine (1997). <u>Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium,</u> <u>Vitamin D, and Fluoride</u>. Washington, D.C., National Academy Press.

Institute of Medicine (2000). <u>DRI, Dietary Reference Intakes, for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium,</u> and Carotenoids. Washington, D.C., National Academy Press.

Institute of Medicine (2001). <u>DRI, Dietary Reference Intakes, for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic,</u> <u>Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Monybdenum, Nickel, Silicon,</u> <u>Vanadium, and Zinc</u>. Washington, D.C., National Academy Press.

- Johns, T. and P. B. Eyzaguirre (2006). "Linking biodiversity, diet and health in policy and practice." <u>Proceedings of the Nutrition Society</u> **65**(2): 182-189.
- Jones, K. M., S. Specio, P. Shrestha, K. H. Brown and L. H. Allen (2005). "Nutrition knowledge and practices, and consumption of vitamin A-rich plants by rural Nepali participants and nonparticipants in a kitched-garden program." Food and Nutrition Bulletin **26**(2): 198-208.
- Kant, A. K., A. Schatzkin, et al. (2000). "A prospective study of diet quality and mortality in women." Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association **283**(16): 2109-2115.
- Kant, A. K., A. Schatzkin, et al. (1995). "Dietary diversity and subsequent cause-specific mortality in the NHANES-1 epidemiologic follow-up study." <u>Journal of the American College of Nutrition</u> 14(3): 233-238.
- Kant, A. K. and B. I. Graubard (2005). "A comparison of three dietary pattern indexes for predicting biomarkers of diet and disease." <u>Journal of the American College of Nutrition</u> 24(4): 294-303.
- Kennedy, E. (2004). "Dietary diversity, diet quality, and body weight regulation." <u>Nutrition Reviews</u> **62**(7): S78-S81.
- Kidala, D., T. Greiner and M. Gebre-Mehdin (2000). "Five-year followup of a food-based vitamin A intervention in Tanzania." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> **3**: 425-31.
- King, L., L. Stoker, M. Noort and S. Gal. (1994). "Program Management Guidelines for Health Promotion." from <u>http://www.health.nsw.gov.au/pubs/p/pdf/pmg_hp.pdf</u>.
- Kuhnlein, H., S. Smitasiri, S. Yesudas, L. Bhattacharjee, L. Dan and S. Ahmed. (2004a). "Documenting traditional food systems of indigenous peoples: international case studies. Guidelines for procedures." Retrieved June14, 2008, from http://www.mcgill.ca/cine/research/global/.
- Kuhnlein, H., B. Erasmus, H. Creed-Kanashiro, L. Englberger, C. Okeke, N. Turner, L. Allen and L. Bhattacharjee (2006). "Indigenous peoples' food systems for health: finding interventions that work." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> 9(8): 1013-1019.
- Kuhnlein, H. V. and O. Receveur (1996). "Dietary change and traditional food systems of indigenous peoples." <u>Annual Review of Nutrition</u> **16**: 417-442.
- Kuhnlein, H. V. and S. Burgess (1997). "Improved retinol, carotene, ferritin, and folate status in Nuxalk teenagers and adults after a health promotion programme." Food and Nutrition Bulletin **18**(2): 202-210.
- Kuhnlein, H. V., O. Receveur, R. Soueida and G. M. Egeland (2004b). "Arctic Indigenous Peoples experience the nutrition transition with changing dietary patterns and obesity." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Nutrition</u> **134**(6): 1447-1453.
- Lee, M. J., B. M. Popkin and S. Kim (2002). "The unique aspects of the nutrition transition in South Korea: the retention of healthful elements in their traditional diet." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> **5**(1A): 197-203.
- Lee, R. A., M. J. Balick, D. L. Ling, F. Sohl, B. J. Brosi and W. Raynor (2001). "Cultural dynamism and change - An example from the Federated States of Micronesia." <u>Economic Botany</u> 55(1): 9-13.
- Levendusky, A. (2005). Women of Mand share traditional recipes. <u>The Kaselehlie Press</u>. June 23, Kolonia, Bernd Riebe.
- Linnan, L. and A. Steckler (2002). Process evaluation for public health interventions and research: an overview. <u>Process evaluation for public health interventions and research</u>. L. Linnan and A. Steckler. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass: 1-23.

- Lippwe, K. (2002). "Federated States of Micronesia." Retrieved March 21, 2007, from <u>http://www.wpro.who.int/NR/rdonlyres/F48F2722-5FE8-496B-ABCC-</u> <u>784C5F36D8FB/0/mic.pdf</u>.
- Lloyd-Puryear, M., J. H. Humphrey, K. P. West, K. Aniol, F. Mahoney, J. Mahoney and D. G. Keenum (1989). "Vitamin A deficiency and anemia among Micronesian children." <u>Nutrition</u> <u>Research</u> **9**(9): 1007-1016.
- Macbeth, H. and J. MacClancy, Eds. (2004). <u>Researching Food Habits: Methods and Problems</u>. New York, Berghahn Books.
- Mares-Perlman, J. A., A. E. Millen, T. L. Ficek and S. E. Hankinson (2002). "The body of evidence to support a protective role for lutein and zeaxanthin in delaying chronic disease. Overview." Journal of Nutrition 132(3): 518S-524S.
- Merriam-Webster. (2001). "Merriam-Webster's Atlas: Federates States of Micronesia." Retrieved August 12, 2008, from <u>http://www.merriam-webster.com/cgi-bin/nytmaps.pl?micronesia</u>.
- Mhurchu, C. N., A. Rodgers, W. H. Pan, D. F. Gu, M. Woodward, V. Parag, R. Lin, D. A. Bennett, S. Vander Hoorn, F. Barzi, S. MacMahon, T. H. Lam, C. Lawes, I. Suh, H. Ueshima, A. Okayama, H. Maegawa, N. Aoki, M. Nakamura, N. Kubo, T. Yamada, Z. S. Wu, C. H. Yao, L. S. Liu, J. X. Xie, M. W. Knuiman, H. Christensen, X. G. Wu, J. Zhou, X. H. Yu, A. Tamakoshi, Z. L. Wu, L. Q. Chen, G. L. Shan, X. F. Duan, R. Norton, G. Whitlock, R. Jackson, M. Fujishima, Y. Kiyohara, H. Iwamoto, J. Woo, S. Ho, Z. Hong, M. S. Huang, B. Zhou, J. L. Fuh, Y. Kita, S. R. Choudhury, S. H. Jee, I. S. Kim, G. Giles, T. Hashimoto, K. Sakata, Y. Imai, T. Ohkubo, A. Hozawa, K. Jamrozik, M. Hobbs, R. Broadhurst, K. Nakachi, X. H. Fang, S. C. Li, Q. D. Yang, Z. M. Chen, H. Tanaka, A. Nozaki, H. Horibe, Y. Matsutani, M. Kagaya, K. Hughes, J. Lee, D. Heng, B. F. Zhou, H. Y. Zhang, K. Shimamoto, S. Saitoh, Z. Z. Li, Y. He and S. X. Yao (2004). "Body mass index and cardiovascular disease in the Asia-Pacific Region: an overview of 33 cohorts involving 310 000 participants." International Journal of Epidemiology **33**(4): 751-758.
- Murphy, S. P., J. A. Foote, L. R. Wilkens, P. P. Basiotis, A. Carlson, K. K. L. White and K. M. Yonemori (2006). "Simple Measures of Dietary Variety Are Associated with Improved Dietary Quality." Journal of the American Dietetic Association **106**(3): 425-429.
- Nutbeam, D. (1998). "Evaluating health promotion progress, problems and solutions." <u>Health</u> <u>Promotion International</u> **13**(1): 27-44.
- O'Dea, K. (1984). "Marked improvement in carbohydrate and lipid-metabolism in diabetic Australian Aborigines after temporary reversion to traditional lifestyle." <u>Diabetes</u> **33**(6): 596-603.
- Olendzki, B. C., Y. S. Ma, J. R. Hebert, S. L. Pagoto, P. A. Merriam, M. C. Rosal and I. S. Ockene (2008). "Underreporting of energy intake and associated factors in a Latino population at risk of developing type 2 diabetes." <u>Journal of the American Dietetic Association</u> **108**(6): 1003-1008.
- Penny, M., H. M. Creed-Kanashiro, et al. (2005). "Effectiveness of an educational intervention delivered through the health services to improve nutrition in young children: a clusterrandomised controlled trial." <u>Lancet</u> 365(9474): 1863-72.
- Popkin, B. M. and C. M. Doak (1998). "The obesity epidemic is a worldwide phenomenon." <u>Nutrition</u> <u>Reviews</u> **56**(4): 106-114.
- Popkin, B. M. (2001). "The nutrition transition and obesity in the developing world." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Nutrition</u> **131**(3): 871S-873S.
- Popkin, B. M. (2002). "An overview on the nutrition transition and its health implications: the Bellagio meeting." <u>Public Health Nutrition</u> **5**(1A): 93-103.

- Prentice, A. M. (2006). "The emerging epidemic of obesity in developing countries." <u>International</u> Journal of Epidemiology **35**(1): 93-99.
- Rao, A. V. and L. G. Rao (2007). "Carotenoids and human health." <u>Pharmacological Research</u> **55**(3): 207-216.
- Raynor, B. (1991). Agroforestry systems in Pohnpei Practices and Strategies for Development: RAS/86/036 Field Document 4, FAO/UNDP South Pacific Forestry Development Programme.
- Robert, R. C., J. Gittelsohn, et al. (2006). "Process evaluation determines the pathway of success for a health center-delivered, nutrition education intervention for infacts in Trujillo, Peru." Journal of Nutrition **136**(3): 634-41.
- Roche (2008). Accu-check® Compact Plus: Blood Glucose Meter, Owner's Booklet. Indianapolis, Roche Diagnostics.
- Roche, M. L., H. M. Creed-Kanashiro, I. Tuesta and H. V. Kuhnein (2008). "Traditional food diversity predicts dietary quality for the Awajun in the Peruvian Amazon." <u>Public Health</u> <u>Nutrition</u> 11(5): 457-465.
- Ruel, M. T. (2001). <u>Can Food-based Strategies Help Reduce Vitamin A and Iron Deficiencies? A</u> <u>Review of Recent Evidence.</u> Washington DC, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Ruel, M. T. (2003). "Operationalizing dietary diversity: A review of measurement issues and research priorities." Journal of Nutrition **133**(11): 3911S-3926S.
- Rychetnik, L., M. Frommer, P. Hawe and A. Shiell (2002). "Criteria for evaluating evidence on public health interventions." <u>J Epidemiol Community Health</u> **56**: 119-127.
- Savige, G. S. (2002). "Can food variety add years to your life?" <u>Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Nutrition</u> **11**: S637-S641.
- Savy, M., Y. Martin-Prevel, P. Sawadogo, Y. Kameli and F. Delpeuch (2005). "Use of variety/diversity scores for diet quality measurement: relation with nutritional status of women in a rural area in Burkina Faso." <u>European Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 59(5): 703-716.
- Shaeffer, S. (2006). Assessment of the agroforestry system under changing diet and economy on Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia. Environmental and Occupational Health and Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health. Atlanta, Emory University. Master of Public Health in Global Environmental Health: 95.
- Shintani, T. T., C. K. Hughes, S. Beckham and H. K. Oconnor (1991). "Obesity and cardiovascular risk intervention through the ad-libitum feeding of traditional Hawaiian diet." <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> **53**(6): S1647-S1651.
- Shmulewitz, D., S. B. Auerbach, T. Lehner, M. L. Blundell, J. D. Winick, L. D. Youngman, V. Skilling, S. C. Heath, J. Ott, M. Stoffel, J. L. Breslow and J. M. Friedman (2001).
 "Epidemiology and factor analysis of obesity, type II diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (syndrome X) on the Island of Kosrae, Federated States of Micronesia." <u>Human Heredity</u> 51(1-2): 8-19.
- Sowell, A., P. S. Gonzaga, L. Englberger, D. Schendel, J. Elymore and D. Huff (2001). Vitamin A deficiency and anemia among preschool children and their mothers or female caregivers in Yap and Kosrae states, Federated States of Micronesia [abstract]. In: Proceedings of XX International Vitamin A Consultative Group Meeting. Hanoi, Vietnam., ILSI Research Foundation.
- Spigelski, D. L. (2004). Dietary diversity and nutrient adecuacy in women of childbearing age in a peri-urban community in Senegal, West Africa. Montreal, Canada, McGill University. Master of Science.

- Stephens, C., C. Nettleton, J. Porter, R. Willis and S. Clark (2005). "Indigenous peoples' health why are they behind everyone, everywhere?" Lancet **366**(9479): 10-13.
- Stephens, C., J. Porter, C. Nettleton and R. Willis (2006). "Indigenous health 4 Disappearing, displaced, and undervalued: a call to action for Indigenous health worldwide." <u>Lancet</u> 367(9527): 2019-2028.
- Tontisirin, K., G. Nantel, L. Bhattacharjee, K. Tontisirin, G. Nantel and L. Bhattacharjee (2002).
 "Food-based strategies to meet the challenges of micronutrient malnutrition in the developing world." <u>Proceedings of the Nutrition Society</u> 61(2): 243-50.
- UNICEF. (2008). "Monitoring and Statistics: Country Statistics: Federated States of Micronesia." Retrieved June 10, 2008, from

http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/micronesia_statistics.html.

- WCRF/AICR (2007). Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Cancer: a Global Perspective. Washington DC, World Cancer Research Fund / American Institute for Cancer Research.
- Wenkam, R. and B. Baker (1973). <u>Micronesia: The Breadfruit Revolution</u>. Honolulu, East-West Center Press, University of Hawaii.
- Whitney, E. N. and S. R. Rolfes (2002). <u>Understanding Nutrition, Ninth Edition</u>. Stamford, Wadsworth Thomson Learning, Inc.
- WHO (1995). "Physical Status: The Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry: report of a WHO expert committee." <u>Bulletin of the World Health Organization</u> WHO technical report series; **854**.
- WHO (1999a). Development of food-based dietary guidelines for the Western Pacific region, Western Pacific Regional Office, World Health Organization.
- WHO (1999b). Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic: report of a WHO consultation. <u>WHO technical report series 894</u>. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO and ISH (1999). "1999 World Health Organization International Society of Hypertension Guidelines for the Management of Hypertension." <u>Journal of Hypertension</u> **17**: 151-183.
- WHO (1999c). Pohnpei State NCD STEPS Report, version 1.0. WHO STEPwise approach to NCD surveillance: Federated States of Micronesia.
- WHO (2002). Workshop on obesity prevention and control strategies in the Pacific. Manila, Regional Office for the Western Pacific, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2003a). Diet, food supply and obesity in the Pacific. Geneva, Regional Office for the Western Pacific, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2003b). <u>World Health Organization and Centre for Indigenous Peoples' Nutrition and</u> <u>Environment: Indigenous Peoples and Participatory Health Research: Planning and</u> <u>Management, Preparing Research Agreements</u>, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (2005a). Facing the facts: the impact of chronic disease in the Western Pacific. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO (2005b). Facing the facts: the impact of chronic disease in the Federates States of Micronesia. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- WHO and IDF (2006). Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia : report of a WHO/IDF consultation. Geneva, World Health Organization and International Diabetes Federation.
- Willet, W. (1998). Nutritional Epidemiology. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Appendices

A. 2007 Research Agreement

Laura Kaufer Harriet V. Kuhnlein, Ph.D. School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition McGill University 21,111 Lakeshore Rd. Ste Anne de Bellevue, Québec H9X3V9 Canada Tel: 513-398-7757, Fax: 514-398-1020 Island Food Community of Pohnpei Kolonia, Pohnpei Federated States of Micronesia Tel: 320-2400/8639 Fax: 691-320-2127

Appendix 1

1

2007 RESEARCH AGREEMENT

Island Food Community of Pohnpei (IFCP), Community of Mand, and Centre for Indigenous Peoples' Nutrition and Environment (CINE)

The community and the researchers associated with this project agree to conduct this research with the following understanding.

1. The purpose of this research project, as discussed and understood by the community, is:

.

- To evaluate the two-year, community-based intervention Pohnpei Traditional Food for Health that has promoted the production and use of micronutrient-rich, local food on the island of Pohnpei in the Federated States of Micronesia (FSM), in the Western Pacific.
- This involves measuring the following:
 - o dietary intake of promoted micronutrient-rich foods
 - health status, including fasting blood sugar, blood pressure, and anthropometry
 - o perception and awareness of intervention activities and materials
 - o knowledge and behavior change related to the intervention
 - o planting of promoted micronutrient-rich foods

2. The scope of this research project (that is, what issues, events, or activities are to be involved, and the degree of participation by community residents) is discussed with and understood as:

- To conduct assessment of the Pohnpei Traditional Food for Health Initiative.

- The research team uses an inter-agency approach including IFCP, Pohnpei Department of Health Services, College of Micronesia-FSM, and Pohnpei Office of Economic Affairs, Department of Land and Natural Resources, selected community members and Pohnpei residents, and CINE staff and student.
- Community members who will participate as respondents will volunteer approximately one to three hours of their time to participate.

3. Methods to be used, as agreed by the researchers and the community are:

- Participation is confidential and voluntary.
- Interviews will take place in approximately 47 households on diet, food
 production, and qualitative aspects of the intervention. Interviews will also be

conducted with key informants familiar with the intervention activities, the Mand community, and/or food sales in Pohnpei.

- Interviews will take approximately 20 45 minutes.
- Household interviews will be conducted in the local language and responses recorded in English.
- Informal focus groups will be conducted among Mand residents and individuals familiar with the intervention. Questions will be asked about local food use, market food use, as well as knowledge, awareness, and behavior modification related to the intervention.
- Other methods of collecting information on food and dietary patterns may include a market survey and photography.

4. Community training and participation, as agreed, is to include:

- Community members and other residents of Pohnpei will participate in the research as interviewers and facilitators. These individuals, who are local residents fluent in the local languages (Pohnpeian and Pingelapese), will be provided training on standard interview methods and the research related to this project.
- It is within the goals of this project to develop community capabilities to understand their own data. Data will be stored with the IFCP and remain available to the Mand community.
- The development of this project is based on sincere communication between community members and researchers. All efforts will be made to incorporate and address local concerns and recommendations at each step of the project.
- At the end of the project, as well as during the research, researchers will
 participate in community meetings to discuss progress and results with
 community members.
- 5. Information collected is to be shared, distributed, and stored in these agreed ways.
 - The essential health data (fasting blood glucose, blood pressure, and weight and heights) will be provided immediately to each participant along with counseling so that each may follow up and get medical advice and treatment, if needed.
 - Data collected are confidential and will be reported such that no individual or household will be identified. Copies will be kept at the IFCP offices and at CINE, where appropriate, and converted to an electronic form. The research team will be available to answer questions and assist community members, and in case the community decides to use the data for different purposes beyond the objectives of this project.
 - At the end of the study, the collated results will be presented to the community by leaders of the project and a final report will be distributed after discussion of results with community members. and collaborating agencies

6. Verbal informed consent of individual participants is to be obtained in these agreed ways:

- Verbal informed consent will be obtained by each participant.

2007 Research Agreement continued (pg. 3 of 4)





E. 7-day Food Frequency Questionnaire

Date:	Interviewer:	ID#				
Name o	f mom	Birthdate				
Name o	f child	Birthdate				
Is there	someone in your fami	ly with diabetes (soumwahu in suke)? \underline{Y}	es	No)	
Did you	have a feast or funera	I in the last seven days? \underline{Y}	es	No)	
For each f How m	ood below, ask the following any days in the past 7 d	question-circle items eaten and give the number 0 to 7 days did you eat?	in the bo (Me	x: om) (0	Child)	
FOOD	ITEM		#(days /k	#days /wk	#meals/
1. Rice	5					
2. Loc dapiohk	al starch food of an a, kehp, pidehde	ny kind: mei, wis, mweiang, sewa, kipa	r,			
3. Flow pie, cake	ir products: bread e, ship biscuit, cracker, c	, ramen, doughnut, pancake, noodles, spaghe ookie, other	iti,			
4. Bre fermente	adfruit (<i>mei</i>): green	unseeded/seeded, ripe unseeded/seeded,		******		_
5. Ban	ana of any kind (v	vis)				
6. Rip Utin Pih	<mark>e banana, white, n</mark> si, Kaimana, Preisihl, U	on-yellow (Inahsio, Utin Ruk, Utin Menih (tin Lihli, other)	le,			
7. Rip Ipali, M	e banana, yellow (l angat, Karat en Iap, Utir	Utin Iap, Utimwas, Karat, Akadahn, Taiwanj 1 Kerenis, Sendohki, Iemwahn, Peleu	ζ.			
8. Gia Walek, S	nt swamp taro (mv Simihden, Mwang Tekate	veiang)- Pwiliet, Sounpwong Weneu, Salen k, other	g			
9. Par	idanus (kipar)- Ene	wedak, Aspwirek, Swaipwepwe, other				
10. Dr sweet	yland taro (sewa), potato (pidehde)	yam (kehp), cassava (dapiohka),				
11. Ve	getable of any kin	d				1
12. Lo pepper l egg plan	cal vegetables: kan eaves, chilli leaves, pum t, pumpkin, bell pepper,	g kong, Chinese cabbage, chaya, pele, spinac pkin tips, cucumber, green onions, green bea squash, tomato, radish, other	h, ns,			
13. Im capsicur radish, a	ported vegetables, n, head cabbage, importent ny canned vegetable, spa	, fresh or canned: cucumber, carrot, ed potato, tomato, catsup, legume beans, lettu aghetti sauce, other	ce,			
<u>14. Fr</u>	uit of any kind (in	cluding ripe banana)				4
15. Lo	cal fruits (wahntuk	ike): ripe banana, ripe mango (kehngid), gre	en			

7-day Food Frequency Questionnaire continued (pg. 2 of 2)

10. Imported truits, tresh or canned: apple, orange, pineapple,	
tangerine, watermelon, grapes, canned fruits or juices, other	ļ
17. Eggs: Chicken egg, fish egg	
18. Local fish and seafood, fresh or frozen: Reef fish, tuna, other	
fish, freshwater eel, sea eel, octopus, lobster, shrimp, shellfish, turtle, mangrove crab	
19. Local meat, fresh or frozen: local chicken, local pig, dog, carabou, goat, duck.	
20. Imported and canned fish and seafood: mackerel, tuna, sardines, other canned fish	
21. Imported and canned meat, excluding turkey tail: comed	
meat, hot dogs	
22. Turkey tail	
23. Liver: reef fish liver, skipjack tuna liver, yellowfin tuna liver, small fish eaten with the liver inside, chicken, pig, beef	
24. Local nuts of any kind: chestnuts (mworopw), dipwopw, kaikes	1
breadfruit (mei kole), other	
25. Fried food	
26. Imported/animal fats: Vegetable oil, olive oil, oil from turkey tail/chicken/pork, shortening (Crisco)	
27. Local coconut fat: coconut oil, coconut cream, copra, embryo	
28. Local drinks: drinking coconut, madeu, hibiscus tea, lime tea, lemon grass, pil in guaya/pwohmpwompw/pweinaper, karertik	
29. Imported drinks with sugar: soft drink, coffee, tea, condensed milk, chocolate milk, koolaid, nunch, flavored drinks	
30. Dairy: butter, margarine, cheese, whole-cream milk	
31. Local snack food: sugar cane, adohl coconut husk	
32. Imported salty snack food: Potato chips, cheese crisps, popcorn	<u> </u>
33. Imported sugar, food/ local drink with sugar: donuts.	
cookies, candy, candy bars, chocolate, ice cream, local foods cooked with sugar like breadfruit, banana, taro, local drink with sugar	
34. Alcohol (sakau en wai): beer, wine, whiskey, yeast, other	
35. Sakau en pohnpei	1
36. Betel Nut (chewing)	
37. Tobacco use	*

F. 24-hour Recall Form

Name of Mc Are you pre What did yo eat that food Time or Common Activity	other/Hou gnant no <u>u cat and</u> ? <u>What</u> Place	usehold head:	w? Yes No		
Are you prep What did yo eat that food ime or Common Activity	gnant no <u>u cat ano</u> ? What Place	w? Yes No Are you lactating no I drink after you woke up yesterday morn did you have next and when and where	w? Yes No		
What did yo eat that food ime or Common Activity	u cat and ? What Place	I drink after you woke up yesterday morn did you have next, and when and where			
eat that food ime or Common Activity	? What Place	did you have next, and when and where	ning? What was	the time? Wher	e did you
Time or Tommon Activity	Place		was that?		
Common Activity	1000	Description of Food or Drink: Name	offood	Amount	Amoun
1		ripeness, variety as for banana, drink, ingredients, cooking methods, brand n packaged/tinned foods	dish, ames of	(household measures)	(grams)
				1	
				1	
				-	
					1
				_	
					-
		1			
sten as I read d you have al d you take any ves, what kind	what Pve coholic c y vitamin	e recorded. Is there a mistake or omissio lrinks? Yes No Did you eat anything a or mineral supplements? Yes No . May I see the label? write	n? Yes No in the night? Ye label	If yes, change 28 No	

G. Participant's Results Slip from Health Assessment

	Name:	ID#:	- FASTING:	Yes No
, 2007	Weight:, kg Height:, cm underweight healthy weight overweight	obese	Waist circumference: *at risk: Males ≥102cm	cm Females ≥88cm
uly 7	Fasting Blood Sugar:		Blood Pressure:/	
	<u>* at risk for Diabetes: ≥126mg/dl</u>		* at risk >140 / 90	
	For follow-up, please contact Dr. Elizabeth	h Keller at I	Diabetes Control Program, Public	c Health, <u>320</u> -7843

GENDY I Hore you 2 Did you 3. Did anyone ettes 4. Wind: dout into the part in your Hill Able 9. Wind: dout into the part in your Hill Able 9. Wind: dout into the part in your Hill Able 9. Wind: dout into the part into thepart into the part into thepart					, Man	od Project' Evaluation – Summer 2007
Mand Working Group Meetings VES NO Destrictions VES NO VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Planting Material distribution Destriction VES NO Destriction VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Distribution VES NO VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Distribution Destriction VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Loss Combetition Destriction VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Loss Combetition Destriction VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Clarccoil Oven VES NO VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Clarccoil Oven VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Distribution VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Distribution VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments Response Comments Distribution VES NO VES NO Periticipant : Response Comments	Yiv	1. Have you heard about	2. Did you take part in 112	 Did anyone else in your HH take part in it? (mond name d relation) 	4. What do you mink about 172	5. 17 #2 YES What was the most important thing you learned?
Planting Matterial YES NO YES NO Peritipant : Nositive Response distribution Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Nositive Response (Pilot Farm, other) Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response (Pilot Farm, other) Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response Loss Combetition Desent know VES NO VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response Loss Combetition Desent know VES NO VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response Coordiner Candenting and Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response Container Candenting Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Nagative Response Container Candenting Desent know VES NO Peritipant : Pesitive Response ULS Ambassodor's VES NO Peritipant : Pesitive Response No ULS Ambassodor's VES NO Peritipant : Pesitive Response No ULS Ambassodor's VES NO Peritipant : Pesitive	<u>Mand Working Group</u> <u>Meetings</u>	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Pasitive Response Negative Respanse Comments:	
Planting and Weight VES NO VES <	<u>Planting Material</u> <u>distribution</u> (Pilot Farm, other)	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	
Cooking Training by Weisy and Miriam VES NO Participant = Positive Response Weisy and Miriam Descrit know VES NO VES NO VES NO Participant = Negative Response Charcoal Oven VES NO VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Distribution Descrit know VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Ontainer Geridenting VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Ontainer Geridenting VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Gibson Santos VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Imagative Response Outlock dinner VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Imagative Response Precestfeeding Club VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Imagative Response Imagative Response Precestfeeding Club VES NO VES NO	Planting and Weight Loss Competition	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Pasitive Response Negative Response Comments:	
Chartcool Oven VES NO VES NO Perticipant = Positive Response Training and Descrit know VES NO VES NO VES NO Negative Response Distribution Distribution Descrit know VES NO VES NO VES NO Positive Response Contrainer Gardening VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Positive Response Gibson Santos VES NO VES NO VES NO Positive Response Positive Response Orlluck dinner Doesn't know VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Positive Response Polluck dinner Descrit know VES NO VES NO Participant = Positive Response Positive Response Breastfeeding Club Descrit know VES NO VES NO Positive Response Positive Response Breastfeeding Club Descrit know Positive Response Positive Response Positive Response Provent know Positive Response Positive Response Positive Response Positive Response Mendi School <td><u>Ceoking Training</u> by Welsy and Miriam</td> <td>YES NO Doesn't knaw</td> <td>YES NO</td> <td>Participant =</td> <td>Pasitive Response Negative Response Comments:</td> <td></td>	<u>Ceoking Training</u> by Welsy and Miriam	YES NO Doesn't knaw	YES NO	Participant =	Pasitive Response Negative Response Comments:	
Contrainer Gerdenting with Kiped and Gibson Santros. VES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Response With Kiped and Gibson Santros. Doesn't know YES NO Participant = Negative Response US Ambassador's VES NO VES NO Participant = Negative Response Doesn't know VES NO VES NO Participant = Negative Response Potluck dinner Doesn't know VES NO VES NO VES NO Breastfeeding Club Doesn't know Negative Response Negative Response Breastfeeding Club Doesn't know VES NO VES NO VES NO Breastfeeding Club Doesn't know Negative Response Negative Response Mand School VES NO VES NO VES NO Negative Response Anderd School Deesn't know Negative Response No Mand School Deesn't know Negative Response No Deesn't know Negative Response Megative Response No	<u>Charcoal Oven</u> <u>Training and</u> Distribution	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	
U.S. Ambassador's VES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Response Portluck dinner Doesn't know Tenticipant = Negative Response Breastfeeding Club VES NO VES NO VES NO Breastfeeding Club Desn't know Negative Response Mand School VES NO VES NO Mand School VES NO VES NO Training on Bananas Desent know	<u>Container Gardening</u> with Kiped and Gibson Santos	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	
Breastfeeding Club VES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Response Doesn't know Doesn't know VES NO YES NO VES NO VES NO Mand School YES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Response No Mand School YES NO YES NO YES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Response	<u>US Ambassador's</u> Potluck dinner	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	
<u>Mand School</u> YES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Responseyou Training on Bananos. Daesn't know Comments:	Breastfeeding Club	YES NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	
with Sohise outh-to-Youth)	<u>Mand School</u> <u>Training on Bananas</u> <u>with Sohse</u> outh-to-Youth)	yEs NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	your child learned?
Mand Draina club YES NO YES NO YES NO Participant = Positive Responseyou with Mr.Rohaizad Doesn't know Comments:	<u>Mand Drama Club</u> with Mr.Rohaizad	yes NO Doesn't know	YES NO	Participant =	Positive Response Negative Response Comments:	your child learned?

H. Project Evaluation Questionnaire

Project Evaluation Questionnaire continued (pg. 2 of 4)

cterinis 6. Have you seen 7. Where have you seen This? 8. What does it mean to you? Bananas poster YES NO	Anterials a. <u>Bananas poster</u> b. <u>Blue Food Poster</u> (FAO/CINE) c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u> Mand Project in the	6. Have you seen 2 YES NO YES NO YES NO	7 Where have a seen this?	/ou 8.	What does it mean to you?
Bananas poster YES NO Bile Food Poster YES NO (FA/CINE) YES NO I circle responses! Mard School Gausewy Hospital Other Other I heard about the Mand Project in the news (rodio, news) (rodio, news) (rodio, YES NO I heard about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand load foods overweight/obesity reliance on imported food [circle response themes] Mand load foods overweight/obesity diabetes? [circle responses] [diet food how overweight/obesity] [diet food how overweight/obesity] dave you or has someone in your household taken part in an agricultural fair? YES NO [f YES, which ones did you participate in	a. <u>Bananas poster</u> b. <u>Blue Food Poster</u> (FAO/CINE) c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u> Mand Project in the	YES NO YES NO YES NO	[circle responses]		
VES_NO VES_NO Blue Faod Poster (FAO/CINE) VES_NO Go Local Billboard VES_NO VES_NO Icircle responses) Mard School Castewry Heard about the Amad Project in the news (radio, newspaper) VES_NO Did you hear about the Mard Study results from 2005? VES_NO If VES, Mod local foods overweight/obesity_diabetes If VES_vert about the Mard Study results from 2005? VES_NO If VES_vert about the results? [circle response themes] Mard local foods overweight/obesity_diabetes Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] [circle responses] diet Iack of exercise don't know ether:	b. <u>Blue Food Poster</u> (FAO/CINE) c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u>	YES NO YES NO YES NO	[circle responses]		
Blue Food Poster (FAO/CINE) YES NO	b. <u>Blue Food Poster</u> (FAO/CINE) c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u> Mond Project in the	YES NO YES NO	[circle responses]		<u></u>
Sector VES NO Icircle responses] Icircle responses Icircle responses] Icircle responses Icircle responses] Icircle responses Icircle responses] Icircle responses Icircle responses Icircle responses Icircle resp	(FAO/CINE) c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u>	YES NO	[circle responses]		
Go Local Billboard YES NO [circle responses] Mand School [causeway [Hospital Heard about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO [Gircle response themes] If YES, what do you recall about the results? [Circle response themes] [Circle response themes] Mand local foods reliance on imported food Nhy do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] [diet hereditary [ack of exercise don't know ather:	c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u>	YES NO	[circle responses]		
is be Local Billboard YES NO Imad School Imad Project in the Mand School Mand School And Project in the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand boal foods Mand Project in the mews (radio, newspaper) Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods inter: inter: Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet inter: inter: what do yellow-fleshed bonanas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	c. <u>Go Local Billboard</u> d. heard about <u>the</u> Mond Project in the	YES NO	[circle responses]		
Intervention Image School Causewy Haspinal Other: Image School Mand Project in the Mand Project in the Mand Project in the Mand Project in the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet Icircle responses] diet What do yellow-fleshed bonanas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	d. heard about <u>the</u> Mond Project in the				
Image: Answer in the image	d. heard about <u>the</u> Mond Project in the		Mana School		
I. heard about the Mand Project in the news (radio, newspaper) YES NO Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods overweight/obesity reliance on imported food overweight/obesity Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet [circle responses] diet hereditary What do yellow-fleshed bonanas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	d. heard about <u>the</u> Mand Project in the		Causeway		
I. heard about the Mand Project in the news (radio, newspaper) YES NO Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods overweight/obesity other: Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet Mark do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	d. heard about <u>the</u> Mand Project in the		Othen		
I. heard about the Mand Project in the news (radio, news (radio, mewspaper) YES NO Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods overweight/obesity other: Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet Inter: hereditary Iack of exercise don't know other: don't know what do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	d. heard about <u>the</u> Mond Project in the		Umer		
Mand Project in the news (radio, newspaper) YES NO Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods reliance on imported food overweight/obesity diabetes [circle responses] diet hereditory Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet hereditory [lack of exercise don't know other: what do yellow-fleshed bonanas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	Mond Project in the				
news (radio, newspaper) Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet lack of exercise don't know what do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?	Mand Hoject at the	YES NO			
newspaper)	news (radio,				
Did you hear about the Mand Study results from 2005? YES NO If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods reliance on imported food overweight/obesity diabetes other: Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] [circle responses] diet Mack of exercise don't know other:	newspaper)				
If YES, what do you recall about the results? [circle response themes] Mand local foods reliance on imported food overweight/obesity diabetes other:	Did vou hear about th	e Mand Study res	sults from 2005? YE	ES NO	
[circle response themes] Mand local foods reliance on imported food overweight/obesity diabetes other: diabetes [circle responses] [diet [ack of exercise don't know other: don't know other:	If YES, what do you	recall about the	results?		
overweight/obesity diabetes other:	[circle response th	emes]	Mand local foods	n	eliance on imported food
other:			overweight/obesity	d	liabetes
Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet hereditary lack of exercise don't know other: don't know what do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?			other:		
Why do you think people become sick with diabetes? [circle responses] diet hereditary lack of exercise don't know other: don't know what do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have?					
diet hereditary lack of exercise don't know other:	Why do you think peo	ple become sick w	ith diabetes?	·····	
Idek of exercise Ident know other:	[circle responses]		diet	h	iereditory
What do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have? Have you or has someone in your household taken part in an agricultural fair? YES NO If YES, which ones did you participate in: [circle responses] 2005/6 2006/7 World Food Day (October 2005) World Food Day (October 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2005) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] If YES, did you apply this advice? YES NO			lack of exercise	10	ION'T KNOW
What do yellow-fleshed bananas have a lot of that white-fleshed bananas do not have? Have you or has someone in your household taken part in an agricultural fair? YES NO If YES, which ones did you participate in: [circle responses] 2005/6 2006/7 World Food Day (October 2005) World Food Day (October 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2005) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] If YES, did you apply this advice? YES NO			Uniter.		
2005/6 2006/7 World Food Day (October 2005) World Food Day (October 2006) Municipality Fair (November 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Mand Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	Have you or has some If YES, which ones (one in your houset did you participate	hold taken part in an e in: [<i>circ</i>	agriculturo	al fair? YES NO es]
World Food Day (October 2005) World Food Day (October 2006) Municipality Fair (November 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2007) Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	2005/6			2006	<u>5/7</u>
Municipality Fair (November 2005) Municipality Fair (November 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2007) Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	World Fo	ood Day (October 20	205)	Work	d Food Doy (October 2006)
Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2006) Mand Agriculture Fair (January 1, 2007) Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	Municipa	lity Fair (November	2005)	Munic	cipality Fair (November 2006)
Education & Agricultural Fair (2006) Education & Agricultural Fair (2007) Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	Mand Ag	riculture Fair (Janu	ary 1, 2006)	Mand	Agriculture Fair (January 1, 20
Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	Educatio	n & Agricultural Fair	r (2006)	Educo	ation & Agricultural Fair (2007)
Have you received counseling on vitamin A deficiency? YES NO DOESN'T KNOW If YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:					
IT YES, from where? [circle responses] doctor Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	Have you received con	unseling on vitamir	n A deficiency? Y	S NO	DOESN'T KNOW
Mand Project - counseling with Pelihna & Amy Public Health Relative/Friend other:	IT YES, from where	? [circle respo	onses] doct	or d Dennis -+	nungalina mith Dation - P. A.
Relative/Friend other:			Mana	a rroject - c	ounseling with Pelihna & Amy
If YES, did you apply this advice? YES NO			Relat	tive/Friend	
If YES, did you apply this advice? YES NO			othe	r:	
If YES, did you apply this advice? YES NO			L]
	TANCE IN	v this advice? V	(C + 1) -		

Cropp	14. Have you planted in the past 2 years?	15. How many plants of have you planted in the past 2 verses	16. What warieties have you planted? 	17. Where did you get the planting materials?	18. How offen do you harvest? (new current season)	19, Do) feed y child A food?
a: <u>banana</u> , (<i>uht, wis</i>)	VES NO		yellow-fleshed cultivars (Akadahn, Teiwahn, Ipoli, Karot, Karat en Lap, Taiwarg, Mangat, Sendohki, Uttimwas,Utin Kerenis, Utin Lap] white-fleshed cultivars [Inahsio, Kaimana, Preisihl, Utin Lihli, Utin Menihle, Utin Pihsi, Utin Ruk] deesn't know	a. Mand Community Meetings b. Mand Community Nursery c. Pilot Farm d. Famiy / Friends e. Market f. Own land g. Other:		A RES
b.grieen leafy vegetables:	YES NO Is this in a container garden or raised bed? YES NO		chaya pele katuk kangkang spinach chinese spinach cubbage head cabbage other: other: other Which are in a container garden or roised bed? [write * next to these]	h. Mand Community Meetings i. Mand Community Nursery j. Pilot Farm k. Family / Friends I. Market m. Own land n. Other:		X KES
c. <u>other</u> vegetables:	YES NO YES NO Garden or raised bed? YES NO		(What vegetable crops?) bell pepper eggplant beans (string) avocado cucumber cassava sweet potato other: Which are in a container garden or raised bed? [<i>write * next to these</i>]	 a. Mand Community Meetings p. Mand Community Nursery q. Pilot Farm q. Pilot Farm r. Family / Friends s. Market t. Own land u. Other: 		YES N
d. <u>calamansi citrus</u> (<i>kurertik</i>)	YES NO			[<i>fill in</i>]		YES N

Project Evaluation Questionnaire continued (pg. 3 of 4)

Project Evaluation Questionnaire continued (pg. 4 of 4)

20						
	Why did you decide to plant these ad	lditional crops	17			
	[circle responses]					
	 Wanted more local food 					
	b. Had more time					
	 c. Because of the importance of 	f local food				
	d. Money					
	e. Other:					
. .			* 1×			
21.	What proportion/fraction of your HF	- tood is local	100d?			
	[circle response] 0-25%	26-50%	51-75%	76-100%		
22	What proportion/fraction of the lace	al food vour H	H consumes is	s home arown?		
	[circle response] 0-25%	26-50%	51.75%	76-100%		
			01 / 0 / 0	, 0 10010		
23.	Every month, about how much of your	r family's mon	ey (salary) pay	ys for food?		
	a. less than half					
	b. half					
	c. more than half					
	d, don't know					
Charco	oal Oven					
Charce Did yo	oal Oven Nu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO	[If NO, Kala	hngan!]			
Charco Did yo If YES 1. Ho	oal Oven ou receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/da	[If NO, Kala aytime	hngan!] is/month u	used in past	hever	• .
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI	oal Oven su receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, sw often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? fwhat dishes. wh	[If NO, Kala aytime nat foods]	hngan!] s/month u	used in past	never	• .
Charco Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI	oal Oven ou receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh	[If NO, Kala aytime nat foods]	hngan!] s/month u	used in past	never	• .
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>]	oal Oven ou receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/da 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh ' <i>f didn't mention any local food</i> :] Do/did What local food/dishes?	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the o	hngan!] .s/month u oven to cook a	used in past any local food?	never YES NO	
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>]	oal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh ' <i>f didn't mention any local food</i> :] Do/did What local food/dishes?	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d	hngan!] .s/month u	used in past any local food?	never YES NO	
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI	oal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/da 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh <i>f didn't mention any local food</i>] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal?	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the o	hngan!] .s/month u oven to cook a	used in past any local food?	never YES NO	• .
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI	oal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh <i>f didn't mention any local food</i>] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store-	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the o -bought charc	hngan!] .s/month u oven to cook a	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	• • •
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. Wi 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. Wi 5. Is	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh ' <i>f didn't mention any local food</i>] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- making/getting charcoal a problem?	[If NO, Kala aytime at foods] d you use the a -bought charc YES NO Ca	hngan!] s/month u oven to cook o coal othe	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	4
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food!] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't yo	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d -bought charc YES NO Ca ou? [<i>circle res</i>	hngan!] (s/month (oven to cook a coal othe omments: sponses]	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food:] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't you takes too long to prepar	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d -bought charc YES NO Co ou? [<i>circle res</i> re charcoal	hngan!] (s/month (oven to cook a coal other omments: sponses] lack of charce	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>T</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food!] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't you takes too long to prepar don't know how to make	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d -bought charc YES NO Ca ou? [<i>circle res</i> re charcoal	hngan!] (s/month u oven to cook a coal othe omments: sponses] lack of charce other:	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	
Charce Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. Wi 3. [7] 4. Wi 5. Is 6. If	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food!] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't you takes too long to prepar don't know how to make	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the a -bought charco YES NO Ca ou? [<i>circle res</i> re charcoal c charcoal	hngan!] (s/month u oven to cook a coal othe sponses] lack of charce other:	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	
Charco Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If <i>Ask to</i>	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food:] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't you takes too long to prepar don't know how to make	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d -bought charco VES NO Co ou? [<i>circle res</i> re charcoal charcoal	hngan!] (s/month (oven to cook a coal othe omments: sponses] lack of charce other:	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	· · ·
Charco Did yo If YES 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If <i>Ask to</i>	ioal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food:] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y you don't use it currently, why don't yo takes too long to prepar don't know how to make o see the oven. Record the following 1. Is the IFCP sticker on oven?	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the of -bought charco YES NO Co ou? [<i>circle res</i> re charcoal charcoal g; YES NO	hngan!] .s/month u oven to cook a coal othe omments: sponses] lack of charce other:	used in past any local food? er:	never YES NO	••••••••••
Charce Did yo If YE: 1. Ho 2. WI 3. [<i>I</i>] 4. WI 5. Is 6. If <i>Ask to</i>	oal Oven bu receive a charcoal oven? YES NO S, ow often do you use it?times/do 'hat do/did you cook? [what dishes, wh 'f didn't mention any local food:] Do/did What local food/dishes? 'hat do/did you use for charcoal? coconut shells wood store- i making/getting charcoal a problem? Y 'you don't use it currently, why don't you takes too long to prepar don't know how to make o see the oven. Record the following 1. Is the IFCP sticker on oven? 2. Is the oven used? Note level of	[If NO, Kala aytime hat foods] d you use the d -bought charce YES NO Co ou? [circle res re charcoal c charcoal g: YES NO of discoloratio	hngan!] s/month u oven to cook a coal othe omments: sponses] lack of charce other: on from smoke	used in past any local food? er: oal	never YES NO	· · ·